
 
 

A REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE  
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO 

 
 

TO BE HELD AT 715 EAST BRIER DRIVE 
SAN BERNARDINO, CALIFORNIA 
December 9, 2025, AT 3:00 P.M. 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

PUBLIC SESSION 
 
1) Call to Order and Roll Call. 
  
2) Additions or deletions to the agenda. 
 
3) General Public Comment - Any member of the public may address the Board of 

Commissioners on any matter not on the agenda that is within the subject matter 
jurisdiction of the Board. To make a comment on a specific agenda item, you may do so 
during the meeting or, alternatively, please submit your comments via email by 1:00 
p.m. on the Tuesday of the Board meeting. Comments should be limited to 250 words or 
less Please submit your comments via web at https://hacsb.com/board-of-
commissioners/ or email at publiccomment@hacsb.com. Your comments will be placed 
into the record at the meeting. Efforts will be made to read the comments into the record, 
but some comments may not be read due to time limitations. 

 
 

DISCUSSION CALENDAR 
(Public comment is available for each item on the discussion calendar) 

 
 
4) Receive the Executive Director’s Report for December 9, 2025.  

(Page 1) 
 
5) Receive the board building presentation for December 9, 2025, an overview of the 

Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino’s FY 2024-2025 agency-wide 
accomplishments. 

  (Page 2) 
   
6) Discuss the Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino’s strategy regarding 

continued operation of the U.S Department of Housing and Urban Development 
Continuum of Care grants. 
(Pages 3-132) 

 
7)  Approve a contract extension for the Project-Based Voucher Program Housing 

Assistance Payments Contract with Wall Avenue LLC for eight scattered site units for 
the Lanternwoods Continuum of Care program, for an additional five-year period from 
March 1, 2027 through February 29, 3032. 
(Pages 133-167) 

 
8)  Approve Amendment No. 5 to contract No. PC1252, effective February 1, 2026, with 

GovInvest (dba TrueComp) for Pension and Labor Cost Forecasting to increase the 
contract by $19,975 for a total amount not-to-exceed $114,925 and exercise the last 

Amended: December 4, 2025 



option year through January 31, 2027. Included in this update is the addition of the dba, 
TrueComp.      

 (Pages 168-174) 
 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
 APPROVAL OF CONSENT ITEMS: 9-11 
 
9) Approve the meeting minutes for the special meeting of the Board of Commissioners of 

the Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino held on November 13, 2025.  
(Pages 175-182) 
 

10) Approve and file agency-wide financial statements through August 2025.  
(Pages 183-185) 

 
11) Approve the expense of uncollectable vacated tenant accounts for the Authority Owned 

Portfolio to be written off as collection losses for the month of September 2025. 
 (Pages 186-191) 

 
CLOSED SESSION 

 
12) CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL--EXISTING LITIGATION 

Pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Government Code Section 54956.9 
Name of case: Kavonne Babbitt, et al. v. Housing Authority of the County of San 
Bernardino (San Bernardino Superior Court Case No. CIVSB2424086) 
 

13) CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR.  
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.8  
Property: 15930 Nisqualli Rd, Victorville, CA 92395  
Agency Negotiator: Rishad Mitha, Deputy Executive Director and Fred Galante, Legal 
Counsel  
Negotiating Parties: Aspen Real Estate Financial LLC.; Cray Carlson, CBRE  
Under Negotiation: Price and terms of potential acquisition 

 
14) Individual Board member comments. 
 
15)       Adjourn 
 
This agenda contains a brief description of each item of business to be considered at the 
meeting.  In accordance with the Ralph M. Brown Act, this meeting agenda is posted at least 72 
hours prior to the regularly scheduled meeting at the Housing Authority of the County of San 
Bernardino (HACSB) Building located at 715 East Brier Drive, San Bernardino, California, 
92408. The agenda and its supporting documents can be viewed online at 
http://www.hacsb.com.  However, the online agenda may not include all available supporting 
documents or the most current version of documents. 
 
If you challenge any decision regarding any of the above agenda items in court, you may be 
limited to raising only those issues you or someone else raised during the public testimony 
period regarding that agenda item or in written correspondence delivered to the Board of 
Commissioners at, or prior to, the public meeting. 
 
It is the intention of the HACSB to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).  If you 
require special assistance, HACSB will attempt to accommodate you in every reasonable 
manner.  Please contact Cynthia Robinson at (909) 890-5388 at least 48 hours prior to the 
meeting to inform us of your particular needs. 
 



HACSB ofrece asistencia idiomática gratis. Para ayuda con este documento, por favor llámenos 
al (909) 890-0644. 
 



REPORT/RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO AND RECORD 

OF ACTION 

December 9, 2025 

FROM 
MARIA RAZO, Executive Director, Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino 

SUBJECT  
..Title v

Executive Director’s Report for December 9, 2025 
..End 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 
..Recommendation 

Receive the Executive Director’s Report for December 9, 2025. 
(Presenter: Maria Razo, Executive Director, 332-6305) 
..Body 

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT 
Aspirational Statement #2: To be known as a trusted provider of safe, dignified, and 
desirable homes and environments that enrich and add value to the community.  
Aspirational Statement #3: To pursue continued financial stability, monitoring, and 
accountability as stewards of limited funding.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT 
This item will not result in a financial impact to the Housing Authority of the County of San 
Bernardino (HACSB) as there is no financial impact associated with this item.  

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
The Executive Director’s report summarizes ongoing initiatives of HACSB’s strategic plan, Moving 
to Work activities, overall agency updates, as well as other initiatives federally regulated by the 
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development.  

PROCUREMENT 
Not applicable.  

ITEM ATTACHMENTS 
Not applicable. 

REVIEW BY OTHERS 
This item has been reviewed by General Legal Counsel, Fred Galante, on November 18, 2025. 

1



REPORT/RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO AND RECORD 

OF ACTION 

December 9, 2025 

FROM 
MARIA RAZO, Executive Director, Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino 

SUBJECT  
..Title v

Board Building Presentation for December 9, 2025 
..End 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 
..Recommendation 

Receive the board building presentation for December 9, 2025, an overview of the Housing 
Authority of the County of San Bernardino’s FY 2024-2025 agency-wide accomplishments. 
(Presenter: Maria Razo, Executive Director, 332-6305) 
..Body 

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT 
Aspirational Statement #3: To pursue continued financial stability, monitoring, and 
accountability as stewards of limited funding.  
Aspirational Statement #5: To create, build and utilize partnerships that provide 
opportunities and create a meaningful difference in the lives of the families that we serve, 
maximizing our resources by mobilizing the talents of our community partners. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT 
Approval of this item will not result in a financial impact to the Housing Authority of the County of 
San Bernardino (HACSB) as there is no financial impact associated with this item.  

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
Per the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development’s (HUD) Commissioner Lead the 
Way Training and Moving to Work designation responsibilities, board building is required to 
provide the Board of Commissioners with information regarding ongoing initiatives of HACSB’s 
strategic plan, Moving to Work (MTW) activities, overall agency updates, as well as other 
initiatives federally regulated by HUD.  

This month’s board building presentation will include an overview of HACSB’s FY 2024-2025 
agency-wide accomplishments. 

PROCUREMENT 
Not applicable.  

ITEM ATTACHMENTS 
Not applicable. 

REVIEW BY OTHERS 
This item has been reviewed by General Legal Counsel, Fred Galante, on November 18, 2025. 

2



REPORT/RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO AND RECORD 

OF ACTION 

October 14, 2025 

FROM 
MARIA RAZO, Executive Director, Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino 

SUBJECT 
..Title v

Update on Material Changes to the Continuum of Care Program Through the New Notice of 
Funding Opportunity ..End 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 
..Recommendation 

Discuss the Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino’s strategy regarding continued 
operation of the U.S Department of Housing and Urban Development Continuum of Care grants. 
(Presenter: Maria Razo, Executive Director, 332-6305) 
..Body 

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT 
Aspirational Statement #2: To be known as a trusted provider of safe, dignified, and 
desirable homes and environments that enrich and add value to the community. 
Aspirational Statement #3: To pursue continued financial stability, monitoring, and 
accountability as stewards of limited funding.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT 
Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino (HACSB) currently receives approximately 
$6.7 million in grant funding for Continuum of Care (CoC) programs annually. The funding by 
grant is as follows: 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
HACSB has been administering the aforementioned CoC grants for several years. Each year the 
County of San Bernardino applies for CoC grants aggregately on behalf of several providers 
through the Office of Homeless Services. HACSB is the largest grantee within the San Bernardino 
County region’s CoC. The grants administered by HACSB house chronically homeless families 
who are supported by the Department of Behavioral Health (DBH) which provides an in-kind 
match of the required supportive services. This partnership has allowed HACSB to spend the vast 
majority of grant dollars on rental assistance with minimal overhead costs.   

On November 13, 2025 the U.S Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) released 
the new Notice of  Funding Opportunity (NOFO) for FY 2025 which provides funding primarily for 
the 2026 calendar year. The new NOFO has material changes to the program which can affect 
HACSB’s operation of these grants. The primary change is the reduction of funding for Permanent 
Supportive Housing (PSH) which is the type of housing associated with all of HACSB’s grants. 

Grant Name Type Amount 
Cornerstone Tenant Based 5,463,411.00$  
Lanternwoods Project Based 279,830.00$     
Laurelbrook Project Based 612,073.00$     
Project Gateway Project Based 343,686.00$     

3



Update on Material Changes to the Continuum of Care Program Through the New Notice of 
Funding Opportunity  
December 9, 2025 

Page 2 of 2 

HUD has announced via the NOFO that it will cap PSH funding to 30% of awarded funds. 
Previously over 90% of the County of San Bernardino’s CoC funding was allocated to PSH. Not 
only does this potentially jeopardize HACSB’s funding for these grants, the other material changes 
to the qualifying criteria below also provide major shifts in how HACSB will administer these 
grants.  

A. Program shift to households with physical and development disabilities. Currently, mental 
health disabilities is the main criteria for HACSB’s grants due to the partnership with DBH. 

B. Majority of the funding is targeted for transitional housing, which is short term housing 
focused on stabilization. HACSB has no experience operating this type of housing.  

C. Only 30% of the funding application is guaranteed through Tier 1. The balance of the 
funding ask is to be placed in Tier 2, which is highly competitive and has more stringent 
requirements than before. 

D. There is a requirement for program participants to engage in supportive services. 
Previously it was voluntary for participants. 

E. The grants are no longer eligible for participants who have substance abuse conditions 
and require harm reduction.  

F. Grantees are to comply with Presidential Executive Orders such as, but not limited to, 
Executive Order 14321 (Ending Crime and Disorder on America’s Streets) and Executive 
Order 14218 (Immigration Requirements).  

PROCUREMENT 
Not applicable 

ITEM ATTACHMENTS 
 Attachment 1 – FY 2025 CoC NOFO

REVIEW BY OTHERS 
This item has been reviewed by General Legal Counsel, Fred Galante, on November 28, 2025. 

4



FR-6900-N-25

Applications are due by 8:00 PM EST Eastern Time on 01/14/2026.

Community Planning and Development

U.S. Department of Housing 
and Urban Development

FY 2025 Continuum of Care Competition and 
Youth Homeless Demonstration Program 
Grants NOFO

5



Table Of Contents FR-6900-N-25 Page 2 of 128 

I. BASIC INFORMATION ..........................................5 

A. Summary ...............................................................5 

B. Agency Contact(s) ................................................7 

II. ELIGIBILITY ..........................................................9
A. Eligible Applicants .................................................9 

B. Cost Sharing or Matching ...................................10 

III. PROGRAM DESCRIPTION ...............................12
A. Purpose ...............................................................12 

B. Goals and Objectives ..........................................12 

C. Authority ..............................................................14 

D. Unallowable Costs ..............................................14 

E. Indirect Costs ......................................................14 

F. Program History ..................................................15 

G. Other Information ................................................16 

IV. APPLICATION CONTENTS AND FORMAT .....24
A. Standard Forms, Assurances, and Certifications 24 

B. Budget .................................................................26 

C. Narratives and Other Attachments .....................34 

D. Other Application Content ..................................34 

V. APPLICATION REVIEW INFORMATION ..........51 

A. Threshold Review ...............................................51 

B. Merit Review .......................................................66 

C. Risk Review ........................................................89 

D. Selection Process ...............................................90 

E. Award Notices .....................................................95 

VI. SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS AND

DEADLINES ............................................................98 

A. Deadlines ............................................................98 

B. Submission Methods ...........................................99 

C. Other Submissions ...........................................104 

D. False Statements ..............................................105 

VII. POST-AWARD REQUIREMENTS AND
ADMINISTRATION ...............................................107 

A. Administrative, National and Departmental Policy 

Requirements, and General Terms and Conditions

 ..........................................................................107 

B. Environmental Requirements ...........................109 

C. Remedies for Noncompliance ..........................110 

D. Reporting ..........................................................111 

VIII. CONTACT AND SUPPORT ..........................115
A. Agency Contact ................................................115 

B. esnaps.hud.gov ................................................116 

C. SAM.gov ...........................................................116 

D. Debriefing and Appeals ....................................116 

E. Applicant Experience Survey ............................121 

F. Other Online Resources ....................................121 

APPENDIX ............................................................123 

Appendix I. Definitions ..........................................123 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

6



Before You Begin FR-6900-N-25 Page 3 of 128 

If you believe you are a good candidate for this funding opportunity, register in the 
appropriate systems now and review the application package. If you are already registered, 
make sure your registration is active and up-to-date. 
SAM.gov Registration 
You must have an active and up-to-date account with SAM.gov, at the time of application and 
throughout the life of any award. 
To register, go to SAM.gov Entity Registration and click Get Started. From the same page, 
you can also click on the Entity Registration Checklist for the information you will need to 
register. 
It can take several weeks to register in SAM.gov, so please get started now if you are 
planning to apply. SAM.gov also provides each organization with a unique entity identifier 
(UEI). A valid UEI is required to apply for funding.  
esnaps.hud.gov Registration 
You must have an active esnaps.hud.gov account to submit your application. See step-by-
step instructions at the CoC Registration and Competition home page. 
See Section VI.B. Submission Methods. 
Find the Application Package 
Use the Grants Search at Grants.gov and search for opportunity number FR-6900-N-25 . The 
application package has all the online forms you need to apply. You also need to access the 
Download Instructions link and review the content before you apply.  
If you have other technical difficulties using Grants.gov, access the Support Center on 
Grants.gov for assistance. 
To get updates on changes to this notice of funding opportunity (NOFO), click Subscribe from 
the View Grant Opportunity page for this NOFO on Grants.gov.  

Application Deadline 
Applications are due by 8:00 PM EST Eastern Time on 01/14/2026. 
See Section VI.A. of this NOFO. 

HUD Listserv 
If you are interested in email notices about upcoming funding opportunities, subscribe to HUD’s Funding 
Opportunities listserv.  
Note: To help you find what you need, this NOFO uses internal links. In Adobe Reader, you can go back to 
where you were by pressing Alt + Left Arrow (Windows) or Command + Left Arrow (Mac) on your keyboard. 

BEFORE YOU BEGIN

7

https://sam.gov/
https://sam.gov/content/entity-registration
https://sam.gov/
https://sam.gov/
https://esnaps.hud.gov/
https://www.hud.gov/hud-partners/community-coc
https://grants.gov/
https://Grants.gov
https://grants.gov/
https://grants.gov/
https://www.hud.gov/subscribe/signup?listname=HUD%20Funding%20Opportunities&list=HUD-FUNDING-OPPORTUNITIES-L
https://www.hud.gov/subscribe/signup?listname=HUD%20Funding%20Opportunities&list=HUD-FUNDING-OPPORTUNITIES-L


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

I. BASIC INFORMATION 

I.  Basic Information 

A. Summary 

B.  Agency Contact(s) 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

8



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

I. Basic Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 5 of 128 

I. BASIC INFORMATION See Contact and Support section of 
this NOFO. 

A. Summary  
Federal Agency Name: 
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 
HUD Program Office: 
Community Planning and Development 
Announcement Type: 
Initial 
Program Type: 
Discretionary 
Paperwork Reduction Act Information: 
2501-0044, 2506-0183, 2506-0145 
Due Date for Intergovernmental Review:  
See Section VI.C.1. 

1. NOFO Summary
The Continuum of Care (CoC) Program is designed to: 

• promote a community-wide commitment to the goal of ending homelessness;

• provide funding for efforts by nonprofit providers, States, Indian Tribes or Tribally
Designated Housing Entities [as defined in section 4 of the Native American Housing

Key Facts 
Opportunity Name: 
FY 2025 Continuum of Care Competition and Youth 
Homeless Demonstration Program Grants NOFO 
Opportunity Number: 
FR-6900-N-25 
Federal Assistance Listing: 
14.267 

Key Dates 
Application Due Date: 8PM 
Eastern Time on: 
01/14/2026 
Anticipated Award Date: 
05/01/2026 
Estimated Performance 
Period Start Date: 
05/01/2026 
Estimated Performance 
Period End Date: 
12/31/2027 

9



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

I. Basic Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 6 of 128 

Assistance and Self-Determination Act of 1996 (25 U.S.C. 4103) (TDHEs)], and local 
governments to quickly rehouse individuals and families experiencing homelessness, 
persons experiencing trauma or a lack of safety related to fleeing or attempting to flee 
domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking, and youth 
experiencing homelessness while minimizing the trauma and dislocation caused by 
homelessness; 

• promote access to, and effective utilization of, mainstream programs and programs
funded with State or local resources; and

• optimize self-sufficiency among individuals and families experiencing homelessness.
The goal of the Youth Homelessness Demonstration Program (YHDP) is to support the 
development and implementation of a coordinated community approach to preventing and 
ending youth homelessness and sharing that experience with and mobilizing communities 
around the country toward the same end. The population to be served by the demonstration 
program is youth ages 24 and younger who are experiencing homelessness, including 
unaccompanied and pregnant or parenting youth. 

The CoC Program does not require intergovernmental review. 

2. Funding Details
Type of Funding Instrument 
G (Grant) 

Available Funds 
Funding of approximately $3,918,000,000 is available through this NOFO. 
Additional funds may become available for award. Use of these funds is subject to statutory 
constraints. All awards are subject to the selection process contained in this NOFO. 
On March 15, 2025, the President signed H.R. 1968 authorizing the Full-Year Continuing 
Appropriations and Extensions Act, 2025 (Public Law 119-4) which makes approximately the 
same amount of CoC Program funding available for FY 2025 as the Consolidated 
Appropriations Act, 2024 (Public Law 118-42, approved March 9, 2024). Pursuant to the Full-
Year Continuing Appropriations and Extensions Act, 2025, HUD will repurpose $100,000,000 
in funds previously outlined in paragraph (5) of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2024, 
under the heading 'Department of Housing and Urban Development—Community Planning 
and Development—Homeless Assistance Grants', to supplement the FY 2025 CoC Program 
Competition. Approximately $294,000,000 in amounts available pursuant to section 231 of 
the Further Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2020 (Public Law 116-94, division H, title II, 
section 231; 42 U.S.C. 11364a) is also being made available as part of this Notice. 
Of the $3,918,000,000 HUD is making available: 

• Approximately $52,000,000 in funding is available for Domestic Violence, Dating
Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking Bonus (DV Bonus) projects, described in
sections IV.D.1.e and IV.D.1.f of this NOFO.

• Approximately $129,000,000 for the renewal of projects originally awarded as part of

10



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

I. Basic Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 7 of 128 

the Unsheltered and Rural Homelessness Supplemental NOFO. 

• Approximately $228,000,000 for the competitive renewal and replacement of expiring
YHDP grants.

All requirements in the FY 2025 application process, including requirements for the entire 
CoC Consolidated Application, and the total amount of funds available are included in this 
NOFO. 
Number of Awards 
HUD expects to make approximately 7000 awards from the funds available under this NOFO. 
Length of Performance Period: 
12-month project period and budget period 
18-month project period and budget period 
24-month project period and budget period 
36-month project period and budget period 
42-month project period and budget period 
48-month project period and budget period 
60-month project period and budget period 
Length of Periods Explanation: 

B. Agency Contact(s)  
See Contact and Support section of this NOFO. 

11



II. ELIGIBILITY

II. Eligibility

A. Eligible Applicants 

B. Cost Sharing or Matching 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

12



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

II. Eligibility FR-6900-N-25 Page 9 of 128 

II. ELIGIBILITY
You are invited to apply if your organization is an eligible entity type and meets the funding 
conditions included in the NOFO. HUD will review applications from eligible applicants using 
the criteria in Section V. of this NOFO. 

A. Eligible Applicants 
1. Eligible Entity Types:
00 (State governments) 
01 (County governments) 
02 (City or township governments) 
04 (Special district governments) 
07 (Native American tribal governments (Federally recognized)) 
08 (Public housing authorities/Indian housing authorities) 
11 (Native American tribal organizations (other than Federally recognized tribal 
governments)) 
12 (Nonprofits having a 501(c)(3) status with the IRS, other than institutions of higher 
education) 
25 (Others (see text field entitled "Additional Information on Eligibility" for clarification)) 
Additional Information on Eligibility 
Faith-based organizations may apply on the same basis as any other organization. HUD does 
not engage in any unlawful and improper conduct, policies, or practices that target faith-
based organizations. 
Individuals are ineligible applicants. 
To be eligible for funding under the FY 2025 Continuum of Care and Youth Homeless 
Demonstration Program Grants NOFO, project applicants must meet all statutory and 
regulatory requirements in the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act, (42 U.S.C. 11381–
11389) (the Act) and the CoC Program Rule found in 24 CFR part 578 (the Rule). For more 
information on Applicant eligibility see Section V.A.1 of this NOFO. 
Project applicants can obtain a copy of the Act and the Rule on HUD’s website or by 
contacting the NOFO Information Center at 1-800-483-8929. Individuals who are deaf or hard 
of hearing, as well as individuals with speech or communication disabilities may visit 
https://www.fcc.gov/consumers/guides/telecommunications-relay-service-trs for more 
information on how to make an accessible telephone call to HUD. 

2. Restrictions
a. Statutory and Regulatory Requirements Affecting Eligibility
You must comply with the current General Statutory and Regulatory Requirements Affecting 
Eligibility for HUD’s Competitive Programs. HUD will review your eligibility before issuing an 

13

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/part-5/appendix-Appendix%20A%20to%20Subpart%20A%20of%20Part%205
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/02/12/2025-02611/eradicating-anti-christian-bias
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/02/12/2025-02611/eradicating-anti-christian-bias
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/02/12/2025-02611/eradicating-anti-christian-bias
https://www.hud.gov/hud-partners/community-coc
https://www.fcc.gov/consumers/guides/telecommunications-relay-service-trs
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/OCHCO/documents/Eligibility-Requirements-Addendum-FY2025.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/OCHCO/documents/Eligibility-Requirements-Addendum-FY2025.pdf


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

II. Eligibility FR-6900-N-25 Page 10 of 128 

award. As part of this review, HUD uses SAM.gov and Department of Treasury data. 

b. Application Eligibility
Your application is considered for funding if it satisfies the application review requirements in 
Section V. of this NOFO. 
For-profit entities are not eligible to apply for grants or to be subrecipients of grant funds. 

B. Cost Sharing or Matching 
This Program requires cost sharing or matching, as described below. 
24 CFR 578.73 of the Rule requires that recipients must match all grant funds, except for 
leasing funds, with no less than 25 percent of funds or in-kind contributions from other 
sources. 24 CFR 578.73. 
Project applicants that intend to use program income as a match must provide an estimate of 
how much program income will be used for the match. HUD will not require YHDP Renewal 
or replacement projects to meet the 25 percent match requirement if the applicant is able to 
demonstrate it has taken reasonable steps to maximize resources available for youth 
experiencing homelessness. 

14

https://sam.gov
https://www.hud.gov/hud-partners/grants-info-policies-regulations
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/part-200/section-200.1#p-200.1(Cost%20sharing%20or%20matching)
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/section-578.73


III. PROGRAM DESCRIPTION

III. Program Description

A. Purpose 

B. Goals and Objectives 

C. Authority 

D. Unallowable Costs 

E. Indirect Costs 

F. Program History 

G. Other Information 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

15



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

III. Program Description FR-6900-N-25 Page 12 of 128 

III. PROGRAM DESCRIPTION
A. Purpose 
The Continuum of Care (CoC) Program (24 CFR part 578) is designed to promote a 
community-wide commitment to the goal of ending homelessness; to provide funding for 
efforts by nonprofit providers, states, local governments and Indian Tribes or tribally 
designated housing entities (as defined in section 4 of the Native American Housing 
Assistance and Self-Determination Act of 1996 (25 U.S.C. 4103) (TDHEs)) to quickly rehouse 
homeless individuals, families, persons fleeing domestic violence, dating violence, sexual 
assault, and stalking, and youth while minimizing the trauma and dislocation caused by 
homelessness; to promote access to and effective utilization of mainstream programs and 
programs funded with State or local resources; and to optimize self-sufficiency among those 
experiencing homelessness. 
The FY 2025 CoC Program NOFO funds the renewal of existing CoC grants, including DV 
Renewal projects and projects originally funded under the Special NOFO to Address 
Unsheltered and Rural Homelessness, and the competitive renewal or replacement of 
existing YHDP grants that are expiring in Calendar Year 2026. This NOFO also provides 
funding for new projects, including those created with DV Bonus, CoC Bonus, and the 
reallocation of existing renewal projects. 
For FY 2025, HUD requires Collaborative Applicants to rank all project applications, except 
for CoC Planning, and if applicable, UFA Costs project applications. 

B. Goals and Objectives 
This section provides context to help applicants better understand how the merit criteria found 
in section V.B of this NOFO supports HUD’s goal of ending homelessness. These goals are 
consistent with national policy objectives which must be incorporated into the awarding of 
funds (2 CFR 200.211(c)(1)(ii). 

1. Ending the Crisis of Homelessness on Our Streets
The number of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness is at an all-time high. People 
living on the streets and in encampments have high rates of substance use disorder and 
mental illness. According to a nationwide study, 75% of people experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness report a substance use disorder and 78% report a mental health condition. 
The study found that substance use disorder contributed to the loss of housing for 50% of the 
unsheltered population, and mental health conditions contributed to loss of housing for 51% 
of the population. 
CoCs should direct resources towards outreach, intervention, and assistance that helps 
people regain self-sufficiency. Consistent with Executive Order 14321 “Ending Crime and 
Disorder on America’s Streets,” CoCs should work with law enforcement, first responders, 
and their state and local governments to reduce encampments, public camping, and public 
drug use in order to address barriers to maintaining housing and increasing self-sufficiency. 
2. Prioritizing Treatment and Recovery.

16

https://capolicylab.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Health-Conditions-Among-Unsheltered-Adults-in-the-U.S..pdf


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

III. Program Description FR-6900-N-25 Page 13 of 128 

CoCs should prioritize projects that provide the treatment and services people need to 
recover and regain self-sufficiency including on-site behavioral health treatment, robust 
wraparound supportive services, and participation requirements. This NOFO devotes 
resources to Transitional Housing programs and Supportive Service Only projects with the 
goal of improving health and long-term economic independence for the homeless. HUD 
encourages CoCs to utilize the full array of mainstream programs and local and private 
resources to provide housing and healthcare needed to maintain safe and stable housing. 
3. Advancing Public Safety
Safety and security for all members of the public, especially those living unsheltered, is 
essential to promoting a community-wide commitment to the goal of ending homelessness. 
CoCs should cooperate with law enforcement to advance public safety for the entire 
community impacted by homelessness. No one should sleep outside on the street or in 
dangerous encampments, and everyone should be able to enjoy public spaces safely. HUD 
encourages CoCs to assist in preventing and minimizing the trauma associated with living on 
the streets or in encampments, especially for women and youth that are the victims of sexual 
assault and trafficking. Unchecked public camping and public illicit drug use inhibit nonprofit 
providers and local government from effectively addressing homelessness. 
First responders are critical partners in engaging people into treatment and services and 
protecting public order and vulnerable individuals experiencing homelessness. In Grants 
Pass v. Johnson, the Supreme Court of the United States upheld the authority of local 
governments to prohibit public camping. 
4. Promoting Self-Sufficiency.
One of the primary purposes of the CoC Program is to optimize self-sufficiency. CoCs should 
partner with workforce development centers, employers, childcare, and other supportive 
service providers to increase employment and employment income for program participants. 
CoCs should prioritize projects that help lead to long-term economic independence for 
individuals and families to exit homelessness and prevent future returns to homelessness. 
5. Improving Outcomes.
CoCs should review all projects eligible for renewal under this NOFO to determine their 
effectiveness in reducing homelessness and increasing self-sufficiency. CoCs should 
prioritize projects that promote self-sufficiency, increase employment income over 
government assistance, and promote treatment and recovery. 
This NOFO includes several options to help CoCs improve their effectiveness, including 
reallocation, expansion, and transition grants, and CoC’s should take advantage of these 
options to expand the pool of providers, including faith-based providers, and improve the 
overall performance of the CoC. 
6. Minimizing Trauma.
One of the purposes of the CoC program is to minimize the trauma associated with 
homelessness. CoCs should encourage providers to provide trauma informed care and 
ensure participant safety in programs, especially for youth and survivors of domestic violence, 
dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking. Women experiencing homelessness or 
domestic violence should have access to safe, single-sex spaces and other considerations 

17



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

III. Program Description FR-6900-N-25 Page 14 of 128 

for personal privacy (24 CFR 578.93(b). 

C. Authority 
The CoC Program is authorized by subtitle C of title IV of the McKinney-Vento Homeless 
Assistance Act, (42 U.S.C. 11381–11389) (the Act), and the CoC Program rule found in 24 
CFR part 578 (the Rule). Pursuant to 42 U.S.C 11386a(a) and 42 U.S.C. 11386a(b)(1)(G), 
the Secretary can establish criteria for the awarding of funds including factors deemed 
appropriate to carry out the CoC Program in an effective and efficient manner. 
FY 2025 funding for CoC Program Competition NOFO, including the competitive or 
noncompetitive renewal or replacements of YHDP grants under the CoC program, is 
authorized by the Full-Year Continuing Appropriations and Extensions Act, 2025 (Public Law 
119-4, approved March 15, 2025). Under this NOFO, HUD will competitively renew or replace 
YHDP grants under the CoC Program. 
HUD is including up to $294,000,000 in funding under Section 231(a)(1) and 231(a)(3) of the 
2020 Consolidated Appropriations Act. 
HUD is also utilizing authority under the Full-Year Continuing Appropriations and Extensions 
Act, 2025 (Public Law 119-4, approved March 15, 2025) to enable HUD to repurpose $100 
million made available for Permanent Supportive Housing to fund CoC projects under this 
NOFO.  

D. Unallowable Costs 
HUD will reject any requests for ineligible costs, except as otherwise provided in this NOFO. 

E. Indirect Costs 
If you expect to charge indirect costs to the award, submit the Indirect Cost Rate Certification 
form (HUD-426) with your application. 
The HUD-426 form is built into the e-snaps Project Applicant Profile where you will complete 
the information if requesting indirect costs, and you will also see the information transferred 
within your project application. 
Indirect cost rules under 2 CFR part 200, as may be amended from time to time, apply. 
Project applicants that intend to charge indirect costs to the award must clearly state in the 
project application(s) the rate and distribution base the recipient intends to use, and if 
applicable, the rate and distribution base to be used by any subrecipient(s). If the rate is a 
Federally negotiated indirect cost rate, the project application must include the corresponding 
negotiated indirect cost rate agreement signed by the cognizant agency. A government 
department or agency unit that receives no more than $35 million in direct federal funding per 
year and has developed and maintains an indirect cost rate proposal and supporting 
documentation in accordance with 2 CFR part 200, appendix VII, may use the rate and 
distribution base specified in that indirect cost rate proposal. These governmental 
departments or agencies are not required to submit their proposals unless they are 
specifically requested to do so by an awarding Federal agency. The Federal agency's review 
should be limited to ensuring the proposal is consistent with the principles of this part. 
For each applicant or intended subrecipient that meets the conditions for using the de minimis 

18

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/part-200/section-200.1#p-200.1(Indirect%20cost)


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

III. Program Description FR-6900-N-25 Page 15 of 128 

rate under 2 CFR 200.414(f) and will use that rate to charge indirect costs, the project 
application must clearly state the intended use of the de minimis rate. As described in 2 CFR 
200.403, costs must be consistently charged as either indirect or direct costs but must not be 
double charged or inconsistently charged as both. Once an organization elects to use the de 
minimis rate, the organization must apply this methodology consistently for all Federal awards 
until the organization chooses to negotiate for a rate, which the organization may apply to do 
at any time. Documentation of the decision to use the de minimis rate must be retained on file 
for audit. 

F. Program History 
FY 2025 CoC awards will be made through this NOFO. This NOFO rescinds and supersedes 
any mention of awards of FY 2025 CoC funds in the FY 2024 and FY 2025 Continuum of 
Care Competition and Renewal or Replacement of Youth Homeless Demonstration Program 
Grants published on July 31, 2024, and includes several changes. 
1. FY 2025 CoC Consolidated Application.
All CoCs must complete and submit the FY 2025 CoC Consolidated Application that includes 
the CoC Application and CoC Priority Lising with all submitted projects ranked or rejected 
based on the criteria set forth in this NOFO. 
2. Increase in Competition.
The Continuum of Care program is a national competition (42 U.S.C. 11386a). Tier 1 is set at 
30 percent of the CoC’s Annual Renewal Demand (ARD). 
3. Investment in Transitional Housing and Supportive Service Only Projects.
In order to promote balance and increase competition, no more than 30 percent of a CoC’s 
Annual Renewal Demand (ARD) under this NOFO will fund Permanent Housing projects, 
including PH-PSH, PH-RRH and Joint TH and PH-RRH projects. 
4. Program Components that are eligible under this NOFO.
Provisions at 24 CFR 578.37 provide that CoC funds may be used for projects under five 
program components: transitional housing, supportive services only, HMIS, permanent 
housing (including rapid re-housing and permanent supportive housing), and in some cases, 
homelessness prevention. This NOFO is different than prior years in that applicants may 
apply for Transitional Housing (TH) and Supportive Services Only (SSO) projects including 
street outreach. Only designated High Performing Communities (HPC), may carry out 
homelessness prevention activities through the CoC program and there are currently no 
HPCs. Therefore, the four components that will be funded through this CoC Program 
Competition are: (a). Transitional Housing; (b). Supportive Services Only; (c). Permanent 
Housing; and (d). HMIS. Additionally: 

a. HUD will allow renewal project applications for Joint T/PH-RRH component projects,
which combine two existing program components in a single project (see section III.G.4of 
this NOFO for more information). No new Joint TH/PH-RRH component project 
applications will be allowed. 

19



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

III. Program Description FR-6900-N-25 Page 16 of 128 

b. Project applicants may apply for SSO projects consistent with 24 CFR 578.37 and
578.53, including projects with the outreach service activity described at 24 CFR 
578.53(e)(13) to individuals and families primarily residing in places not meant for human 
habitation. These projects must meet the project quality threshold criteria in section 
V.A.4.b.(5)(c) of this NOFO. All other SSO projects, except those dedicated to 
coordinated entry, must meet the threshold criteria in section V.A.4.b.(5)(b) of this NOFO. 
The components are fully described at 24 CFR 578.37. 

5. Special CoC NOFO grants.
Grants originally awarded funding under the Special NOFO to Address Unsheltered and 
Rural Homelessness, that are expiring in Calendar year 2026 are eligible to renew under this 
NOFO. 
6. Reallocation.
CoCs may reallocate funding from any eligible renewal grant, including grants that have not 
previously renewed under the CoC Program, so long as the project has an executed grant 
agreement with an expiration date in Calendar Year 2026. For more information on 
Reallocation requirements see section III.G.3 of this NOFO. 
7. Competitive Renewal or Replacement of YHDP Grants.
HUD will competitively renew or replace YHDP projects. Additionally, YHDP projects may be 
reallocated by CoCs to create new YHDP grants. If significant changes to a renewing YHDP 
project are needed the YHDP project may replace its current project with a new YHDP 
Replacement project, that may wholly or in part include activities ineligible under the CoC 
Program as outlined in section IV.D.1.h of this NOFO. 

G. Other Information 
1. CoC Program NOFO Requirements.
All requirements for submitting the entire CoC Consolidated Application, including 
applications for projects eligible for FY 2025 CoC and YHDP funding and the total amount of 
funds available, are contained in this NOFO. Applicants should read this information carefully 
and respond to all submission requirements and deadlines as described. 

a. CoCs should consider the Goals and Objects established in Section III.B of this NOFO
in conjunction with local priorities to determine the ranking of new and renewal project 
application requests. 
b. Collaborative Applicants that are designated Unified Funding Agencies (UFAs) or High
Performing Communities (HPCs) by HUD during the FY 2024 CoC Program Registration 
process will maintain their UFA and/or HPC designation for the FY 2025 CoC Program 
Competition. 
c. HUD will conduct threshold reviews of project applicants, and project applications for all
CoC Consolidated Applications that are submitted by the application submission deadline 
as described in section V.A.4. 
d. HUD may issue more than one conditional funding announcement, including for
instances where a CoC has been affected by a disaster and for which HUD has extended 

20



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

III. Program Description FR-6900-N-25 Page 17 of 128 

the deadline for application submission. 
e. HUD will score the FY 2025 CoC Application portion of the Consolidated Application in
accordance with the criteria set forth in section V.B of this NOFO. 
f. With the exception of CoC Planning and, if applicable, UFA Cost applications, CoCs
must rank all project applications. This includes CoC Bonus, DV Bonus, CoC Renewal 
(including DV Renewal projects), New CoC Reallocation, New DV Reallocation, and 
YHDP Renewal and YHDP Reallocation projects. CoC Planning and, if applicable, UFA 
Costs project applications are not ranked and will be selected provided they pass project 
eligibility and project quality threshold review. 

2. Eligible Renewal Project.
YHDP and CoC projects originally funded in FY 2024 or earlier, including projects originally 
funded under the Special NOFO or DV Bonus are eligible to renew under this NOFO, 
provided the projects have an expiration date in CY 2026 (between January 1, 2026, and 
December 31, 2026). Renewal project applications must be submitted by the recipient 
currently under grant agreement to operate the project. See section IV.D.2 for more 
information on renewal project requirements. 
In cases where an expiring grant agreement is amended to have a new recipient after a 
renewal application is submitted, the new recipient will be eligible to receive the renewal 
award (Section V.D.8). 
3. Reallocation.
Reallocation is a process CoCs use to shift funds in whole or in part from existing eligible 
CoC renewal projects to create one or more new projects without decreasing the CoC’s ARD. 
CoCs may only reallocate eligible renewal projects so long as the renewal project being 
reduced or eliminated has a current grant agreement with an expiration date in CY 2026. 
Additionally, new projects created through reallocation must meet the project eligibility and 
project quality thresholds established in sections V.A.4.a and V.A.4.b of this NOFO. For more 
information on the requirements for projects created through reallocation, see sections 
IV.D.1.e and IV.D.1.f (DV Reallocation), IV.D.1.g (CoC Reallocation), and IV.D.1.i (YHDP
Reallocation) of this NOFO. 
To create a Transition Grant through the reallocation process, the CoC must wholly eliminate 
one or more projects and use those funds to create the single, new transition grant [see 
section IV.D.1.l of this NOFO]. 

4. Joint TH/PH-RRH Component Project.
The Joint TH/PH-RRH component project combines two existing program components – 
Transitional Housing and Permanent Housing-Rapid Rehousing – in a single project to serve 
individuals and families experiencing homelessness. 
If funded, HUD will limit eligible costs as follows, in addition to other limitations found in the 
Rule: 

a. leasing of a structure or units, and operating costs to provide transitional housing;

21



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

III. Program Description FR-6900-N-25 Page 18 of 128 

b. short- and medium-term tenant-based rental assistance on behalf of program
participants to pay for the RRH portion of the project; 
c. supportive services;
d. costs of contributing data to the HMIS; and
e. project administrative costs.

Renewal project applicants must include details in the project description of how TH and PH-
RRH assistance will be provided. Additionally, if CoC Program funds are not being requested 
for both TH and PH-RRH units, the renewal project application must describe and include the 
number of the project’s TH units and PH-RRH units that will be paid for from another funding 
source. Applicants may only use CoC Program Leasing funds or non-CoC Program Funds to 
pay for the cost of housing program participants enrolled in the TH portion of the project. 
When a program participant is enrolled in a Joint TH/PH-RRH component project, the 
recipient or subrecipient must be able to provide both components, including the units 
supported by the TH component and the tenant-based rental assistance and services 
provided through the PH-RRH component, to all participants. A program participant may 
choose to receive only the assistance provided through the TH portion of the project or the 
assistance provided through the PH-RRH component, but the recipient or subrecipient must 
make both types of assistance available. 
5. Supportive Services Only (SSO) projects not dedicated to Coordinated Entry.
Project applicants may apply for SSO projects consistent with 24 CFR 578.37 and 578.53, 
including projects with the outreach service activity described at 24 CFR 578.53(e)(13) to 
individuals and families primarily residing in places not meant for human habitation. Projects 
that are primarily providing these outreach services and identify themselves as such in the 
project application, must meet the project quality threshold criteria in Section V.A.4.b.(5)(c) of 
this NOFO. All other SSO projects, except those dedicated to coordinated entry, must meet 
the threshold criteria in Section V.A.4.b.(5)(b) of this NOFO. 
6. Centralized or Coordinated Assessment System (Coordinated Entry).
In general, 24 CFR 578.23(c)(9) and (11) requires all CoC program recipients and 
subrecipients to use the centralized or coordinated assessment system established by CoCs. 
The definition of Centralized or Coordinated Assessment (also known as Coordinated Entry) 
is found at 24 CFR 578.3. 24 CFR 578.7(a)(8) details the responsibilities of the CoC to 
establish and operate this required system. In addition to the definition and responsibilities 
established in the Rule, HUD posted on its website, CPD-17-01: Notice Establishing 
Additional Requirements for a Continuum of Care Centralized or Coordinated Assessment 
System, establishing additional requirements related to the development and use of a 
centralized or coordinated entry assessment system. These systems help communities 
assess the needs of program participants and effectively match individuals and families 
experiencing homelessness with the most appropriate resources available to address their 
supportive service and housing needs. CoCs may use planning costs to design and plan for 
the implementation of a Coordinated Entry system; however, once the system is established 
and operating, the costs of operating it are not eligible planning costs. CoCs must operate the 
system with CoC Program funds, other funds, or a combination of the two. Section 

22

https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/17-01cpdn.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/17-01cpdn.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/17-01cpdn.pdf


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

III. Program Description FR-6900-N-25 Page 19 of 128 

578.23(c)(9) of the CoC Program Rule exempts victim service providers from using the CoC’s 
coordinated entry process if victim service providers use a coordinated entry process that 
otherwise meets HUD's requirements. 
7. Non-Dedicated Permanent Supportive Housing Beds.
A Permanent Supportive Housing bed within a CoC's geographic area that is not currently 
classified as dedicated for use by chronically homeless individuals and families or as 
DedicatedPLUS. 
8. Beds Dedicated to Chronically Homeless Individuals and Families.
A Permanent Supportive Housing bed that is dedicated specifically for use by individuals and 
families experiencing chronic homelessness [see 24 CFR 578.3 definition of Chronically 
Homeless] within a CoC’s geographic area, as reported in the CoC’s housing inventory count 
(HIC) and permanent housing (PH) project applications. 
9. DedicatedPLUS Project.

a. A PSH project where 100 percent of the beds are dedicated to serve individuals,
households with children, and unaccompanied youth (including pregnant and parenting 
youth) that at intake meet one of the following categories: 

(1) experiencing chronic homelessness, meaning they qualify as “chronically 
homeless” as defined in 24 CFR 578.3; 
(2) residing in a TH project that will be eliminated and meets the definition of 
chronically homeless in effect at the time in which the individual or family entered the 
TH project; 
(3) residing in a place not meant for human habitation, emergency shelter, or Safe 
Haven and had been admitted and enrolled in a PH project within the last year but 
were unable to maintain a housing placement and met the definition of chronically 
homeless as defined by 24 CFR 578.3 prior to entering the project; 
(4) residing in transitional housing funded by a Joint TH/PH-RRH component project 
and who were experiencing chronic homelessness as defined by 24 CFR 578.3; 
(5) residing and has resided in a place not meant for human habitation, Safe Haven, or 
emergency shelter for at least 12 months in the last three years, but has not done so 
on four separate occasions and the individual or head of household meet the definition 
of 'homeless individual with a disability; or 
(6) receiving assistance through a Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)-funded 
homeless assistance program and met one of the above criteria at initial intake to the 
VA's homeless assistance system. 

b. A renewal project where 100 percent of the beds were dedicated to individuals and
families experiencing chronic homelessness may either be reallocated to create a 
DedicatedPLUS project or may continue as a renewal project dedicating 100 percent of its 
beds to individuals and families experiencing chronic homelessness. If the project is 
reallocated as a DedicatedPLUS project, the project must adhere to all fair housing 
requirements at 24 CFR 578.9. 

23



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

III. Program Description FR-6900-N-25 Page 20 of 128 

c. Projects HUD awarded as DedicatedPLUS in a previous CoC Program Competition
must continue to include households with children to qualify as a DedicatedPLUS project 
in the FY 2025 CoC Program Competition. 

10. Participant Eligibility.
Projects funded through this NOFO must have the following eligibility criteria for program 
participants. All references to paragraphs of the definition of homeless that are found 
throughout this NOFO refer to the paragraphs listed under the definition of "homeless" in 24 
CFR 578.3 and include the definition of "homeless" under section 103(b) of the McKinney-
Vento Homeless Assistance Act, even if section 103(b) is not explicitly referenced. All specific 
references to the definition of “homeless” under paragraph (4) of 24 CFR 578.3 that are found 
throughout this NOFO also include the definition of “homeless” under section 103(b) of the 
McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act, even if section 103(b) is not explicitly referenced. 
All projects must participate in coordinated entry, and the selection of program participants 
must be consistent with the CoC's coordinated entry process. As provided by the 
Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2025, youth aged 24 and under must not be required to 
provide third-party documentation that they meet the homeless definition in 24 CFR 578.3 or 
section 103(b) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act as a condition for receiving 
services funded under this NOFO. Additionally, any youth-serving provider funded under this 
NOFO may serve unaccompanied youth aged 24 and under or families headed by youth 
aged 24 and under who are living in unsafe situations. HUD interprets “youth-serving 
provider” as a private nonprofit organization whose primary mission is to provide services to 
youth aged 24 and under and families headed by youth aged 24 and under. HUD interprets 
“living in unsafe situations” as having an unsafe primary nighttime residence and no safe 
alternative to that residence. These youth-related requirements supersede any conflicting 
requirements under this NOFO or the Rule. 
Participants eligible to be served by projects funded under this NOFO, are as follows: 

a. PH-PSH projects awarded CoC funds must serve one of the following:
(1) persons eligible to be served by DedicatedPLUS projects as described in section 
III.G.9 of this NOFO in which case all units funded by the project must be used to
serve program participants who meet the qualifications for DedicatedPLUS; 

(2) persons who qualify as homeless under paragraphs (1), (2), or (4) of 24 CFR 578.3 
or Section 103(b) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act; or 
(3) for renewal projects, the same population of individuals and families indicated in 
the expiring grant agreement (e.g., PSH projects originally awarded under the Special 
NOFO Competition projects through the Unsheltered Set Aside must serve individuals 
and families who qualify under paragraph (1) or (4) of the definition of homeless). 

b. TH, PH-RRH, Joint TH/PH-RRH, SSO projects awarded CoC funds must serve
persons who qualify as homeless under paragraphs (1), (2), or (4) of 24 CFR 578.3 or 
Section 103(b) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act with the following 
exception: 

PH-RRH, TH, Joint TH/PH-RRH, SSO- may serve persons who qualify as homeless 

24



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

III. Program Description FR-6900-N-25 Page 21 of 128 

under paragraph (3) of 24 CFR 578.3 if the CoC is approved to serve persons in 
paragraph (3). 

c. DV Bonus, DV Renewal and DV Reallocation projects must serve individuals and
families who are fleeing or attempting to flee domestic violence, dating violence, sexual 
assault, and stalking and who qualify as homeless under paragraphs (1) or (4) of the 
definition of homeless at 24 CFR 578.3 with the following exception: 

PH-RRH, Joint TH/PH-RRH, SSO- projects may serve individuals and families of 
persons experiencing trauma or a lack of safety related to fleeing or attempting to flee 
domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking who qualify as 
homeless under paragraph (3) of 24 CFR 578.3 if the CoC is approved to serve 
persons in paragraph (3). 

d. YHDP Renewal and Replacement projects including YHDP projects created through
reallocation must serve youth aged 24 or younger, including unaccompanied and 
pregnant or parenting youth who: 

(1) qualify as homeless under paragraphs (1), (2), or (4) of the homeless definition in 
24 CFR 578.3 or Section 103(b) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act; 
(2) have an unsafe primary night-time residence and no safe alternative to that 
residence; or 
(3) qualify as homeless under paragraph (3) of 24 CFR 578.3 if the CoC is approved 
to serve persons in paragraph (3). 

11. Performance-Based Decisions.
a. The CoC must review each project application submitted to the CoC for inclusion on the
FY 2025 CoC Priority Listing as part of the CoC Consolidated Application and either 
approve and rank or reject project application submissions. All project applications 
approved by the CoC must be listed on the CoC Priority Listing in rank order. 
Higher ranked projects will be assigned to Tier 1 and lower ranked projects will be 
assigned to Tier 2 as described in sections V.D.3.a and V.D.3.b of this NOFO. This two-
tiered approach for CoCs notifies HUD which projects are prioritized for funding based on 
project performance, local needs, and gaps. 
b. Consistent with the requirements of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2024:

(1) Requests for new CoC project applications are allowed if the CoC evaluates and 
competitively ranks projects based on how they improve the CoC’s system 
performance as outlined in section V.B.1.a.(1) of this NOFO; and 
(2) HUD will prioritize funding for CoCs that have demonstrated the capacity to 
reallocate funding from lower to higher performing projects. 

12. Coordination with Housing and Healthcare.
The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2024 directs HUD to provide incentives to create 
projects that coordinate with housing providers and healthcare organizations to provide 
permanent supportive housing and rapid rehousing services. In the 2025 CoC Program 
Competition, CoCs may receive up to 4 points on the CoC Application if the FY 2025 CoC 

25



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

III. Program Description FR-6900-N-25 Page 22 of 128 

Priority Listing includes new TH, PH-PSH or PH-RRH project applications created through 
reallocation or CoC Bonus that utilizes housing resources and healthcare provided through 
an array of healthcare services and housing providers. See section V.B.1.c of this NOFO for 
additional details. 

26



IV. APPLICATION CONTENTS AND
FORMAT 

IV. Application Contents and Forms

A. Standard Forms, Assurances, and Certifications 

B. Budget 

C. Narratives and Non-Form Attachments 

D. Other Application Content 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

27



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 24 of 128 

IV. APPLICATION CONTENTS AND FORMAT
Applications must include three main elements: a) standard forms, assurances, and 
certifications; b) budget; and c) narratives and other attachments. The content, forms, and 
format for each element are included in this section. 
You may use this section as a checklist to ensure you submit a complete application. 
If you don’t provide the required documents in the correct format, your application is 
incomplete. 
Do not submit password protected or encrypted files. 
While the CoC Program NOFO is officially posted on Grants.gov, the standard forms, 
assurances, certifications, budgets, narrative responses, and the ability to include 
attachments are built into e-snaps, an electronic application system. 
HUD does not accept faxed applications or supportive documents. 
There are two types of applications under this NOFO that are part of the CoC Consolidated 
Application; 

• CoC Application that includes the CoC responses to the rating factors in Section V.B of
this NOFO; and

• Project applications that must be approved by CoCs to be included as part of the CoC
Consolidated Application. See Sections IV.D.1 and V.A.4 of this NOFO for information
on eligible project applications and submission requirements.

A. Standard Forms, Assurances, and Certifications 
You must properly complete and submit with your application the standard forms, 
assurances, and certifications identified below. You can find all forms in the application 
package or review them and their instructions at Grants.gov Forms. You can also read more 
about standard forms on HUD’s Funding Opportunities page. 
The identified forms below are included in the project applicant profile in e-snaps and must be 
completed by the project applicant before gaining access to the application. 

Forms/Assurances/Certifications Submission Requirement 

Application for Federal Assistance (SF-
424) 

Required with the application and completed 
in e-snaps via the information from the Project 
Applicant Profile. 

Applicant and Recipient Assurances and 
Certifications (HUD-424B) 

Required with the application and completed 
in e-snaps via the information from the Project 
Applicant Profile. 

Applicant/Recipient Disclosure/Update 
Report (HUD-2880) 

Required with the application and completed 
in e-snaps via the information from the Project 

28

https://esnaps.hud.gov/grantium/frontOffice.jsf
https://www.grants.gov/forms
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/CFO/images/Standard-Application-Forms.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/CFO/images/Standard-Application-Forms.pdf


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 25 of 128 

Forms/Assurances/Certifications Submission Requirement 

Applicant Profile. 

Certification Regarding Lobbying 
If applicable, required with the application and 
completed in e-snaps via the information from 
the Project Applicant Profile. 

Disclosure of Lobbying Activities (SF-LLL) 
If applicable, required with the application and 
completed in e-snaps via the information from 
the Project Applicant Profile. 

Certification for a Drug-Free Workplace 
(HUD-50070) 

Required with the application and completed 
in e-snaps via the information from the Project 
Applicant Profile. 

Assurances for Construction Programs 
(SF-424D) 

If applicable, required with the application and 
completed in e-snaps via the information from 
the Project Applicant Profile. 

Certification of Need and Compliance with 
Housing Quality and Habitability 
Standards. 

If applicable, required with the application and 
included in e-snaps. 
Collaborative Applicants must certify there is 
a demonstrated need for all PH renewal 
projects included in the Renewal Project 
Listing. Additionally, Collaborative Applicants 
must certify these projects comply with 
program requirements and appropriate 
standards of housing quality and habitability 
on the Renewal Project Listing. 

Certification for Opportunity Zone 
Preference Points (HUD 2996) 

If applicable. The HUD-2996 form is not built 
into e-snaps and must be submitted as an 
attachment to the CoC application in e-snaps 
on the Attachment screen if the CoC is 
requesting Opportunity Zone Preference 
Points. 

Indirect Cost Rate Certification (HUD-426) If applicable, required with the application and 
included in e-snaps. 

Attachment of the forms that are built into e-snaps, as indicated above, is not required. These 
forms must be completed before you will have access to the e-snaps application screens. 
The following forms are not built into e-snaps but are required to be submitted by 

29

https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/OCHCO/documents/2996.pdf


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 26 of 128 

Collaborative applicants with the CoC Priority listing: 
1. Certification of Consistency with the Consolidated Plan Form HUD-2991.
The standard form, Certification of Consistency with the Consolidated Plan (form HUD-2991), 
in which a state or local official certifies that the proposed activities or projects are consistent 
with the jurisdiction's Consolidated Plan and, if the project applicant is a state or unit of local 
government, that the jurisdiction is following its Consolidated Plan per the requirement of 24 
CFR part 91. Collaborative Applicants must download a new HUD-2991 and complete it for 
all project applications submitted and listed on the CoC Project Listings either by submitting 
one correctly signed and dated HUD-2991 form from the appropriate jurisdiction(s) that 
includes an attachment listing of all submitted project applications, or a single signed and 
dated HUD-2991 for each individual project application from the appropriate jurisdiction. 
The FY 2025 Form HUD-2991 must be completed and dated between November 1, 2024 and 
January 14, 2026 and attached to the FY 2025 CoC Priority Listing. 
2. Tribal Resolution for Projects on Trust Land or Reservations, if applicable.
Any applicant that is not a Tribe or TDHE proposing to site a project on a reservation or trust 
land must include a Tribal resolution or a letter from an official or principal of the Indian Tribe 
or TDHE, who is authorized to act on behalf of the Indian Tribe or TDHE. Tribes do not need 
to include a Tribal resolution to site a project on their own reservation or trust land. A Tribal 
resolution is the formal manner in which the Tribal government expresses its legislative will in 
accordance with its organic documents. In the absence of such organic documents, a written 
expression adopted pursuant to Tribal practices is acceptable. 
A CoC that is not a Tribe or TDHE that proposes to locate a new project on a reservation or 
trust land that is not currently included in the CoC’s approved geographic service areas, 
identified during the CoC Registration process, are required to obtain a Tribal Resolution from 
the Tribe or TDHE and attach it to the CoC Priority Listing. 

B. Budget 
You must submit a budget with your application to support your project narrative. 
At a minimum, your budget must indicate direct and any indirect costs. 
You must also submit form HUD-426, based on the requirements in Section III.E. of this 
NOFO. 
The project application in e-snaps includes the budget forms available under this NOFO. 
Project applicants will select the appropriate budget form(s) based on the requested activities 
and must be completed for the proposed project. Additionally, there is a section to capture 
indirect cost rate and the HUD-426 form, if applicable. 

Eligible Costs. 
Except as otherwise stated below, 24 CFR 578.37 through 578.63 identifies the eligible costs 
that applicants may request under the CoC Program. 
1. YHDP Costs.
Eligible costs for YHDP projects originally funded under the YHDP Competition are also 

30

https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/OCHCO/documents/2991.pdf


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 27 of 128 

eligible YHDP Renewal project costs under this NOFO (see section IV.D.1.h of this NOFO). 
Additionally, YHDP Renewal projects may include the YHDP Special Activities described in 
IV.B.2 below, subject to Renewal project requirements in sections IV.D.2 including IV.D.2.f.(2)
of this NOFO. YHDP Replacement including YHDP Reallocation project applications under 
this NOFO may include requests for eligible CoC Program Costs, the YHDP activities 
described in section IV.D.1.i and the YHDP Special Activities in section IV.B.2 below. HUD 
will reject any requests for ineligible costs, except as otherwise provided in this NOFO. 
2. Special YHDP Activities.
YHDP Renewal and YHDP Replacement including YHDP Reallocation projects may submit 
applications that include the following special YHDP activities, which are ineligible under the 
CoC Program, subject to the conditions specified in this section: 

a. Recipients may carry out the activities below with written notice to the Director of HUD’s
Office of Special Needs Assistance Programs (SNAPS), subject to the requirements 
governing grant agreement amendments at 24 CFR 578.105. HUD will consider the 
inclusion of these activities in the project application as notification to the Director of 
SNAPS. 

(1) Housing projects may have leases for a minimum term of 1 month plus 1 day under 
rental assistance budget line items. 
(2) Projects may use leasing, sponsor-based rental assistance, and project-based 
rental assistance in RRH projects. 
(3) In addition to the eligible costs listed in 24 CFR 578.59(a), recipients may use 
project administration funds to support costs of involving youth with lived experience in 
project implementation, execution, and improvement. 
(4) Recipient may use project administrative funds to attend conferences and trainings 
that are not HUD-sponsored or HUD-approved, provided that the subject matter is 
relevant to youth homelessness. 
(5) Projects may employ youth who are receiving services, or housing assistance, 
from the recipient organization. Recipients that use this special YHDP activity must 
maintain documentation that discloses the nature of work that the youth performs, and 
that the youth is not in a position that creates a conflict of interest. 
(6) Projects may use habitability standards in 24 CFR 576.403(c) rather than the 
housing standards in 24 CFR 578.75 for short- or medium-term (up to 24 months) 
housing assistance. Recipients implementing this special YHDP activity must keep 
documentation of which standards they apply to the units and proof that the units 
complied with standards before assistance is provided for every unit funded. 
(7) Recipients may provide moving expenses to a program participant more than once. 
(8) Recipients may provide payments of up to $500 per month for families that provide 
housing under a host home and kinship care model to offset the increased costs 
associated with having youth housed in the unit. 
(9) YHDP recipients may continue providing supportive services to program 
participants for up to 12 months after the program participant exits homelessness, 

31



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 28 of 128 

transitional housing or after the end of housing assistance. 
(10) Projects using grant leasing funds may pay above the Fair Market Rent (FMR) for 
individual units as long as the amount paid is consistent with the reasonable rent 
standards at 24 CFR 578.51(g). 
(11) Recipients may use grant funds for the following if they are necessary to assist 
program participants to obtain and maintain housing. Recipients and subrecipients 
must maintain records establishing how it was determined that paying the costs was 
necessary for the program participant to obtain and retain housing and must also 
conduct an annual assessment of the needs of the program participants and adjust 
costs accordingly: 

(a) Security deposits for units in an amount not to exceed 2 months of rent. 
(b) The costs to pay for any damage to housing due to the action of program 
participants, which may be paid while the youth continues to reside in the unit. The 
total costs paid for damage per program participant may not exceed the cost of 2 
months’ rent. 
(c) The costs of providing household cleaning supplies to program participants. 
(d) Housing start-up expenses for program participants, including furniture, pots 
and pans, linens, toiletries, and other household goods, not to exceed $300 in 
value per program participant. 
(e) The one-time cost of purchasing a cellular phone and service for program 
participant use, provided access to a cellular phone is necessary to obtain or 
maintain housing and the costs of the phone and services are reasonable per 2 
CFR 200.404. 
(f) The cost of internet in program participants’ units if the costs of the service is 
reasonable per 2 CFR 200.404. 
(g) Payment of rental arrears consisting of a one-time payment for up to 6 months 
of rent in arrears, including any late fees on those arrears. 
(h) Payment of utility arrears of up to 6 months per utility. 
(i) Up to 3 months of utilities for a program participant, based on the utility costs 
schedule for the unit size and location. 
(j) In addition to transportation costs eligible in 24 CFR 578.53(e)(15), recipients 
may pay gas and mileage costs for a program participant’s personal vehicle for 
trips to and from medical care, employment, childcare, or other services eligible 
under this section. 
(k) Legal fees, including court fees, bail bonds, and required courses and 
equipment. 
(l) Program participant’s past driving fines and fees that are blocking a young 
person from being able to obtain or renew a driver’s license and impacting their 
ability to obtain or maintain housing. Additionally, recipients may pay for program 
participants’ costs for insurance and registration for personal vehicles, if the 

32



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 29 of 128 

personal vehicle is necessary to reach medical care, employment, childcare, or 
other services eligible under this section. 

(12) Recipients of housing projects (RRH, TH, TH-RRH, and PSH) may use YHDP 
funds to pay for owner incentive and retention payments before occupancy of the unit, 
or at any point thereafter, provided that the overall amount paid with program funds 
per unit occupied by the program participant does not exceed three times the rent 
charged for the unit. These payments may include signing bonuses (a payment 
offered to an owner as an incentive for leasing a unit to be occupied by a program 
participant), repairs to bring the unit into compliance with program requirements, or 
holding fees to reserve a unit for an individual or family experiencing homelessness. 

b. YHDP Exceptions. Under the conditions specified below, recipients may make use of
the following built-in exceptions to this NOFO’s requirements, subject to approval by the 
Director of SNAPS and requirements governing grant agreement amendments at 24 CFR 
578.105. To expedite grant agreement processing, applicants should include as much 
information as possible as part of their project application to demonstrate they meet the 
conditions specified below. 

(1) Projects may provide up to 36 months of RRH rental assistance to program 
participants if the recipient demonstrates: (1) the method it will use to determine which 
youth need rental assistance beyond 24 months and (2) the services and resources 
that will be offered to ensure youth are able to sustain their housing at the end of the 
36 months of assistance. 
(2) Projects may continue providing supportive services to program participants for up 
to 24 months after a program participant exits homelessness, transitional housing or 
after housing assistance ends if the recipient demonstrates: (1) the proposed length of 
extended services to be provided; (2) the method it will use to determine whether 
services are still necessary; and (3) how those services will result in self-sufficiency 
and ensure stable housing for program participants. 
(3) Projects may continue providing supportive services to program participants for up 
to 36 months after program participants exit homelessness, if the services are in 
connection with housing assistance, such as the Foster Youth to Independence 
initiative, or if the recipient can demonstrate that extended supportive services ensures 
continuity of caseworkers for program participants. 
(4) Rental assistance may be combined with leasing or operating funds in the same 
unit, provided that the recipient submits a project plan that includes safeguards to 
ensure that no part of the project would receive a double subsidy. 
(5) Projects may provide payments of up to $1,000 per month for families that provide 
housing under a host home and kinship care model, provided that the recipient can 
show that the additional cost is necessary to recruit hosts to the program. 
(6) YHDP recipients may pay for short-term (up to three months) emergency lodging in 
motels or shelters as the transitional housing component in a Joint transitional 
housing-rapid rehousing (TH-RRH) project, provided that the recipient can 
demonstrate that use of the hotel or motel room is accessible to supportive services. 

33

https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/fyi
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/fyi


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 30 of 128 

c. Innovative Activities. In addition to the specific activities authorized above or in 24
CFR part 578, other innovative activities to reduce youth homelessness may be carried 
out in a YHDP project, subject to approval by the Director of SNAPS and requirements 
governing grant agreement amendments at 24 CFR 578.105. Requests to carry out 
YHDP innovative activities are permitted to be requested in any YHDP application. YHDP 
Replacement applicant must demonstrate to HUD that the activity meets the following 
criteria; and to expedite grant agreement processing, must include as much information 
as possible as part of their project application. 
YHDP Renewal or YHDP Replacement applications requesting to carry out Innovative 
Special YHDP Activities must demonstrate the following: 

(1) The activity is approved by both the Youth Action Board (YAB) and the CoC, as 
evidenced by letters of support from each organization. For purposes of this section, a 
YAB is defined as a group of at least 4 youth – aged 24 or younger - with voting power 
on policy decisions of the CoC (particularly on policies that relate to preventing and 
ending youth homelessness, and where at least two-thirds of the members have lived 
experience/expertise of homelessness. The YAB must be a formal committee of the 
CoC. The YAB should be representative of the youth and young adult population 
experiencing homelessness in the community; 
(2) That activity will be testing or likely to achieve a positive outcome in at least one of 
the four core outcomes for youth experiencing homelessness (stable housing, 
permanent connections, education/employment, and well-being); 
(3) The activity is cost-effective; and 
(4) The activity is not in conflict with fair housing, civil rights, or environmental 
regulations. 

3. Rural Costs for Projects Originally Awarded Under the Rural Set Aside of the Special
CoC NOFO Competition. 
Projects originally awarded under the Rural Set Aside through the Special CoC NOFO 
Competition may submit applications that include the following costs (Note: CoC Projects not 
originally funded under the Rural Set Aside of the Special NOFO Competition are not 
permitted to request funding under this cost category): 

a. Rent or utility assistance after 2 months of nonpayment of rent or utilities to prevent
eviction or loss of utility service. Funds may be used to pay rent or utility arrear payments 
up to 6 months on behalf of program participants residing in permanent housing. 

b. Repairs, (such as insulation, window repair, door repair, roof repair, and repairs) that
are necessary to make housing habitable to be used for transitional or permanent housing 
by people experiencing homelessness. The total cost of repairs may not exceed $10,000 
per structure. 
c. Capacity building activities. Capacity building activities are those activities that
maintain or improve the skills of recipients. Eligible capacity building activities include 
employee education, job training, staff retention activities such as financial incentives to 
staff, paying for continuing education opportunities, cross-training within an organization, 

34



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 31 of 128 

staff training and professional licensing or certification, and other professional 
development activities. An applicant may apply for up to 20% of funds requested as part 
of the project, including project administrative costs, for capacity building activities. 
d. Emergency food and clothing assistance. The cost of providing meals or groceries
and clothing to program participants are eligible costs. 
e. Costs associated with making use of Federal Inventory property programs to house
individuals and families experiencing homelessness. Federal Inventory property programs 
means the Use of Federal Real Property to Assist the Homeless program authorized by 
title V of the Act, and implemented by 24 CFR part 581, and the Single Family Property 
Disposition Program authorized by section 204(g) of the National Housing Act (12. U.S.C. 
1710(g)) and implemented at 24 CFR part 291 Eligible costs are: preparing and 
submitting applications to obtain ownership of the real property; transfer taxes; recording 
fees; closing costs; building permit and zoning fees; attorney’s fees; rehabilitation of 
buildings and structures on the property necessary to bring them into compliance with 
local building codes and to convert them to the intended homeless assistance use; water, 
sanitation, sewer and utility hook-up fees and deposits and bringing lines to the property; 
wells; septic systems; and improving access to the real property from public roads. 

4. VAWA Costs Information.
Section 605(a)(2) of VAWA 2022 amended section 423(a) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless 
Assistance Act to add the following eligible activity to the CoC program: “Facilitating and 
coordinating activities to ensure compliance with the emergency transfer plan requirement in 
[34 U.S.C. 12491(e)] and monitoring compliance with the confidentiality protections in [34 
U.S.C. 12491(c)(4)].” 
HUD has determined that eligible activities paid for under the VAWA costs category are not 
subject to the CoC program’s spending caps on administrative costs under section 
423(a)(10), (11), and (12). This activity may be included in new project applications, added to 
eligible renewal projects through expansion or added to eligible renewal projects by shifting 
up to 10 percent of funds from one eligible activity to the VAWA costs line item. 

a. Examples of eligible costs for emergency transfer facilitation include the costs of
assessing, coordinating, approving, denying and implementing a survivor’s emergency 
transfer which includes: 

(1) Assistance with moving costs. Reasonable moving costs to move survivors for an 
emergency transfer. 
(2) Assistance with travel costs. Reasonable travel costs for survivors and their 
families to travel for an emergency transfer. 
(3) Security Deposits. Grant funds can be used to pay for security deposits of the safe 
units the survivor is transferring to via an emergency transfer. 
(4) Utilities. Grant funds can be used to pay for costs of establishing utility assistance 
in the safe unit the survivor is transferring to. 
(5) Housing Fees. Fees associated with getting survivors into a safe unit via 
emergency transfer, includes but not limited to application fees, broker fees, holding 

35

https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/34/12491
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/34/12491
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/34/12491


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 32 of 128 

fees, trash fees, pet fees where the person believes they need their pet to be safe, etc. 
(6) Case management. Grant funds can be used to pay staff time necessary to 
assess, coordinate and implement emergency transfers. 
(7) Housing navigation. Grant funds can be used to pay staff time necessary to identify 
safe units and facilitate moves into housing for survivors through emergency transfers. 
(8) Technology to make an available unit safe. Grant funds can be used to pay for 
technology that the individual believes is needed to make the unit safe, including but 
not limited to doorbell cameras, security systems, phone and internet service when 
necessary to support security systems for the unit, etc. 

b. Examples of eligible costs for monitoring compliance with the VAWA confidentiality
requirements include the costs of ensuring compliance with the VAWA confidentiality 
requirements which includes: 

(1) Monitoring and evaluating compliance with VAWA confidentiality requirements. 
(2) Developing and implementing strategies for corrective actions and remedies. 
(3) Program evaluation of confidentiality policies, practices and procedures. 
(4) Training on compliance with VAWA confidentiality requirements. 
(5) Reporting to Collaborative Applicant, HUD and other interested parties on 
compliance with VAWA confidentiality requirements. 
(6) Costs for establishing methodology to protect survivor information. 
(7) Staff time associated with maintaining adherence to confidentiality requirements. 

5. Rural Costs Information.
Section 5707 of the James M. Inhofe National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2023 
(PL 117-263, December 23, 2022, 136 Stat 2395) amended section 423(a) of the McKinney-
Vento Homeless Assistance Act to allow projects in rural areas [as defined in section 2.b.(9) 
of the Appendix] to use program funds to pay for the following eligible activities: 

a. Payment of short-term emergency lodging, including in motels or shelters, directly or
through vouchers. 
b. Repairs to units in which individuals and families experiencing homelessness will be
housed; or are currently not fit for human habitation. 
c. Staff training, professional development, skill development, and staff retention activities.

HUD has determined that eligible activities paid for under the rural costs category may be 
included in new project applications or added to eligible renewal projects through expansion. 
This rural cost category does not apply to projects originally awarded under the Rural Set 
Aside through the Special NOFO. 
HUD published a list of CoCs located in rural areas on the CoC Program page on the 
HUD.gov website. 

36

https://www.hud.gov/hud-partners/community-coc


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 33 of 128 

Budget Form/Document Submission Requirement Notes/Description 

Budget Information for Non-
Construction Programs (SF-
424A) 

If applicable with the 
application 

Page limit: Not Applicable 
File name: SF-424A 

Budget Information for 
Construction Programs (SF-
424C) 

If applicable, required with the 
application 

Page limit: Not applicable 
File name: SF-424C 

Grant Application Derailed 
Budget (HUD-424-CB) Required with the application 

Page limit: Not applicable 
File name: HUD-424CB 
Form location: download 
instruction 

Grant Application Detailed 
Budget Worksheet (HUD-424-
CBW) 

Required with the application 

Page limit: Not applicable 
File name: HUD-424CBW 
Form location: download 
instructions 

Indirect Cost Information 
Certification (HUD-426) 

If applicable, this document is 
required with the application 
and after award 

Page limit: Not applicable 
File name: ICR Doc. 
Form location: download 
instructions 

Budget Form/Document Submission 
Requirement Notes/Description 

Budget Information for 
Non-Construction 
Programs (SF-424A) 

If applicable with 
the application 

Page limit: Not Applicable 
File name: SF-424A 

Budget Information for 
Construction Programs 
(SF-424C) 

If applicable, 
required with the 
application 

Page limit: Not applicable 
File name: SF-424C 

Grant Application Derailed 
Budget (HUD-424-CB) 

Required with the 
application 

Page limit: Not applicable 
File name: HUD-424CB 
Form location: download 
instruction 

37



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 34 of 128 

Budget Form/Document Submission 
Requirement Notes/Description 

Grant Application Detailed 
Budget Worksheet (HUD-
424-CBW) 

Required with the 
application 

Page limit: Not applicable 
File name: HUD-424CBW 
Form location: download 
instructions 

Indirect Cost Information 
Certification (HUD-426) 

If applicable, this 
document is 
required with the 
application and 
after award 

Page limit: Not applicable 
File name: ICR Doc. 
Form location: download 
instructions 

C. Narratives and Other Attachments 
If applicable, you must upload narrative and non-form attachments in e-snaps.hud.gov. When 
adding the attachments to the form, you can upload PDF, Word or Excel formats. 
Collaborative Applicants will provide narrative responses about the CoC planning body, 
governance structure, overall performance, and the strategic planning processes in esnaps. 
The CoC Application describes the CoC's plan for ending homelessness and increasing self-
sufficiency and recovery, its system-level performance, and addresses the merit criteria 
specified in section V.B of this NOFO. HUD scores this part of the application with all charts 
and narratives completed (as applicable) and all required attachments to determine the order 
in which competitively ranked CoC projects are funded. 
Project applicants will provide narrative responses to questions in e-snaps that demonstrate 
their ability to meet project eligibility and project quality threshold requirements. 

D. Other Application Content 
1. Eligible Project Applications.
The following types of project applications will be eligible for completion and submission 
under this NOFO. 

a. CoC Planning projects. All Collaborative Applicants are eligible and encouraged to
apply for CoC Planning funds which they may use according to 24 CFR 578.39. CoC 
Planning project applications must be submitted by the CoC-designated Collaborative 
Applicant and the Collaborative Applicant organization must match the organization listed 
as the Collaborative Applicant in the CoC Applicant Profile in e-snaps. Planning projects 
will not affect a CoC’s available amount for new and renewal project applications because 
it is not included in the CoC’s ARD calculation. 
b. UFA Costs projects. Only those CoC-designated Collaborative Applicants approved
for UFA designation by HUD are eligible to apply for UFA Costs project funds as 
described in 24 CFR 578.41. UFA Costs project application must be submitted by the 
CoC-designated Collaborative Applicant and the Collaborative Applicant organization 

38

https://esnaps.hud.gov/


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 35 of 128 

must match the organization listed as the Collaborative Applicant in the CoC Applicant 
Profile in e-snaps. UFA Costs projects will not affect a CoC’s available amount for new 
and renewal project applications as it is not included in the CoC’s ARD calculation. 
c. CoC Bonus Project. The CoC Bonus allows CoCs to use up to 20 percent of their
Final Pro Rata Need (FPRN) to create one or more new project applications. New projects 
created through the CoC Bonus must meet the project eligibility and project quality 
threshold requirements established by HUD in sections V.A.4.a and V.A.4.b of this NOFO. 
To be eligible to receive a CoC Bonus project, the Collaborative Applicant must 
demonstrate its CoC evaluates and ranks projects based on how they improve system 
performance as outlined in section V.B.1.a.(1) of this NOFO. 
d. Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking Renewal 
Projects (DV Renewal Projects). Are eligible renewal projects that were previously 
funded, in whole or in part, with DV Bonus funding or were at some point expanded using 
DV Bonus funding to continue serving individuals and families who are fleeing or 
attempting to flee domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking and who 
qualify under paragraphs (1) or (4) of the definition of homelessness at 24 CFR 578.3 or 
section 103(b) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act. 
e. Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking New Projects 
(DV Bonus and DV Reallocation Projects). A new project that is dedicated to serving 
individuals and families who are fleeing or attempting to flee domestic violence, dating 
violence, sexual assault, or stalking and who qualify under the paragraphs (1) or (4) of the 
definition of homeless at 24 CFR 578.3 or section 103(b) of the McKinney-Vento 
Homeless Assistance Act. As described in section 2.b.(5) of the Appendix , survivors of 
human trafficking may also qualify as homeless under paragraph (4) of the homeless 
definition at 24 CFR 578.3 or section 103(b) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance 
Act because they are often also victims of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual 
assault, or stalking, however a DV Bonus project may not exclusively serve people fleeing 
or attempting to flee human trafficking. CoCs may apply for DV Bonus projects where the 
total amount for one year of funding for all DV Bonus applications is up to 10 percent of its 
Preliminary Pro Rata Need (PPRN); however, this amount is limited to: 

• A minimum of $50,000 if 10 percent of the CoC’s PPRN is less than $50,000; or
• A maximum of $5 million if 10 percent of the CoC’s PPRN is more than $5 million.

See sections V.A.4.b and V.D.3.d of this NOFO for project application requirements and 
how DV Bonus projects will be reviewed and selected. 

(1) To be eligible to receive DV Bonus projects, the Collaborative Applicant must 
demonstrate its CoC evaluates and ranks projects based on how they improve system 
performance as outlined in section V.B.1.a.(1) of this NOFO. 
(2) CoCs may reallocate eligible DV Renewal to create new DV Reallocation projects 
that are dedicated to serving individuals and families who are fleeing or attempting to 
flee domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking and who qualify 
under paragraphs (1) or (4) of the definition of homelessness act. DV Bonus funding 
and funding made available from the reallocation of expiring DV Renewal projects may 
be used for “new rapid re-housing projects and supportive service projects providing 

39



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 36 of 128 

coordinated entry, and for eligible activities that the Secretary determines to be critical 
in order to assist individuals and families of persons experiencing trauma or a lack of 
safety related to fleeing or attempting to flee domestic violence, dating violence, 
sexual assault, or stalking.” 
(3) New projects or expansion projects created with DV Bonus or DV Reallocation 
funding, must meet DV Bonus and DV Reallocation project requirements. Additionally, 
the sum of all DV Reallocation applications must be for the same amount of funding 
made available from the DV Renewal funding being reallocated. If a CoC reallocates 
funding from a DV Renewal grant and does not use those funds for new project(s) that 
are 100 percent dedicated to the eligible population established in this section, HUD 
may condition the project applications to ensure the projects are serving the required 
subpopulation. If an applicant does not resolve the condition placed on the project, 
HUD may withdraw the award. To avoid any potential delays in funding or a loss in 
ARD, CoCs should review the FY 2025 GIW provided by HUD to determine which 
renewal projects were originally awarded DV Bonus or DV Reallocation funds, 
including CoC projects that were expanded with DV Bonus or DV Reallocation funding 
in a prior year competition. 
The following restrictions apply to the DV Reallocation process: 

(a) DV Renewal projects that have a SSO-CE component cannot be reallocated. 
(b) Reallocated DV Renewal funding cannot be used to expand a CoC or YHDP 
Renewal grant. 
(c) DV Renewal projects cannot be reallocated to create new non-DV CoC 
projects. If HUD determines that a project applicant incorrectly classified one or 
more new projects as a DV Reallocation, HUD may reclassify the project(s). For 
example, if the proposed project is not dedicated to serving individuals and families 
of persons experiencing trauma or a lack of safety related to fleeing or attempting 
to flee domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking, HUD may 
condition the project to ensure the required population is served. 
(d) If a project does not have enough funding available from reallocation sources, 
HUD will reduce the project to the amount available, if any, and determine if the 
project is feasible at the reduced rate. 

f. New Projects Created Through DV Bonus or DV Reallocation Processes. 
(1) DV Bonus and DV Reallocation may only be used to create new SSO-Coordinated 
Entry, Rapid Re-housing (PH-RRH), and Transitional Housing (TH) projects. 
(2) For PH-RRH and TH projects, the application must demonstrate: 

(a) The project applicant’s experience serving individuals and families of persons 
experiencing trauma or a lack of safety related to fleeing or attempting to flee 
domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking, and their ability to 
house survivors and meet safety outcomes. 
(b) The project’s inclusion of victim-centered practices. 
(c) Demonstration of plan to include survivors with lived expertise. 

40



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 37 of 128 

(3) Supportive Services Only Coordinated Entry (SSO-CE) must be designed to 
implement policies, procedures, and practices that equip the CoC’s coordinated entry 
to better meet the needs of people experiencing homelessness who are experiencing 
trauma or a lack of safety related to fleeing or attempting to flee domestic violence, 
dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking (e.g., to implement policies and procedures 
that are trauma-informed, client-centered or to better coordinate referrals between the 
CoC’s coordinated entry and the victim service providers coordinated entry system 
where they are different). SSO-CE project applications created with DV Bonus and DV 
Reallocation funding must also demonstrate its plan to involve survivors in policy and 
program development throughout the project’s operation. 

g. New Projects Created with CoC Bonus or Through the CoC Reallocation process. 
CoCs may apply for the following types of new CoC projects through the CoC Bonus or 
CoC Reallocation processes: 

(1) SSO projects. 
(2) TH projects. 
(3) PH-PSH projects. 
(4) PH-RRH projects. 
(5) Dedicated HMIS project for the costs at 24 CFR 578.37(a)(4) that may only be 
carried out by the HMIS Lead, which is the recipient or subrecipient of an HMIS grant 
and is listed on the HMIS Lead form in the CoC Applicant Profile in e-snaps. 
Additionally, if the CoC has organizations within its geographic area that are victim 
service providers, the HMIS Lead, or subrecipient, may request HMIS funds for a 
comparable database. Victim service providers may also request HMIS funds in their 
project application budgets to enter data into a comparable database. 
(6) SSO-CE project to develop or operate a Coordinated Entry system. 

Prior to completing a new project application created using CoC Bonus funds or through 
the reallocation process, project applicants should consult with the CoC to determine 
which of these options is available to be locally selected as part of the CoC. 
If HUD determines that a CoC Bonus or CoC Reallocation project applicant or a 
Collaborative Applicant incorrectly classified one or more new projects as reallocation or 
CoC Bonus, HUD may reclassify the project(s) as either reallocation or CoC Bonus if the 
CoC exceeded either its reallocation or CoC Bonus amounts. For example, if a project 
applicant or the Collaborative Applicant classified a new project application as reallocation 
but did not reallocate funds in whole or part from an eligible renewal project, and there are 
CoC Bonus funds available, HUD may reclassify the new project application as CoC 
Bonus during its review. If a project applicant uses both reallocation and CoC Bonus 
amounts to create a single new project but did not have enough available from either 
source, HUD will reduce the project to the amount available, if any. 
If a project applicant or the Collaborative Applicant classified a new project application as 
reallocation but did not reallocate funds in whole or part from an eligible renewal project, 
HUD may reduce the funding amount or reject the new project application during its 
review. 

41



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 38 of 128 

For new projects created through the CoC Bonus process, HUD must determine the CoC 
has demonstrated that the projects are evaluated and ranked based on the degree to 
which they improve the CoC’s system performance. 
h. Youth Homeless Demonstration Program (YHDP). Consistent with the requirements
of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2024, funding for the CoC Program may be used 
to competitively or non-competitively renew or replace grants for YHDP projects. 
In order to ensure the best use of federal dollars, HUD will competitively award all YHDP 
projects, including renewal and replacement YHDP projects. CoCs seeking to reallocate 
YHDP projects may only reallocate to other youth projects. See section IV.D.1.i below of 
this NOFO for additional information. 
While YHDP projects can use the replacement process to consolidate projects as outlined 
in section IV.D.1.i and IV.D.1.k below, these projects cannot consolidate with non-YHDP 
projects. YHDP Renewal projects may apply to expand its current project through the 
YHDP Replacement process. Unified Funding Agencies (UFAs) are prohibited from 
moving funds out of or into YHDP-funded projects and mixing funding from any other non-
YHDP funded project. UFAs may replace eligible YHDP renewal projects. 
All YHDP Renewal and YHDP Replacement projects, including YHDP reallocation, are 
subject to the following provisions of the Rule, as may be amended from time to time, 
except where they conflict with the NOFO requirements, with the Special YHDP Activities 
identified in section IV.B.2 of this NOFO, or the requirement that grant funds may only be 
used to serve homeless youth, age 24 and younger: 24 CFR 578.3, 578.15, 578.23, 
578.25, 578.27, 578.29, 578.37, 578.43, 578.45, 578.47, 578.49, 578.51, 578.53, 578.55, 
578.57, 578.59, 578.61, 578.63, 578.73, 578.75, 578.77, 578.79, 578.81, 578.83, 578.85, 
578.87, 578.89, 578.91, 578.93 except in 578.93(c)(2), recipients must provide such 
information to the jurisdiction in which the project is located, 578.95, 578.97, 578.99, 
578.103(a)(3) - (18) and (b) – (e), 578.105, 578.107 and 578.109. The requirements of 2 
CFR 200.306, as may be amended from time to time, with the exception of 200.306(b)(5) 
apply. All YHDP Renewal, YHDP Replacement and new YHDP Reallocation projects 
must comply with 24 CFR 578.93, except that in 578.93(c)(2), recipients must provide 
such information to the jurisdiction in which the project is located. Federal fair housing and 
nondiscrimination requirements cannot be waived. 
i. New YHDP Projects Created through YHDP Replacement processes. CoCs may
replace renewing YHDP project(s) to create one or more new YHDP Replacement 
projects, including YHDP Reallocation (see section 2.b.(12) of the Appendix for more 
information). 

(1) YHDP Renewal project applicants may submit renewal applications for minor 
changes to a project, including adding or modifying select Special YHDP Activities 
under section IV.B.2; however, if a renewing YHDP project applicant chooses to 
modify the current project in a way that does not meet the definition of renewal project 
found at IV.D.2 of this NOFO, it must submit a YHDP Replacement project application. 
(2) A YHDP Renewal project applicant may apply to expand its current project through 
the YHDP Replacement process. See section IV.D.1.j.(3) for more information. 

42



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 39 of 128 

(3) A YHDP Replacement project application must: 
(a) demonstrate that the project is consistent with the CoC's most recent 
Coordinated Community Plan; and 
(b) For YHDP replacement projects that are not reallocations, include the grant 
number from the YHDP Renewal project(s) being replaced with the YHDP 
Replacement project application. The CoC’s Collaborative Applicant is responsible 
for ensuring that only a renewal YHDP or replacement YHDP project application is 
submitted through the CoC Project Priority Listing. If the Collaborative Applicant 
submits both a renewal and replacement YHDP project application for the same 
project, HUD will only select the renewal YHDP project application; 

(4) HUD will only fund new YHDP Reallocation projects through the YHDP 
Replacement process as described below and in sections IV.D.1.h and IV.B.2 of this 
NOFO: 

(a) TH or Crisis Residential Transitional Housing which is a form of transitional 
housing that is short-term, low-barrier, using a congregate living setting, and 
provides access to the following supportive services in particular: family 
engagement and unification, case management, emergency triage services and 
other supportive services whose purpose is to move youth rapidly into stable 
housing. 
(b) SSO, including, but not limited to, housing search and placement services, 
case management, or street outreach. 
(c) SSO-CE. 
(d) SSO - Host Home and Kinship Care. A model in which a family agrees to 
permit a youth to reside with them. Recognizing that the addition of another person 
in the home may increase costs to the family, HUD will entertain applications that 
propose to house youth with families and to subsidize the additional costs 
attributable to housing the youth. The residence is in a community-based setting. 
The family could be related to the youth and the length of stay may be time-limited 
or without time limits. YHDP funds may be used to subsidize the increased costs to 
the family that are attributable to housing the youth. An example of eligible costs 
would be additional food or transportation costs, which are eligible supportive 
services under 24 CFR 578.53(e)(7) or 24 CFR 578.53(e)(15). Recipients must 
keep records related to this determination by the recipient for HUD review upon 
request. 
(e) HMIS. 

(5) HUD will review new YHDP Reallocation and YHDP Replacement project 
applications to ensure the activities requested are eligible and the amounts requested 
do not exceed the amounts available for YHDP reallocation or, in the case of YHDP 
Replacements, the ARA of the renewal project(s) being replaced. HUD will not reject 
YHDP project applications; however, HUD may require YHDP grant recipients to 
correct or revise information submitted after the final award announcement, prior to 
executing the grant agreement. 

43



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 40 of 128 

j. Expansion Project. The process used by eligible renewal project applicants to add
funds to an existing CoC Renewal, DV Renewal or YHDP Renewal project to expand its 
current operations either through reallocation, DV Bonus or a CoC Bonus project 
application. The new funding being added to the existing renewal must be submitted as a 
new project in e-snaps. This portion of the project is known as new expansion project. 
HUD will allow project applicants to apply for new expansion projects to expand existing 
projects to increase the number of units, persons served, services provided to existing 
program participants, or to add additional activities to HMIS and SSO-CE projects. 
The new expansion project applications must meet the project eligibility and project quality 
thresholds in V.A.4.a and V.A.4.b of this NOFO and must be for the same component as 
the project being expanded. Additionally, the renewal project being expanded must have 
an expiration date in CY 2026. 
In the case of YHDP Replacement applications to expand existing YHDP Renewal 
projects, applicants must submit a YHDP Replacement and a YHDP Reallocation 
application separately and each project must be included in the CoC’s Priority Listing. 
If a project application does not meet the following requirements, or if the renewal project 
the new project application is proposing to expand is not selected for award, HUD will 
review the new expansion project and will consider it as a standalone project during the 
selection process provided that the project is feasible on its own with its requested funding 
and provided it passes project eligibility and project quality threshold requirements. 
If both the new expansion project and the renewal project it expands are conditionally 
selected for funding, one grant agreement incorporating both approved project 
applications will be executed. 

(1) The following limitations apply to expansion grant applications: 
(a) If the new expansion project exceeds the amount of funding available to the 
CoC under the reallocation or Bonus processes, HUD will reduce the funding 
request for the new expansion project to the available amount, which could affect 
the activities of the new expansion project. 
(b) HUD will not fund expansion applications that include requests for capital costs 
(i.e., new constructions, rehabilitation, or acquisition) and will only allow 1-year 
funding requests. 
(c) Recipients cannot apply to expand a project included in a grant consolidation 
during the same funding year. If an applicant applies to expand a project included 
in a grant consolidation, HUD may consider the expansion project for funding if it 
meets all the requirements of a new standalone project. 
(d) CoC Bonus, CoC Reallocation, DV Bonus, or DV Reallocation funding cannot 
be used to expand a YHDP renewal project. 
(e) If CoC Bonus, CoC Reallocation, DV Bonus, or DV Reallocation funding is used 
to expand a DV Renewal project, the entire expanded project must be 100 percent 
dedicated to serving individuals and families who are fleeing or attempting to flee 
domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking and who qualify 

44



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 41 of 128 

under paragraph (1) or (4) of the definition of homeless at 24 CFR 578.3 or section 
103(b) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act and the project must meet 
all the DV project requirements in sections IV.D.1.e and IV.D.1.f of this NOFO. 
(f) New YHDP projects created with reallocated YHDP funding may be used to 
expand an existing YHDP renewal project through the YHDP Replacement 
process. The expansion YHDP project must meet the requirements of a new 
YHDP Replacement application. 

(2) Project applicants expanding an eligible CoC Renewal or DV Renewal project 
must: 

(a) submit a separate renewal project application and the new project application 
with expansion information (both projects must be ranked by the CoC with unique 
rank numbers); 
(b) in the new project application, enter the grant number of the eligible renewal 
project proposed for expansion; 
(c) indicate how the new project application will expand units, beds, services, 
persons served, or services provided to existing program participants, or in the 
case of HMIS or SSO-CE projects, how the current activities will be expanded for 
the CoC's geographic area; and 
(d) ensure the funding request for the expansion grant is within the funding 
parameters allowed under CoC Bonus, CoC Reallocation, DV Bonus, or DV 
Reallocation amounts available. 

(3) Project applicants expanding an eligible YHDP Renewal project through the YHDP 
Replacement process must: 

(a) submit a new YHDP Reallocation project application with the expansion 
information through the YHDP Replacement process, including the grant number 
of the YHDP Renewal project being expanded. 
(b) indicate how the expansion project application will expand units, beds, 
services, persons served, or services provided to existing program participants. 
(c) ensure the funding request for the YHDP Reallocation application to expand the 
YHDP Renewal project is within the funding parameters allowed under the YHDP 
Reallocation amount available. 
(d) ensure the YHDP Renewal and YHDP Reallocation project applications meet 
the requirements in sections IV.D.1.h and IV.D.1.i of this NOFO. 

(4) DV Bonus and DV Reallocation Expansion Applications. 
(a) DV Bonus and DV Reallocation funds can only be used for an application to 
expand an existing renewal project if the new expansion project is dedicated to 
individuals and families of persons experiencing trauma or a lack of safety related 
to fleeing or attempting to flee domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, 
or stalking who qualify under paragraphs (1) or (4) of the definition of homeless at 
24 CFR 578.3 or section 103(b) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act. 

45



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 42 of 128 

(b) Project applicants may use DV Bonus funds to expand an existing renewal 
project that is not currently dedicated to serving individuals and families of persons 
experiencing trauma or a lack of safety related to fleeing or attempting to flee 
domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking to dedicate 
additional beds, units, persons served, or services provided to existing program 
participants of this population; however, only the new project application for the 
expansion will be considered for DV Bonus funds. 
(c) If an applicant proposes to use DV Reallocation funds to expand an existing 
renewal project that is not currently dedicated to serving individuals and families of 
persons experiencing trauma or a lack of safety related to fleeing or attempting to 
flee domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking to dedicate 
additional beds, units, persons served, or services provided to existing program 
participants of this population, the entire project, including the renewal project 
being expanded, must serve 100 percent individuals and families of persons 
experiencing trauma or a lack of safety related to fleeing or attempting to flee 
domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking who qualify under 
paragraphs (1) or (4) of the definition of homeless at 24 CFR 578.3 or section 
103(b) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act. In the case of DV 
Reallocation Projects, HUD will use the Tier 1 and Tier 2 selection process 
described in sections V.D.3.a, V.D.3.b and V.D.3.c of this NOFO. 

k. Consolidation Project. Applicants intending to use the consolidation process to
combine two or more, but no more than 10, eligible renewal projects (including renewing 
YHDP projects and renewal Special CoC NOFO Competition projects), may do so through 
the renewal project application. The projects being combined during a grant consolidation 
will continue uninterrupted. To be eligible for consolidation, the projects must have the 
same recipient and be for the same component. 

(1) The period of performance and budget period of the expiring grants must have end 
dates in CY 2026. Applicants intending to use the consolidation process must ensure: 

(a) Budget Line Items (BLIs) for the consolidated project application submitted, 
exactly match the sum of the BLIs for each of the individual projects as they 
appear on the grant agreement, or the grant agreement as amended; 
(b) inclusion of the expiring grant numbers with period of performance and budget 
period start and end dates for the projects that are consolidating; 
(c) are in good standing with HUD, meaning none of the projects have: 

i. outstanding audit or monitoring findings,
ii. outstanding obligation to HUD that is in arrears,
iii. unresolved construction delays,
iv. a history of poor financial management/drawdown issues,
v. history of low occupancy levels, or lack experience in administering the
project type, or 
vi. other capacity issues.

(d) the projects have the same recipient and are for the same component. 

46



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 43 of 128 

(2) YHDP Renewal projects that wish to consolidate may establish a single YHDP 
Replacement grant to replace multiple YHDP Renewal grants. 
(3) The following projects cannot be consolidated and if a project application meeting 
these characteristics attempts to consolidate, HUD will not consider the consolidation, 
but rather select the projects individually provided they pass project eligibility and 
project quality threshold requirements: 

(a) a DV Renewal project cannot consolidate with a CoC Renewal project (a 
project not dedicated to serving individuals and families who meet the eligibility 
criteria in Section III.G.10.(c) of this NOFO, including a project originally funded 
under the Special NOFO Competition, and a YHDP Renewal project), or a project 
originally funded under the Special CoC NOFO Competition; 
(b) a YHDP Renewal project cannot consolidate with a CoC Renewal project 
(including those projects originally funded under the Special CoC NOFO 
Competition) or a DV Renewal project; 
(c) a project originally funded under the Special CoC NOFO Competition through 
the Rural Set Aside cannot consolidate with any other type of project (e.g., a 
project originally funded with DV Bonus or a project originally funded through the 
Unsheltered Set Aside in the Special NOFO Competition) except another project 
originally funded through the Rural Set Aside. This means, a project originally 
funded under the Special NOFO through the Rural Set Aside can only consolidate 
with another Special CoC NOFO Competition project originally funded through the 
Rural Set Aside; 
(d) a TH and a PH project cannot consolidate to form a Joint TH/PH-RRH 
component project; 
(e) transition grants cannot consolidate with any other project; and 
(f) recipients cannot apply to consolidate projects and apply to expand the 
consolidated project during the same funding year. If an applicant applies to 
expand projects that are involved in a consolidation of grants, HUD may consider 
the expansion project for funding if it meets all the requirements of a new 
standalone project. 

(4) To request the consolidation of eligible renewal projects, project applicants must 
submit renewal projects for the individual projects to be included in the consolidation 
and each project application must identify the grant number that will survive which 
must be the grant number with the earliest start date CY 2026. Project applications for 
the grants that are proposed to be part of the consolidation must be ranked with a 
unique rank number for each project, and if all those grants are selected, HUD will 
conditionally award the single surviving grant based on its ranked position to include 
the amount of funding of all grants included in the consolidation. All other project 
applications included in the surviving grant will be removed from the CoC’s ranking 
resulting in project applications below to slide up one ranked position. Project 
applicants must not submit a consolidated project application that contains two 
different components (e.g., PH and TH). 

47



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 44 of 128 

(5) The start date for the consolidated grant, if conditionally awarded, will be the day 
after the expiration date of the eligible renewal project with the earliest expiration date. 
HUD will calculate the expiration date for the consolidated grant by averaging the 
expiration dates for all expiring grants included in the consolidated grant weighted by 
the size of each expiring grant. If that date falls on the first through the fifteenth of a 
month, then the expiration date will be the last day of the previous month. If the date 
falls on the sixteenth through the end of the month, then the expiration date will be the 
last day of the month. 
(6) HUD will calculate the expiration date for the consolidated grant as follows: It will 
be ‘X’ months after the end of the 12th month after the start date for the consolidated 
grant with ‘X’ determined by calculating the sum for all grants of the total award times 
the number of months after the expiration of the first expiring grant that the grant 
expires and dividing that sum by the total award for the consolidated grant. If the 
calculation of ‘X’ results in a partial month, if it is less than 0.5, then the consolidated 
grant will expire on the last day of the previous month, and if it is 0.5 or more, then the 
consolidated grant will expire on the last day of the calculated month. 
(7) Collaborative Applicants designated by HUD as UFAs have more flexibility in how 
they manage their CoC Program-funded projects, making the consolidation of projects 
during the CoC Program competition unnecessary. A Collaborative Applicant with UFA 
designation can consolidate projects during the grant term, so long as the 
consolidations are not combining different component types and the projects are 
funded under the same grant (e.g., projects are currently funded under the same 
renewal grant). If a UFA-designated Collaborative Applicant consolidates projects 
during the grant term, it can apply to renew them during the CoC Program Competition 
as consolidated projects. 

l. Transition Grant. A Transition grant is an application to fund a new CoC project
through the reallocation process to transition an eligible CoC renewal project (including a 
Special NOFO project or DV Renewal project) from one program component to another 
eligible component over a 1-year period. The renewal project transitioning to a new 
component must be fully eliminated through reallocation. Transition grant applications 
awarded FY 2025 funds must fully transition to the new component by the end of the 1-
year grant term and may only apply for renewal in the next CoC Program Competition 
under the component to which it transitioned. 

(1) Renewal Grants expiring in CY 2026 may submit a FY 2025 transition grant 
application to request a component type change. The transition grant’s operating start 
date will be the day after the end of the previous grant term for the expiring 
component. For transition grants reallocated from more than one project, the operating 
start date of the transition grant will be the day after the end of the earliest expiring 
grant term. The grant term may be extended consistent with 2 CFR 200.308 and 2 
CFR 200.309. 
(2) Applicants wishing to apply for a transition grant must have the consent of its 
Continuum of Care; and the new project application must meet project eligibility and 
project quality thresholds established by HUD in sections V.A.4.a and V.A.4.b of this 
NOFO. If the project application identifies the project as a transition grant and the CoC 

48



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 45 of 128 

accepts the new transition grant project on the New Project Application Project Listing 
in the CoC Priority Listing, HUD will consider this as CoC consent. 
(3) For a new project to be considered a transition grant, the new project applicant 
must be the recipient listed on the current grant agreement for the eligible renewal 
grant(s) being eliminated and must include the grant number(s) of the project(s) being 
eliminated to create the new project and attach a copy of the most recently awarded 
project application. For example, expiring FY 2024 grants applying to transition to a 
new component during the FY 2025 funding process will attach a copy of the FY 2024 
CoC Program Competition project application. 
(4) Transition Grant Restrictions: 

(a) YHDP Renewal grants are not eligible to use the transition grant process. 
YHDP Renewal grants must submit a YHDP Replacement application to change 
component types. 
(b) Grants with DV Renewal funding are not eligible to use the transition grant 
process. 

If HUD determines a new project submitted as a transition grant does not qualify, but 
meets all other new project requirements, HUD may award the project as a new non-
transition grant project. If this occurs, the new project operating start date will be 
reflected in the grant agreement. 

2. Renewal Project Requirements.
As set forth in 24 CFR 578.33, projects may renew under the CoC Program NOFO to 
continue ongoing leasing, operating, supportive services, rental assistance, HMIS, and 
project administrative costs. 
Awards HUD made under the CoC Program (including projects awarded 1-year of funding 
under the FY 2024 CoC Program funding opportunity), projects originally awarded under the 
Special NOFO, and YHDP projects are eligible for renewal with FY 2025 CoC Program funds 
if they are currently operating and have an expiration date in CY 2026 (the period from 
January 1, 2026, through December 31, 2026). 

a. Renewal project applications must be submitted by the same recipient that signed the
executed grant agreement for the grant being renewed, or entity that became the recipient 
through a grant agreement transfer amendment. To be eligible as a renewal project, the 
application must (1) be for the same amount of funding before any adjustments described 
in this NOFO (e.g. FMR adjustments), or the amount reduced due to reallocation ; (2) be 
for the same program component; and (3) in the case of DV Renewal projects and YHDP 
Renewal projects, must continue to serve the same subpopulation. 
b. If HUD conditionally selects a renewal grant for funding that does not have an
expiration date that meets the renewal eligibility requirements prescribed by this NOFO, 
HUD will withdraw any funds conditionally selected for award. 
c. Projects that were eligible under predecessor programs, specifically Safe Haven
projects, will continue to be eligible under the CoC Program and will continue to be eligible 
for renewal of leasing, operating, supportive services, rental assistance, HMIS, and 

49



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 46 of 128 

project administrative costs under 24 CFR 578.33(d)(1) so long as the project continues to 
serve the same population and the same number of program participants or units in the 
same type of housing as identified in their most recent grant agreement, amended grant 
agreement, signed before August 31, 2012. No new Safe Haven projects will be funded; 
however, existing Safe Haven projects may be renewed to continue to carry out activities 
that are eligible costs under Subpart D of the Rule. 
d. The total request for each renewing project, including YHDP Renewal and YHDP
Replacement projects, is limited to a project’s ARA. Additionally, where two or more 
eligible projects are being consolidated through the project application, the total ARA of 
the consolidation project must be equal to or less than the sum of the original ARA of the 
renewal projects before consolidation. Because funds for acquisition, new construction, 
and rehabilitation are not renewable, grants being renewed whose original expiring award 
included acquisition, new construction, and rehabilitation funds may only renew leasing, 
supportive services, rental assistance, operating, and HMIS costs and must not exceed 
10 percent in administrative costs. 
e. HUD will recapture grant funds remaining unspent at the end of the previous grant
period when it renews a grant. 
f. HUD encourages the consolidation of eligible renewal grants as provided in Section
IV.D.1.k of this NOFO. This does not apply to CoCs that HUD designates as UFAs,
because UFAs enter into a single renewal grant agreement with HUD for the CoC’s entire 
geographic area. If applicable, HUD issues a separate UFA grant agreement that only 
includes YHDP grants. 
g. Subject to HUD approval and the terms of the NOFO, the following requests may be
included in a renewal application: 

(1) CoC renewal project applications (including DV Renewal projects and projects 
originally funded under the Special NOFO) may include non-significant changes 
including shifting up to 10 percent of funds from one approved eligible activity to 
another. 
(2) YHDP Renewal project applications from any round may include non-significant 
changes including adding select Special YHDP Activities in section IV.B.2 and shifting 
up to 10 percent of funds from one approved eligible activity to another. 
(3) Renewal applications that include requests to shift more than 10 percent of funds 
from one approved eligible activity to another and other significant changes as defined 
at 24 CFR 578.105 will not be considered during the CoC Program Competition by 
HUD. If an application includes a budget shift that exceeds 10 percent, HUD will 
correct the project budget to reflect the previously awarded budget amounts. 
Applicants seeking to make significant changes to their grant, such as shifting more 
than 10 percent of funds from an approved eligible activity, should contact their Field 
Office and request a grant agreement amendment. 
(4) CoC renewal project applicants may also apply to transition an eligible renewal 
project from one program component to another eligible new component through 
reallocation and use those funds to create a single, new transition grant (see section 

50



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 47 of 128 

IV.D.1.l of this NOFO). YHDP Renewal project applicants are not permitted to utilize
the transition grant application process. YHDP applicants must submit a YHDP 
Replacement application to change program components. 
(5) YHDP Replacement projects cannot request capital costs (i.e., new construction, 
acquisition, or rehabilitation). 

h. Actual Per Unit Cost – Renewal Grants. Applicants requesting renewal of grants for
rental assistance may request a per-unit amount less than the Fair Market Rent (FMR) if 
the actual rent per unit under lease is less than the FMR. This will help reduce the number 
of projects receiving rental assistance that have large balances of unspent funds 
remaining at the end of the operating year. Renewal project applicants must ensure the 
amount requested will be sufficient to cover all eligible costs as HUD cannot provide funds 
beyond the amount awarded through the FY 2025 CoC Program funding process. Project 
applications for rental assistance cannot request more than 100 percent of the published 
FMR. New project applications must adhere to 24 CFR 578.51(f) and must request the full 
FMR amount per unit. See section V.D.5.a of this NOFO for additional information 
regarding FMR adjustments for projects receiving funds for rental assistance. 
i. Renewal Project Grant Terms. Renewal project applications are limited to a 1-year
grant term with 1 year of funding. HUD may extend the grant term consistent with 2 CFR 
200.308 and 2 CFR 200.309. 
Any renewal PH project that receives project-based rental assistance or operating costs 
may request up to a 15-year grant term; however, project applicants may only request 1 
year of funding. HUD may extend the grant term consistent with 2 CFR 200.308 and 2 
CFR 200.309. Project applicants must apply for the additional funds as a renewal project 
application prior to the anniversary of the first expenditure of grant funds by which date 
grant funds should have been expended; or, if HUD extends the date that funds must be 
expended, the date the extension expires. HUD does not guarantee CoC Program funds 
past the 1 year of renewal funding. 

3. New Project Requirements.
CoCs are encouraged to submit new projects created through CoC Bonus, DV Bonus, CoC 
Reallocation, DV Reallocation or YHDP Replacement including YHDP Reallocation. A CoC 
designated Collaborative Applicant may submit a new CoC Planning project application, and 
if applicable, a UFA Costs project application in FY 2025. 
To expend funds within statutorily required deadlines, applicants funded for sponsor-based 
and project-based rental assistance must execute the grant agreement and begin providing 
rental assistance within 2 years. However, HUD strongly encourages all rental assistance to 
begin within 12 months of award. Applicants that are unable to begin rental assistance within 
the 12-month period should consult with the local HUD CPD field office. 

a. HUD will review project subrecipient eligibility as part of the project quality threshold
review process. Project applicants must submit documentation of the subrecipient’s 
eligibility with the project application. 
b. Any youth-serving provider funded under this NOFO may serve unaccompanied youth
aged 24 and under (or families headed by youth aged 24 and under, including pregnant or 

51



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 48 of 128 

parenting youth) who have an unsafe primary nighttime residence and no safe alternative 
to that residence. 
c. Per the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2024, to receive funding for a new CoC
project, except those created through reallocation, HUD must determine the CoC has 
demonstrated that projects are evaluated and ranked based on the degree to which they 
improve the CoC’s system performance (See more information on System Performance in 
sections III.B.6 and V.B.1.a.(1) of this NOFO). 
d. New Project Grant Terms. The initial grant term for new project applications may be
1-year, 2-years, 3-years, 4-years, 5-years, or 15-years. HUD may extend the grant 
consistent with 2 CFR 200.308 and 2 CFR 200.309. The following exceptions apply: 

(1) HUD will allow new projects to request 1 year of funding with a longer initial grant 
term not to exceed 18 months. HUD has determined that most new projects 
requesting 1 year of funding normally take approximately 3 to 6 months to begin fully 
operating the new project (e.g., hiring staff, developing partnerships with landowners if 
leasing or renting). Therefore, a new project requesting 1 year of funding may request 
a grant term of 12 months to 18 months that will allow for the additional start-up 
process. Any new projects requesting capital costs (i.e., new construction, acquisition, 
or rehabilitation) are not eligible for 1-year funding requests. See (7) below for more 
information on new projects requesting capital costs. Transition grant applications 
cannot request 18-month grant terms. 
(2) Any new expansion project submitted to expand an eligible renewal CoC Program-
funded project may only request a 1-year grant term, regardless of the project type. 
(3) Any new project that requests tenant-based rental assistance may request a 1-
year, 2-year, 3-year, 4-year, or 5-year grant term. 
(4) Any new project that requests leasing costs - either leasing costs only or leasing 
costs plus other costs (e.g., supportive services, HMIS) - may request up to a 3-year 
grant term. 
(5) The first year of funding for YHDP Replacement projects will be based on the 1-
year renewal amount of the current YHDP project being replaced. The YHDP 
Replacement project’s operating start date will be the day after the end of the previous 
grant term for the project being replaced. 
(6) Any new project that requests project-based rental assistance or sponsor-based 
rental assistance, or operating costs may request up to a 15-year grant term; however, 
the project applicant may only request up to 5 years of funds. Funding for the 
remainder of the term is subject to availability. Applicants must apply for additional 
funds through a renewal project application in the competition held in the calendar 
year prior to the anniversary of the first expenditure of grant funds, or if HUD has 
extended the grant term, the date the extension expires. HUD does not guarantee 
CoC Program funds past the initial 5-year grant term, if conditionally awarded. 
(7) Any new project that requests operating costs, supportive services only, HMIS, and 
project administrative costs may request 1-year, 2-year, 3-year, 4-year, or 5-year grant 
terms with funding for the same number of years. 

52



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

IV. Application Contents and Format FR-6900-N-25 Page 49 of 128 

(8) Any new project conditionally selected by HUD that requests new construction, 
acquisition, or rehabilitation costs (capital costs) must request a minimum of a 3-year 
grant term and may request up to a 5-year grant term. Any new projects requesting 
capital costs are not eligible for 1-year funding requests. If a new project requests 1 
year of funding with capital costs, HUD will increase the grant term to 3-years and the 
new project must spend the funds requested over a 3-year period. 
If an applicant requests funds for new construction, acquisition, or rehabilitation in 
addition to requesting funds for operating, supportive services, or HMIS, the funding 
will be for the 3-years to 5-years requested, and the grant term will be 3-years to 5-
years plus the time necessary to acquire the property, complete construction, and 
begin operating the project. HUD will require recordation of a HUD-approved use and 
repayment covenant before funds can be drawn down (the form can be obtained from 
the local HUD CPD field office) for all grants of funds for new construction, acquisition, 
and rehabilitation. (24 CFR 578.81) HUD Field Office Counsel must approve the use 
and repayment covenants in advance of their being recorded, and proof of recording 
must be submitted to HUD Field Office Counsel before HUD will release grant funds, 
other than acquisition funds. 
(9) All new CoC Planning or UFA Costs project applications are limited to 1-year grant 
terms and 1 year of funding. 

(a) The maximum amount for one year of funding to spend on administrative costs 
associated with the CoC planning activities listed at 24 CFR 578.39 is 5 percent of 
FPRN, up to a maximum of $1,500,000, or $50,000 whichever is greater. 
(b) The maximum amount for one year of funding to spend on administrative costs 
associated with the UFA costs described at 42 USC 11360(g) is up to 3 percent of 
FPRN or $1,250,000 per fiscal year; whichever is less. 
(c) CoC Planning and UFA Costs grants are not renewable. 

(10) Any new project that is requesting consideration under the DV Bonus or DV 
Reallocation process may only request 1 year of funding, but may request a longer 
initial grant term not to exceed 18 months regardless of project application component 
type. 

53



V. APPLICATION REVIEW 
INFORMATION 

V. Application Review Information 

A. Threshold Review 

B. Merit Review 

C. Risk Review 

D. Selection Process 

E. Award Notices 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

54



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 51 of 128 

V. APPLICATION REVIEW INFORMATION 
A. Threshold Review 
HUD reviews each application to make sure it meets the following threshold requirements. If 
you meet all threshold requirements, your application will advance to a merit review. If you fail 
to meet one or more threshold requirements, your application is not eligible for HUD funding.  

1. Eligible Applicant
You must meet the applicant eligibility criteria in this NOFO. Applications from ineligible 
applicants are not rated or ranked and will not receive HUD funding. 

a. Eligible Project Applicants (McKinney-Vento Act, 24 CFR 578.15, 24 CFR 5.100). 
Eligible project applicants for the CoC Program Competition are found at 24 CFR 578.15 
and in the Act and include nonprofit organizations, states, local governments, 
instrumentalities of state and local governments, Indian Tribes and TDHE [as defined in 
section 4 of the Native American Housing Assistance and Self-Determination Act of 1996 
(25 U.S.C. 4103) (TDHEs)]. Public housing agencies, as such term is defined in 24 CFR 
5.100, are eligible without limitation or exclusion. For-profit entities are ineligible to apply 
for grants and are prohibited from being subrecipients of CoC Program grant funds. 
b. Collaborative Applicants. Only CoCs with a valid FY 2025 e-snaps registration will
have access to the FY 2025 CoC Program and YHDP Funding Opportunity in e-snaps, 
which includes the Consolidated Application (i.e., the CoC Application, the CoC Priority 
Listing and the project application(s). CoCs should not attempt to change Collaborative 
Applicants during the FY 2025 CoC Program and YHDP Funding Opportunity without prior 
HUD approval unless HUD replaces the CoC's designated Collaborative Applicant under 
the authority of Section 402(c) of the Act. HUD will approve Collaborative Applicant 
changes outside the annual CoC Program Registration process under the following 
circumstances: 

• the Collaborative Applicant made an error when entering the Collaborative Applicant
name in the CoC Applicant Profile; 
• the CoC-designated Collaborative Applicant is no longer in business;
• the CoC designates a new Collaborative Applicant; or
• HUD designated a new Collaborative Applicant as a remedial action under Section
402(c) of the Act. 

In cases where the CoC changes its designated Collaborative Applicant during the CoC 
Program Registration process, the CoC must notify the local HUD CPD field office, in 
writing, stating the reason for the Collaborative Applicant change. The notice to HUD must 
provide documentation of the CoC's approval of the change (e.g., a copy of the meeting 
minutes to include the date and attendees). 
c. Indian Tribes and Tribally Designated Housing Entities (TDHE). The Consolidated
Appropriations Act, 2021 (Public Law 116-260, approved December 27, 2020) amended 
Title IV to add Section 435 of the Act to allow Indian Tribes and Tribally Designated 
Housing Entities (TDHE) to be Collaborative Applicants, eligible entities, or subrecipients 
of the CoC Program in addition to amending Title IV Section 401 to add the terms 

55



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 52 of 128 

“Formula Area” and “Indian Tribe.” These amendments mean that not only may Tribes 
and TDHEs apply for grants through other CoCs, but that formula areas, as that term is 
defined in the Indian Housing Block Grant program at 24 CFR 1000.302, are eligible to be 
added to the geographic areas of existing CoCs or may be included in newly formed 
CoCs through the CoC registration process (see Notice CPD-22-02). 
Indian Tribes and TDHEs may: 

(1) create a CoC; 
(2) be a Collaborative Applicant; 
(3) be an eligible project applicant; or 
(4) receive grant amounts from another entity that receives a grant directly from HUD 
(i.e. be a CoC grant subrecipient). 

However, under 42 U.S.C. 11383(g) only States, Units of General Local Government, 
nonprofit organizations, and Public Housing Agencies may administer permanent housing 
rental assistance. 

d. Solo Applicants. Eligible project applicants that attempted to participate in the CoC
planning process in the geographic area in which they operate that believe they were denied 
the right to participate in a reasonable manner, may submit a solo project application to HUD 
by following the procedure found in 24 CFR 578.35. If HUD finds in favor of the solo 
applicant, HUD may award grant funds. Solo applicants requesting FY 2025 funding must 
submit their solo project application in e-snaps to HUD by 8:00 PM EST, on January 14, 
2026. See section VIII.D.4 of this NOFO for additional information regarding the Solo 
Applicant appeal process. 

2. Resolution of Civil Rights Matters
Applicants with outstanding, unresolved judgments against them for violations of civil rights 
laws must resolve those judgments before the application submission deadline or the 
applicant will be deemed ineligible. 
a. An applicant is ineligible for funding if the applicant has received notice of a judgment
imposed against them for violations of: 

1. the Fair Housing Act or a substantially equivalent state or local fair housing law for
discrimination because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, disability or familial
status; or

2. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973,
Section 109 of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, the Americans
with Disabilities Act, or the Violence Against Women Act or substantially equivalent
state or local laws.

b. HUD will determine if actions to resolve the judgment taken before the application deadline
date will resolve the matter. Examples of actions that may be sufficient to resolve the matter 
include, but are not limited to: 

1. Current compliance with a voluntary compliance agreement signed by all the parties;
2. Current compliance with a HUD-approved conciliation agreement signed by all the

parties;

56



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 53 of 128 

3. Current compliance with a conciliation agreement signed by all the parties and
approved by the state governmental or local administrative agency with jurisdiction
over the matter;

4. Current compliance with a consent order or consent decree; or
5. Current compliance with a final judicial ruling or administrative ruling or decision.

3. Timely Submission of Applications
Late applications are not eligible for funding. See deadlines in Section VI of this NOFO. 
Applicants should review and follow the steps outlined below to ensure applications are 
complete and submitted by the deadlines established in this NOFO. Documents referenced in 
this section can be found on the CoC Program page of HUD's website: 
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/coc. 
4. Threshold Criteria.
Applicants who fail to meet the following threshold eligibility requirements are ineligible. 

a. Project Eligibility Threshold. HUD will review all projects to determine if they meet
the following project eligibility threshold requirements on a pass/fail standard. If HUD 
determines the applicable standards are not met for a project, HUD will reject the project. 
HUD will consider any project requesting renewal funding as having met these 
requirements through its previously approved grant application unless HUD receives 
information to the contrary (e.g., monitoring findings, results from investigations by HUD's 
Office of Inspector General, the recipient routinely does not draw down funds from 
eLOCCS at least once per quarter, consistently late Annual Performance Report (APR) 
submissions). Approval of new and renewal projects is not a determination by HUD that a 
recipient is compliant with applicable fair housing and civil rights requirements. 

(1) Project applicants and potential subrecipients must meet the eligibility 
requirements of the CoC Program as described in the Act and the Rule and provide 
evidence of eligibility required in the application (e.g., nonprofit documentation). 
(2) Project applicants and subrecipients must demonstrate the financial and 
management capacity and experience to carry out the project as detailed in the project 
application and the capacity to administer federal funds. Demonstrating capacity may 
include a description of the applicant and subrecipient experience with similar projects 
and with successful administration of SHP, S+C, or CoC Program funds or other 
federal, state, local, or private resources. 
(3) Project applicants must submit the required certifications specified in this NOFO. 
(4) The population to be served must meet program eligibility requirements as 
described in the Act, the Rule, and section III.G.10 of this NOFO. 
(5) Project applicants, except Collaborative Applicants that only receive awards for 
CoC Planning costs and, if applicable, UFA Costs, must agree to participate in a local 
HMIS system. However, in accordance with Section 407 of the Act, any victim service 
provider that is a recipient or subrecipient must not disclose, for purposes of HMIS, 
any personally identifying information about any client. Victim service providers must 

57

https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/coc


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 54 of 128 

use a comparable database that meets the needs of the local HMIS. 
(6) Project applicants must certify affirmatively to the following: 

The project applicant will not engage in racial 
preferences or other forms of illegal 
discrimination. 

The project applicant will not operate drug 
injection sites or “safe consumption sites,” 
knowingly distribute drug paraphernalia on or 
off of property under their control, permit the 
use or distribution of illicit drugs on property 
under their control, or conduct any of these 
activities under the pretext of “harm 
reduction.” 

b. Project Quality Threshold. HUD will review all new project applications to determine if
they meet the following project quality threshold requirements HUD will not award funds to 
a new project unless the project was created through reallocation, or the CoC has 
demonstrated to HUD’s satisfaction that projects are evaluated and ranked based on the 
degree to which they improve the CoC's system performance. 

(1) HUD will consider any project requesting renewal funding, including renewing 
YHDP and renewing Special NOFO projects, as having met project quality threshold 
requirements through its previously approved grant application unless HUD receives 
information to the contrary or if the renewal project has compliance issues which 
results in the project not operating in accordance with the Rule. 
(2) HUD will consider YHDP Replacement project applications including applications 
for new YHDP projects created through YHDP reallocation as having met project 
quality threshold requirements if the project application activities and costs are eligible 
under this NOFO. If a YHDP Replacement (including YHDP Reallocation) project 
application is not for activities and costs that are eligible under this NOFO, HUD will 
not reject the project under this project quality threshold, but HUD will require the 
project applicant to correct or revise information submitted after the final CoC Program 
award announcement but before executing the grant agreement. 
(3) HUD will review the UFA Costs submitted by the UFA designated Collaborative 
Applicant to ensure appropriate match and eligibility of costs requested. 
(4) HUD will assess all new project applications for the following minimum project 
eligibility, capacity, timeliness, and performance standards. 

(a) project applicants must have satisfactory capacity, drawdowns, and 
performance for existing grant(s) funded under the CoC Program, as evidenced by 
timely reimbursement of subrecipients, regular drawdowns, and timely resolution of 
any monitoring findings; however, this does not apply to project applicants who 
have never received a CoC Program funded project; 

58



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 55 of 128 

(b) for expansion project applications, project applicants must describe the part of 
the project that is being expanded and demonstrate the project is not replacing 
other funding sources; and 
(c) project applicants must demonstrate their ability to meet all timeliness 
standards per 24 CFR 578.85. HUD reserves the right to deny a funding request 
for a new project, if the request is made by an existing recipient that HUD finds to 
have significant issues related to capacity, performance, unresolved audit, or 
monitoring findings related to one or more existing grants; or does not routinely 
draw down funds from eLOCCS at least once per quarter. HUD also reserves the 
right to withdraw funds if no APR is submitted on the prior grant. 

(5) HUD reserves the right to verify past performance and evaluate the eligibility of a 
project application submitted during the CoC Program Competition for the following 
reasons: 

(a) evidence that the project has previously or currently conducts activities that 
subsidize or facilitate racial preferences or other forms of illegal discrimination or 
conduct activities that rely on or otherwise use a definition of sex other than as 
binary in humans. 
(b) evidence that the project operates drug injection sites or “safe consumption 
sites,” knowingly distributes drug paraphernalia on or off of property under their 
control, permits the use or distribution of illicit drugs on property under their control, 
or conducts any of these activities under the pretext of “harm reduction.” 

(6) Additionally, for HUD to consider new projects as meeting project quality threshold, 
each new project must meet the following criteria as applicable. If awarded, a recipient 
must meet all the criteria listed in the criteria column for its component. 

(a) Transitional Housing (TH) 

New Project Application 
Rating Factors 

Points Available Criteria 

2 

Demonstrate that the project 
will provide and/or partner with 
other organizations to provide 
eligible supportive services 
that are necessary to assist 
program participants to obtain 
and maintain housing. 

New Transitional Housing 
projects must receive at least 
7 out of 10 points available for 
this project type. New TH 
projects that do not receive at 
least 7 points will be rejected. 

1 

The applicant has prior 
experience operating 
transitional housing or other 
projects that have successfully 
helped homeless individuals 

59



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 56 of 128 

and families exit 
homelessness within 24 
months. 

1 

The applicant has previously 
operated or currently operates 
transitional housing or another 
homelessness project, or has 
a plan in place to ensure, that 
at least 50 percent of 
participants exit to permanent 
housing within 24 months and 
at least 50 percent of 
participants exit with 
employment income as 
reflected in HMIS or another 
data system used by the 
applicant. 

1 

The project will be 
supplemented with resources 
from other public or private 
sources, that may include 
mainstream health, social, and 
employment programs such 
as Medicare, Medicaid, SSI, 
and SNAP. 

2 

Demonstrate that the 
proposed project will require 
program participants to take 
part in supportive services 
(e.g. case management, 
employment training, 
substance use treatment, etc) 
in line with 24 CFR 578.75(h) 
by attaching a supportive 
service agreement (contract, 
occupancy agreement, lease, 
or equivalent). 

2 
Demonstrate that the 
proposed project will provide 
40 hours per week of 
customized services for each 

60



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 57 of 128 

participant (e.g. case 
management, employment 
training, substance use 
treatment, etc.). 
The 40 hours per week may 
be reduced proportionately for 
participants who are 
employed. 
The 40 hours per week does 
not apply to participants over 
age 62 or who have a physical 
disability/impairment or a 
developmental disability (24 
CFR 582.5) not including 
substance use disorder. 

1 

Demonstrate the average cost 
per household served for the 
project is reasonable, 
consistent with 2 CFR 
200.404. 

(b) Supportive Services Only (SSO) Standalone 

New Project Application 
Rating Factors 

Points Available Criteria 

1 

The Supportive Services 
project is necessary to assist 
people in exiting 
homelessness and increasing 
self-sufficiency and the 
Recipient will conduct an 
annual assessment of the 
service needs of the program 
participants. 

New SSO – Standalone 
project applications must 
receive at least 4 out of the 5 
points available for this project 
type. New SSO standalone 
projects that do not receive at 
least 4 points will be rejected. 

2 

The proposed project has a 
strategy for providing 
supportive services to eligible 
program participants including 
those with histories of 
unsheltered homelessness 
and those who do not 

61



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 58 of 128 

traditionally engage with 
supportive services. 

1 

The project will be 
supplemented with resources 
from other public or private 
sources, that may include 
mainstream health, social, and 
employment programs such 
as Medicare, Medicaid, SSI, 
and SNAP. 

1 
The services provided are 
cost-effective consistent with 2 
CFR 200.404. 

(c) Supportive Services Only (SSO) Street Outreach 

New Project Application 
Rating Factors 

Points Available Criteria 

1 

The project will be 
supplemented with resources 
from other public or private 
sources, that may include 
mainstream health, social, and 
employment programs such 
as Medicare, Medicaid, SSI, 
and SNAP. 

2 

The proposed project has a 
strategy for providing 
supportive services to eligible 
program participants including 
those with histories of 
unsheltered homelessness 
and those who do not 
traditionally engage with 
supportive services. 

New SSO project applications 
that focus on street outreach 
and indicate so in their project 
application must receive at 
least 5 out of the 6 points 
available for this project type. 
Projects that do not receive at 
least 5 points will be rejected. 

1 

Demonstrate that the 
applicant has a history of 
partnering with first 
responders and law 
enforcement to engage people 

62



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 59 of 128 

living in places not meant for 
human habitation to access 
emergency shelter, treatment 
programs, reunification with 
family, transitional housing or 
independent living. The 
applicant must cooperate, 
assist, and not interfere or 
impede with law enforcement 
to enforce local laws such as 
public camping and public 
drug use laws. 

1 

The applicant has experience 
providing outreach services 
consistent with the activity 
description at 24 CFR 
578.53(e)(13) and has 
demonstrated effectiveness at 
helping people successfully 
exit from places not meant for 
human habitation to 
emergency shelter, treatment 
programs, transitional housing 
or permanent housing 
programs. 

1 
The services provided are 
cost-effective consistent with 2 
CFR 200.404. 

(d) SSO-Coordinated Entry (SSO-CE) 

New Project Application 
Rating Factors Points Available Criteria 

New SSO-CE project 
applications (also known as 
centralized or coordinated 
assessment) must receive at 
least 3 out of the 4 points 
available for this project type. 
New SSO-CE projects that do 
not receive at least 3 points 

1 

The Coordinated Entry system 
is easily available and 
reachable for all persons 
within the CoC’s geographic 
area who are seeking 
homelessness assistance. 
The system must also be 
accessible for persons with 
disabilities within the CoC’s 

63



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 60 of 128 

geographic area. 

1 

There is a strategy for 
advertising that is designed 
specifically to reach 
households experiencing 
homelessness with the 
highest needs. 

1 There is a standardized 
assessment process. 

will be rejected. 

1 

The project will ensure 
program participants are 
directed to appropriate 
housing and services that fit 
their needs. 

(e) Permanent Housing: Permanent Supportive Housing (PH-PSH) 

New Project Application 
Rating Factors Points Available Criteria 

1 

The type of housing proposed, 
including the number and 
configuration of units, will fit 
the needs of the program 
participants. 

New Permanent Housing 
projects must receive at least 
4 out of the 6 points available 
for this project type. New 
Permanent Housing projects 
that do not receive at least 4 
points will be rejected. 

1 

The type of supportive 
services and assistance that 
will be offered to program 
participants will ensure that 
the participant is able to 
successfully obtain and retain 
permanent housing and in a 
manner that fits their needs 
(e.g. transportation, safety 
planning, enhanced case 
management). If the applicant 
is proposing to expand an 
existing PH project, it must 
demonstrate how they are 
expanding supportive services 
to program participants, 

64



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 61 of 128 

including where appropriate, 
on-site supportive services. 

1 

The project will be designed to 
serve elderly individuals 
and/or individuals with a 
physical disability/impairment 
or a developmental disability 
(24 CFR 582.5) not including 
substance use disorder. The 
units will prioritize these 
populations. 

1 

Demonstrate that the 
proposed project will require 
program participants to take 
part in supportive services 
(e.g. case management, life 
skills, substance use 
treatment) in line with 24 CFR 
578.75(h) by attaching a 
supportive service agreement 
(contract, occupancy 
agreement, lease, or 
equivalent). 

1 

The average cost per 
household served is 
reasonable, consistent with 2 
CFR 200.404, meaning that 
the costs for housing and 
services provided by the 
project are consistent with the 
population the project plans to 
serve. 

1 

The project will be 
supplemented with resources 
from other public or private 
sources, that may include 
mainstream health, social, and 
employment programs such 
as Medicare, Medicaid, SSI, 
and SNAP.  

65



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 62 of 128 

(e) Permanent Housing: Rapid Rehousing (PH-RRH) 

New Project Application 
Rating Factors Points Available Criteria 

1 

The provision of tenant-based 
rental assistance will help 
individuals and families 
achieve self-sufficiency within 
3 months or up to 24 months. 

2 

The type of supportive 
services and assistance that 
will be offered to program 
participants (e.g., case 
management, substance use 
treatment, mental health 
treatment, and employment 
assistance) will ensure that 
the participant is able to 
successfully obtain self-
sufficiency and exit 
homelessness. 

2 

The applicant has previously 
operated homelessness 
projects where outcomes for 
employment income were 
improved compared to the 
average project in the CoC. 

New Permanent Housing 
projects must receive at least 
6 out of the 8 points available 
for this project type. New 
Permanent Housing projects 
that do not receive at least 4 
points will be rejected. 

1 

Demonstrate that the 
proposed project will require 
program participants to take 
part in supportive services 
(e.g. case management, 
employment training, 
substance use treatment) in 
line with 24 CFR 578.75(h) by 
attaching a supportive service 
agreement (contract, 
occupancy agreement, lease, 
or equivalent). 

66



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 63 of 128 

1 

The average cost per 
household served is 
reasonable, consistent with 2 
CFR 200.404, meaning that 
the costs for housing and 
services provided by the 
project are consistent with the 
population the project plans to 
serve. 

1 

The project will be 
supplemented with resources 
from other public or private 
sources, that may include 
mainstream health, social, and 
employment programs such 
as Medicare, Medicaid, SSI, 
and SNAP. 

(g) Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) 

New Project Application 
Rating Factors 

Points Available Criteria 

1 

How the HMIS funds will be 
expended in a way that 
furthers the CoC’s HMIS 
implementation and ability to 
use HMIS as a proactive case 
management tool to promote 
treatment and recovery. 

1 

The HMIS collects all 
Universal Data Elements as 
set forth in the HMIS Data 
Standards. 

1 The ability of the HMIS to un-
duplicate client records. 

New HMIS project 
applications must receive at 
least 3 out of the 4 points 
available for this project type. 
New HMIS projects that do not 
receive at least 3 points will be 
rejected. 

1 

The HMIS produces all HUD-
required reports and provides 
data as needed for HUD 
reporting (e.g., APR, quarterly 
reports, data for CAPER/ESG 

67



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 64 of 128 

reporting) and other reports 
required by other federal 
partners. 

(h) CoC Planning – Collaborative Applicants Only 

New Project Application 
Rating Factors 

Points Available Criteria 

1 

Governance and Operations-
The CoC conducts meetings 
of the entire CoC membership 
that are inclusive and open to 
members and demonstrates 
the CoC has a written 
governance charter in place 
that includes CoC policies. 

1 

CoC Committees-The CoC 
has CoC-wide planning 
committees, subcommittees, 
or workgroups to address the 
needs of persons 
experiencing homelessness in 
the CoC’s geographic area 
that recommends and sets 
policy priorities for the CoC. 

2 

The proposed planning project 
that will be carried out by the 
CoC with Planning grant funds 
are compliant with the 
provisions of 24 CFR 578.7. 

New CoC Planning projects, 
submitted only by the CoC’s 
designated Collaborative 
Applicant, must receive at 
least 3 out of the 5 points 
available for this project type. 
CoC Planning projects that do 
not receive at least 3 points 
will be rejected. 

1 

The funds requested will 
improve the CoC’s ability to 
evaluate the outcome of both 
CoC Program-funded and 
ESG-funded projects. 

c. Project Renewal Threshold. CoCs must consider the need to continue funding for
projects expiring in CY 2026 (January 1, 2026 to December 31, 2026) when applying for 
FY 2025 CoC and YHDP funding. Renewal projects must meet the minimum project 
eligibility, capacity, timeliness, and performance standards identified in this NOFO or they 
will be rejected from consideration for funding: 

68



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 65 of 128 

(1) When considering renewal projects for award; HUD will review information in 
eLOCCS, APRs, and information provided from the local HUD CPD field office; 
including monitoring reports and audit reports as applicable, and performance 
standards on prior grants, and will assess projects using the following criteria on a 
pass/fail basis: 

(a) whether the project applicant’s performance met the plans and goals 
established in the initial application, or grant as amended; 
(b) whether the project applicant demonstrated all timeliness standards for grants 
being renewed have been met, including those standards for the expenditure of 
grant funds; 
(c) the project applicant’s performance in assisting program participants to achieve 
and maintain self-sufficiency and independent living and records of success, 
except dedicated HMIS projects are not required to meet this standard; and 
(d) evidence of unwillingness of project applicants to accept technical assistance, a 
history of inadequate financial accounting practices, indications of project 
mismanagement, a drastic reduction in the population served, program changes 
have been made without prior HUD approval, or the loss of project site control. 

(2) HUD reserves the right to reduce or reject a project application submitted during 
the CoC Program Competition for the following reasons: 

(a) outstanding obligation to HUD that is in arrears or for which a payment 
schedule has not been agreed upon; 
(b) audit finding(s) for which a response is overdue or unsatisfactory; 
(c) history of inadequate financial management accounting practices; 
(d) evidence of untimely expenditures on prior award; 
(e) history of other major capacity issues that have significantly affected the 
operation of the project and its performance; 
(f) history of not reimbursing subrecipients for eligible costs in a timely manner, or 
at least quarterly; and 
(g) history of serving ineligible program participants, expending funds on ineligible 
costs, or failing to expend funds within statutorily established timeframes. 
(h) evidence that the project has previously or currently conducts activities that 
subsidize or facilitate racial preferences or other forms of illegal discrimination or 
conduct activities that rely on or otherwise use a definition of sex other than as 
binary in humans. 
(i) evidence that the project operates drug injection sites or “safe consumption 
sites,” knowingly distributes drug paraphernalia on or off of property under their 
control, permits the use or distribution of illicit drugs on property under their control, 
or conducts any of these activities under the pretext of “harm reduction.” 

69



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 66 of 128 

B. Merit Review 
HUD expects to evaluate and score your application using the following merit criteria and process. 
Merit reviewers evaluate and score all applications that pass the threshold review. Merit reviewers 
may include Federal and non-Federal persons. Reviewers receive a copy of your application to 
evaluate and score each application separately. 
Merit Review Summary 

Merit Review Summary 
Criterion Maximum number of points = 130 
a. Project Capacity, Review, and Ranking. 9 
b. System Performance. 40 
c. CoC Coordination and Engagement. 81  

Bonus Points 
CoC Merger Bonus (V.B.1.e) 15 
Policy Initiative Preference Points (V.B.2) 4 

1. Rating Factors
Your application must include a response to the following criteria.  
HUD will use all of the factors outlined in this section to establish the CoC’s score for the FY 
2025 CoC Program Competition. 
Rating Factors Details 

a. Project Capacity, Review, and Ranking. HUD will award up to 9 points to CoCs that
demonstrate the existence of a coordinated, inclusive, and outcome-oriented community 
process for the solicitation, objective review, ranking, and selection of project applications. 

Rating Factor Maximum Points To Receive Maximum 
Points 

(1) Objective Criteria and 
System Performance. 

6 

The CoC must attach the 
written process or tool it used 
to review, rate, and rank 
project applications for this 
NOFO. This written process or 
tool must: 
Demonstrate it used objective 
criteria (e.g., cost-
effectiveness, performance 
data, type of population 
served) to review, rate, and 
rank project applications and 
that these factors account for 
at least 50% of the total 
available points (up to 1 

70



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 67 of 128 

point). 
Demonstrate that at least 25% 
of the total points available 
account for the following: 

• Returns to
homelessness
performance measure
(up to 1 point);

• Employment income
performance measure
(up to 1 point); and

• Supportive service
participation
requirements (up to 3
points).

(2) Ranking and Selection 
Process. 

2 

The CoC must: 

• Invite new proposals
from entities that have
not previously received
funding;

• Prior to the application
deadline, post on their
website all parts of the
Consolidated
Application, and notify
community members
and key stakeholders.
CoCs that do not have
a website must post
this information to a
partner website within
the CoC (e.g., a city or
county website);

• Attach a listing of all
projects submitted to
HUD from their CoC’s
local competition that
includes all projects
their CoC considered
during their local
competition: (1) the

71



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 68 of 128 

final score, (2) project 
rank, (3) accepted or 
rejected status, (4) 
funding amounts, (5) 
reallocated funds 
added to or subtracted 
from projects listed; 
and 

• Notify project
applicants, in writing
outside of e-snaps, who 
submitted their project
applications to the CoC
by the CoC-established
deadline, whether their
project application(s)
will be accepted and
ranked, rejected, or
reduced on the CoC
Priority Listing no later
than 15 days before the
NOFO application
submission deadline,
and where a project
application is being
rejected or reduced, the 
CoC must indicate the
reason(s) for the
rejection or reduction.

(3) Reallocation.   

1 

The CoC must show: 

• Their CoC actively
reviews the
performance of existing
CoC Program funded
projects and have a
standard process for
reallocating funding
from lower performing
projects to create new
high performing
projects;

OR 

• They have cumulatively

72



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 69 of 128 

reallocated at least 20 
percent of their CoC’s 
ARD between the FY 
2021 and the FY 2025 
CoC Program 
Competitions. 

b. System Performance. HUD will award up to 40 points to CoCs that have a CoC
system-wide performance measurement process related to reducing homelessness. 

Rating Factor Maximum Points To Receive Maximum 
Points 

(1) Reducing the Number of 
Homeless Individuals and 
Families. 

17 

The CoC will receive: 

• Up to 5 points for
demonstrating a
decrease of at least 20
percent in the number
of unsheltered
homeless individuals
and families in the 2025
PIT compared to the
prior year’s data.

• Up to 4 points for
demonstrating
decreases in the
number of unsheltered
homeless individuals
and families between
the 2023 and 2024 PIT
Counts AND the 2024
and 2025 PIT Counts.

• Up to 3 points for
demonstrating a
decrease in the number
of unsheltered
homeless individuals
and families between
the 2023 and 2025 PIT
Counts.

• Up to 3 points for
demonstrating a 5%
decrease in the number
of individuals and

73



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 70 of 128 

families experiencing 
chronic homelessness 
between the 2024 and 
2025 PIT Counts. 

• Up to 2 points for
demonstrating a
decrease of at least 20
percent in the
combined number of
sheltered and
unsheltered individuals
and families in the 2025
PIT compared to the
prior year’s data.

(2) Reduce First Time 
Homelessness. 

1 

The CoC must: 

• Demonstrate a
reduction in the number
of first-time homeless
of at least 20% as
reported in HDX;

• Identify the strategies
(including funding
sources and
timeframes) in place to
address individuals and
families at risk of
becoming homeless;
and

• Identify the
organization or position
that is responsible for
overseeing the CoC’s
strategy to reduce or
end the number of
persons experiencing
homelessness for the
first time.

(3) Length of Time 
Homeless. 1 

The CoC must: 

• Demonstrate a
reduction in the length-
of-time homeless

74



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program 
Description 

IV. Application 
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission 
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and 
Support 

Appendix 

 
 
 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25   Page 71 of 128 

compared to the prior 
year’s data as reported 
in HDX; 

• Identify the strategies 
(including funding 
sources and 
timeframes) in place to 
address individuals and 
families at risk of 
becoming homeless; 
and 

• Identify the 
organization or position 
that is responsible for 
overseeing the CoC’s 
strategy to reduce the 
length of time 
individuals and families 
remain homeless. 

(4) Successful Permanent 
Housing Placement. 

5 

The CoC must: 

• Demonstrate that the 
rate of successful exit 
from ES, TH, and RRH 
is at least 50% (up to 2 
points); 

• Demonstrate that at 
least 20% of program 
participant exits from 
TH/RRH/PSH 
collectively are to 
unsubsidized housing 
using HMIS data (up to 
2 points). 

• Indicate the strategy 
(including funding 
sources and 
timeframes) the CoC is 
taking to improve 
permanent housing 
placement and stability 
including how the CoC 
connects participants to 

75



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 72 of 128 

non-subsidized housing 
and furthers successful 
transitions from CoC-
funded projects to other 
housing options; and 

• Identify the
organization or position
that is responsible for
overseeing the CoC’s
strategy to increase the
rate at which persons
exit to permanent
housing destinations
(up to 1 point).

(5) Returns to 
Homelessness. 

7 

The CoC must: 

• Demonstrate the rate at
which persons who
exited to permanent
housing destinations
experienced additional
spells of homelessness
over a 12- month and
24-month period as
reported in HDX:
Is less than 8% over 24
months (3 points, or 1
point if less than 16%
over 24 months).
Is less than 7% over 12
months (3 points, or 1
point if less than 11%
over 12 months).

• Indicate a strategy to
account for returns to
homelessness that
occur outside of the
geographic area to the
extent practicable (i.e.,
statewide HMIS
sharing, long-term
follow-up with clients.)

• Indicate the strategy

76



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 73 of 128 

that will reduce returns 
to homelessness over 
the long term. 
Additionally, identify the 
funding sources that 
will be used to 
accomplish specific 
tasks within the 
strategy and the 
timeframes for 
completing specific 
tasks within the 
strategy; and 

• Identify the
organization or position
that is responsible for
overseeing the CoC’s
strategy to reduce
returns to
homelessness.

(6) Jobs and Income 
Growth. 

7 

The CoC must: 

• Demonstrate that the
percentage of program
participants who had an
increase in income
from employment (not
government
assistance) in the CoC
was 20 percent or
higher as reported in
HDX (up to 3 points);

• Demonstrate that at
least 25 percent of
people leaving
programs in the CoC
had an increase in
income from
employment (up to 3
points);

• Identify the strategy
(including funding
sources and
timeframes) that has

77



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 74 of 128 

been implemented to 
increase employment 
and non-employment 
cash sources, including 
through employment 
training; 

• Identify how the CoC
works with child care
organizations to
facilitate employment
for parents
experiencing
homelessness; and

• Identify the
organization or position
that is responsible for
overseeing the CoC’s
strategy to increase
jobs and income from
employment and non-
employment cash
sources.

(7) Timely Submission of 
Data. The CoC collected and 
submitted data in a timely 
manner. 

1 

The CoC must demonstrate 
it: 

• Conducted a Housing
Inventory (HIC) and
Point-in-Time (PIT)
count during the last 10
days in January 2025,
or if an exception was
provided by HUD,
during the time period
agreed upon by the
CoC and HUD;

• Submitted both the
2025 HIC and PIT
count data in HDX 2.0
by June 13, 2025, 8:00
PM EDT, or an
alternate date approved 
by HUD;

• Submitted their

78



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program 
Description 

IV. Application 
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission 
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and 
Support 

Appendix 

 
 
 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25   Page 75 of 128 

Longitudinal System 
Analysis (LSA) data in 
HDX 2.0 by the 
submission deadline of 
January 9, 2025, 11:59 
PM EST, or an 
alternate date approved 
by HUD; and HUD 
determined that there 
were at least 2 usable 
files; and 

• Submitted FY 2024 
System Performance 
Measures data in HDX 
2.0 by the submission 
deadline of 8:00 PM 
EDT on April 11, 2025, 
or an alternate date 
approved by HUD. 

(8) HMIS and Comparable 
Database Participation 

1 

The CoC must demonstrate at 
least 85 percent of the beds in 
their CoC's geographic area 
are covered in HMIS and 
comparable databases. The 
bed coverage rate is the 
number of HMIS and 
comparable database 
participating beds divided by 
the number of year-round 
beds dedicated to persons 
experiencing homelessness in 
the geographic area covered 
by the CoC. 

c. CoC Coordination and Engagement. HUD will award up to 81 points to CoCs that 
demonstrate coordination with other systems of care that serve homeless individuals and 
families. 

Rating Factor Maximum Points To Receive Maximum 
Points 

(1) Accountable Structure and Participation. 

79



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 76 of 128 

(a) has a membership of a 
variety of stakeholders 
within the geographic area 
and considers the needs of 
all relevant 
subpopulations; 

0.5 

The CoC must demonstrate it 
has participation from a 
broad array of stakeholders, 
not limited to organizations 
listed in 24 CFR 578.5(a), 
within the geographic area: 
Relevant organizations 
include nonprofit homeless 
assistance providers, victim 
service providers, faith-based 
organizations, governments, 
businesses, advocates, 
public housing agencies, 
school districts, social service 
providers, mental health 
agencies including CCBHCs 
and CMHCs, hospitals, 
universities, affordable 
housing developers, law 
enforcement, and 
organizations that serve 
veterans and homeless and 
formerly homeless 
individuals. 

(b) has a governance 
board representative of the 
community 

4 

The CoC must demonstrate it 
has a decision-making 
governance board that 
includes: 

• at least 1 person with a
former experience of
homelessness;

• at least 3 elected public
officials;

• at least 1
representative of the
business community;

• at least 2
representatives of law
enforcement.

(c) has an invitation 
process for new members 

0.5 The CoC must demonstrate it 
has a transparent process 

80



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 77 of 128 

to join; (e.g., communicated in a 
public manner such as on the 
CoC's website) in place to 
invite new members to join 
and the invitation process is 
publicly available within the 
CoC's geographic area at 
least annually. 

(d) solicits and considers 
opinions from 
knowledgeable individuals 
and organizations; and 

0.5 

The CoC must demonstrate a 
transparent process (e.g., 
communicated in a public 
manner such as on the CoC's 
website) is in place to solicit 
and consider opinions 
regarding the CoC’s general 
performance, strategies, and 
priority setting process from 
individuals and organizations 
with knowledge of 
homelessness in the 
geographic area or an interest 
in preventing or ending 
homelessness in the 
geographic area. 

(e) accepts and considers 
proposals from 
organizations that have not 
previously received CoC 
Program funding. 0.5 

The CoC must demonstrate it 
has a transparent process is 
in place to accept and 
consider proposals from 
organizations that have not 
previously received CoC 
Program funding including 
faith-based organizations. 

(2) Availability of Treatment 
and Recovery Services. 

16 

The CoC must demonstrate: 

• Substance use
treatment is available
on-site for at least 30%
of projects (attach
agreements or letters of 
commitment);

• The creation or current
existence of projects

81



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 78 of 128 

with the purpose of 
providing substance 
abuse treatment 
services for people 
experiencing 
homelessness in which 
program participants 
are required to take 
part in such services as 
a condition of continued 
participation in the 
program (attach 
contracts or occupancy 
agreements); 
Provide a list of the 
beds/projects and 
occupancy agreements 
demonstrating the 
purpose of the project 
and the requirement for 
participation in 
substance abuse 
treatment. 
-For geographic areas 
with a population 
greater than 2,500,000, 
demonstrate at least 
500 beds. 
-For geographic areas 
with a population 
between 1,000,000 and 
2,499,999, demonstrate 
at least 250 beds. 
-For geographic areas 
with a population 
between 500,000 and 
999,999, demonstrate 
at least 100 beds. 
-For geographic areas 
with a population 
between 100,000 and 
499,999, demonstrates 
at least 50 beds. 

82



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 79 of 128 

-For geographic areas 
with less than 100,000, 
demonstrate 25 beds. 
The bed count 
described above may 
include CoC-funded per 
diem beds located 
outside the geographic 
area of the CoC. 
Provide a list of the 
beds/projects and 
occupancy agreements 
demonstrating the 
purpose of the project 
and the requirement for 
participation in 
substance abuse 
treatment. 

• There is 24/7 access to
detox or inpatient
treatment within the
geographic area of the
CoC;

• Formal partnership with
a Certified Community
Behavioral Health
Clinic (CCBHC) or
Community Mental
Health Center (CMHC)
or a similar facility if no
CCBHCs or CMHCs
are located in the
geographic area;

• The availability or
proposed creation of
sober housing for
people in recovery in
accordance with 24
CFR 578.93(b)(5); and

• They are investing
adequately in
supportive services by
showing either:

83



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 80 of 128 

o through
proposed CoC
funding,
leveraging,
match, and other
formal
partnerships, the
CoC is providing
supportive
services with a
value of 50% of
the CoC’s
Annual Renewal
Demand; or

o 30% of their
proposed CoC
funding is used
for supportive
services relative
to their Annual
Renewal
Demand.

(3) Participation 
Requirements for 
Supportive Services. 

10 

The CoC must demonstrate 
that projects require program 
participants to take part in 
supportive services (e.g. case 
management, employment 
training, substance use 
disorder treatment) in line with 
24 CFR 578.75(h) by 
attaching supportive service 
agreements (contract, 
occupancy agreement, lease, 
or equivalent). 

• 100% of CoC projects
have participation
requirements (10
points).

• 50% of CoC projects
have participation
requirements (5 of the
10 points).

84



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 81 of 128 

(4) Reduce encampments. 

10 

The CoC must demonstrate a 
reduction in the number of 
encampments or the number 
of people residing in 
encampments by at least 
20%. 

(5) Coordination with 
Federal, State, Local, 
Private, and Other 
Organizations. 

2 

The CoC must: 

• Demonstrate
coordination with other
federal, state, local,
private, and other
organizations in the
planning and operation
of projects; and

• Describe how they
have and plan to
continue to consult with
ESG recipients in the
planning and allocation
of ESG funds; and
Describe how they
have or will share PIT,
HIC, HMIS, and
System Performance
data with state and
local government as
permitted by law.

(6) Discharge Planning. 

2 

The CoC must coordinate with 
state or local planning efforts 
to prevent homelessness 
among people transitioning 
from public systems (prisons, 
jails, health care facilities, 
residential care facilities, and 
foster care.) 

(7) Collaboration Related to 
Children and Youth. 

2 

The CoC must: 

• Indicate written
agreements are in
place between their
CoC or its HUD-funded

85



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 82 of 128 

projects and 
educational supports 
and services for 
children ages 0-5, such 
as Public Pre-K, Head 
Start, Child Care 
(including Child Care 
and Development 
Fund), or home visiting 
(including Maternal, 
Infant and Early 
Childhood Home and 
Visiting or MIECHV); 

• Identify formal
partnerships the CoC
has with youth
education providers,
local educational
authorities, or school
districts; and

• Show policies and
procedures that have
been adopted to inform
individuals and families
who become homeless
of their eligibility for
educational services.

(8) Coordination with 
Veteran Organizations. 

6 

The CoC must indicate that 
they partner with the 
Department of Veterans 
Affairs or other Veteran 
Serving Organizations to do 
the following: 

• Refer veterans
identified by the CoC to
VA or other Veteran
Serving Organizations
for assistance;

• Coordinate the
provision of emergency
shelter, supportive
services, and housing;

86



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 83 of 128 

and 

• Identify and fill service
gaps for veterans.

(9) Addressing the Needs of 
Survivors of Domestic 
Violence, Dating Violence, 
Sexual Assault, and 
Stalking 

2 

The CoC must partner with 
victim service providers, state 
domestic violence coalitions, 
state sexual assault coalitions, 
anti-trafficking service 
providers or other 
organizations who help 
provide shelter, housing, and 
services to individuals and 
families of persons 
experiencing trauma or a lack 
of safety related to fleeing or 
attempting to flee domestic 
violence, dating violence, 
sexual assault, and stalking. 

(10) Street Outreach. 

6 

The CoC must show that: 

• An increasing number
of people exit street
outreach to a positive
destination; and

• Street Outreach
projects partner with
first responders and
law enforcement to
increase housing and
service engagement.

(11) Partnering with Public 
Housing Agencies. 

2 

The CoC must: 

• Show they have an
agreement in place with
one or more of their
public housing
agencies to enable
participants to transition 
from Transitional
Housing, Rapid Re-
Housing, and
Permanent Supportive

87



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 84 of 128 

Housing to HUD 
assisted housing; and 

• Describe the strategy
for helping participants
who are able to live
independently move
from homelessness
assistance to
permanent housing
taking into account
employment and
economic stability.

(12) Leveraging housing 
and healthcare resources. 
These points are available for 
CoCs that apply for at least 
one new TH, PSH or RRH 
project that that utilizes 
housing and healthcare 
resources not funded through 
the CoC or ESG Programs. 
Examples of housing and 
healthcare resources include 
those provided by: 

• Private organizations

• State or local
government sources

• Public housing
agencies

• Faith-based
organizations

4 

• The CoC must
demonstrate that:

o In the case of
housing
subsidies for
PSH or TH
projects, the
leveraged
resources
provide at least
25 percent of the
units included in
the project;

o In the case of
housing
subsidies for a
RRH project, the
leveraged
resources serve
at least 25
percent of the
program
participants
included in the
project.

• The CoC must attach
letters of commitment,
contracts, or other
formal documents that
demonstrate the
commitment. CoCs can

88



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 85 of 128 

receive less than full 
points for 
demonstrating 
commitments less than 
the threshold above. 

• The CoC must
demonstrate that:

o In the case of an
organization that
provides
substance use
disorder
treatment or
recovery
services, the
leveraged
resource
provides access
to all participants
who qualify for
those services;
or

o In the case of
healthcare or
behavioral
health
resources, the
value of
assistance being
provided is at
least an amount
that is equivalent
to 25 percent of
the funding
being requested
by the project.

The CoC must attach letters 
of commitment, contracts, or 
other formal documents that 
demonstrate that 
commitment. CoCs can 
receive less than full points 
for demonstrating 
commitments less than the 

89



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 86 of 128 

thresholds described above. 

(13) Protecting Public 
Safety. 
HUD encourages the most 
effective use of funding for 
efforts to end homelessness, 
quickly rehouse individuals, 
and minimize trauma (42 
U.S.C 11381). Law 
enforcement and public safety 
protections play a critical role 
in accomplishing these 
purposes. 

13 

CoCs must: 

• Cite state or local
law(s) that cover the
CoC’s entire
geographic area (up to
2 point) that:

o Prohibits public
illicit drug use;
and

o Prohibits public
camping or
loitering.

• Indicate that state or
local government that
covers the CoC’s entire
geographic area has a
protocol (up to 2 point)
that:

o Enforces a
prohibition on
public illicit drug
use; and

o Enforces a
prohibition on
public camping
or loitering.

• Demonstrate utilization
of standards that
address individuals
experiencing
homelessness who are
a danger to themselves
or others including
involuntary
commitment; (up to 3
points point)

• Indicate that the state
substantially
implements and is
compliant with the

90



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 87 of 128 

registration and 
notification obligations 
of the Sex Offender 
Registry and 
Notification Act 
(SORNA); (up to 3 
points) 

• Indicate (up to 3 points)
that the CoC:

o When asked by
law
enforcement,
assists in
adequately
mapping and
checking the
location of
homeless sex
offenders; and

o Cooperates,
assists, and
does not
interfere or
impede with law
enforcement or
co-response to
connect violators
of public
camping or drug
use laws with
services.

d. CoC Merger Bonus Points. As stated in section 2.b.(2) in the Appendix of this NOFO,
HUD will award up to a possible 5 bonus points to CoCs that merged after the FY 2024 
CoC Program Registration deadline. To receive consideration as a merged CoC, new 
CoCs must contain all the geographic area of at least two CoCs that were considered 
completely separate CoCs in prior CoC Program competitions. 

Rating Factor Maximum Points To Receive Maximum 
Points 

Merged CoCs after the FY 
2024 CoC Program 
Registration CoC Program 

15 
Merged CoCs - all CoCs that 
merged will receive this 
minimum number of points. 

91



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 88 of 128 

Registration deadline. 

2. Policy Initiative Preference Points
This NOFO supports the following policy initiatives, for which a maximum of four (4) 
preference points may be awarded.  
Preference points are added to your overall application score. You do not need to address 
the policy initiatives in this section to receive an award. If you choose to address a policy 
initiative in your application, you must adhere to the information with any award.  

a. Opportunity Zones
You may receive up to four (4) points (but no more than 4 policy preference points total) if 
your proposed activities are within an Opportunity Zone. To receive points, you must 
complete and submit form HUD-2996, Certification for Opportunity Zone Preference Points. If 
you expect to use less than 50% of the award in Opportunity Zones, you won’t receive 
preference points.  
b. Verification of Immigration Status
You may receive up to four (4) points (but not more than 4 policy preference points total) if 
you can demonstrate that all CoC projects that are non-profit charitable organizations 
voluntarily, thoroughly, and demonstrably facilitate immigration status verification before 
distribution of benefits to all recipients using SAVE directly or in coordination with a 
governmental entity. The purpose of verification of immigration status is to remove any 
incentive for illegal immigration provided by the availability of public benefits and to assure 
that the public benefits system, including the provision of assistance for homeless Americans, 
is not burdened by illegal immigration (8 U.S.C 1601). 

3. Other Factors

a. Budget
The panel will review but not approve the budget. The panel will assess whether the budget 
aligns with planned program activities and objectives. Panel members will consider whether 
the budget and the requested performance period are fully justified and reasonable in relation 
to the proposed project. 
The budget information will be reviewed to ensure: 

• The requested costs are eligible under the CoC Program and this NOFO.

• The total amount of funding is within the amount of funding available to the CoC as
described in Section I.A.2 of this NOFO.

• If funds are requested for project administrative costs, the amount requested is no
more than 10 of the total funding requested.

b. Certification of Consistency with the Consolidated Plan
You must make sure your application activities are consistent with your local Consolidated 

92

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-91/subpart-A/section-91.2


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 89 of 128 

Plan. 
All project applications submitted and listed on the CoC Priority Listing by Collaborative 
Applicants must be included in the certification either by submitting one correctly signed and 
dated HUD-2991 from the appropriate jurisdiction that includes an attachment listing of all 
submitted project applications, or a single signed and dated HUD-2991 for each individual 
project application from the appropriate jurisdiction. See section IV.A.1 for more information. 

C. Risk Review 
Before making an award, HUD will evaluate each applicant’s likelihood of successfully 
implementing an award based on the following criteria.  

• OMB-designated repositories of governmentwide data, as noted in 2 CFR 200.206(a)

• Other public sources such as newspapers, Inspector General or Government
Accountability Office reports or findings, or other complaints that have been proven to
have merit

• Financial stability

• Quality of management systems and ability to meet the management standards
prescribed in 2 CFR part 200

• History of performance. The applicant’s record in managing Federal awards, if it is a
prior recipient of Federal awards, including timeliness of compliance with applicable
reporting requirements, failing to make significant progress in a timely manner, failing
to meet planned activities in a timely manner, conformance to the terms and conditions
of previous Federal awards, and, if applicable, the extent to which any previously
awarded amounts will be expended prior to future awards

• Reports and findings from audits performed under 2 CFR part 200, subpart F—Audit
Requirements or the reports and findings of any other available audits

• The applicant's ability to effectively implement statutory, regulatory, or other
requirements imposed on non-Federal entities

• Capacity of the applicant, including staffing structures and capabilities

• History of timely completion of activities and receipt and expenditure of promised
matching or leveraged funds

• Ability to promote self-sufficiency and economic independence

• Ability to produce positive outcomes and results

• History of subsidizing or facilitating activities that conflict with the purposes of this
NOFO.

HUD may use the results of the risk review to make funding decisions and to apply award 
conditions. 
This assessment helps identify risks that may affect the advancement toward or the 
achievement of a project’s goals and objectives. 2 C.F.R. 200.206(b)(1). 

93

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-91/subpart-A/section-91.2
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-C/section-200.206


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 90 of 128 

D. Selection Process  
When making funding decisions, HUD will consider: 

• Eligibility requirements, including threshold review results.

• Merit review results.

• Risk review results.
To the extent allowed by law, HUD may: 

• Fund applications in whole or in part.

• Fund applications at a lower amount than requested.

• Choose to fund no applications under this NOFO.

• Adjust funding for an application, to ensure funding or geographic dispersion, and
alignment with program or administrative priorities.

• Withdraw an award offer and make an offer of funding to another eligible application, if
terms and conditions are not finalized or met.

• Use additional funds made available after NOFO publication to either fully fund an
application or fund additional applications.

• Correct HUD review and selection errors. If HUD commits an error that causes an
applicant not to be selected, HUD may make an award to that applicant when and if
funding is available.

• Release another NOFO, if funding is available and if HUD does not receive
applications of merit.

1. Threshold Review.
HUD will conduct a project eligibility and project quality threshold review on all project 
applicants. 
HUD will review new project applications to determine whether applicants meet the applicant 
eligibility in section V.A.1, and whether the project applications meet the project eligibility and 
project quality thresholds detailed in sections V.A.4.a and V.A.4.b of this NOFO. HUD will 
review renewal projects to determine if project applicants and subrecipients meet the renewal 
project threshold requirements detailed in section V.A.4.c of this NOFO. If HUD determines 
these standards are not met, HUD will reject the project application, unless otherwise 
provided in this NOFO. 
If a new project application passes the project eligibility threshold review in section V.A.4.a 
and receives enough points to pass the project quality threshold review in section V.A.4.b of 
this NOFO but does not receive all the points available for its project type, HUD may place 
conditions on the grant award that must be satisfied before HUD will execute a grant 
agreement with the applicant for the project. If an applicant is unable to satisfy the 
condition(s) within the timeframe specified by HUD, HUD reserves the right to withdraw the 
conditionally awarded funds. 

94



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 91 of 128 

2. Conditional Selection and Adjustments to Funding.
HUD Headquarters will conditionally select project applications for funding using the following 
process: 

a. HUD Funding Process. All project applications, including YHDP renewal and
replacement projects, must be competitively ranked, except for CoC Planning and, if 
applicable, UFA Costs Applications. HUD will select projects in the following order: 

(1) HUD will select all CoC Planning and UFA Costs applications that meet project 
quality threshold requirements. Only one CoC Planning and one UFA Costs (if 
applicable) project application can be submitted per CoC. 
(2) HUD will then select all projects in Tier 1 that pass project quality and project 
eligibility thresholds as described in section V.D.3.a below. 
(3) HUD will then select projects that meet project quality and project eligibility 
thresholds that are ranked in Tier 2 in the order of project score as described in 
Section V.D.3.b below: 

(a) If at any point, HUD selects Permanent Housing projects in an amount more 
than 30 percent of a CoC’s Annual Renewal Demand (ARD), HUD will remove 
all remaining unselected Permanent Housing projects from that CoC’s priority 
listing, recalculate their Tier 2 project score, and continue selection. 

(4) HUD will then review DV Bonus projects already selected for funding through the 
above process and determine whether $52,000,000 has been awarded to DV Bonus 
projects: 

(a) If at least $52,000,000 has been selected for conditional award no further 
action is needed. 
(b) If $52,000,000 has not been selected for conditional award – continue down 
the list and fund additional DV Bonus projects by project-level score until at 
least $52 million has been selected. 

b. As authorized under the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2017 (Public Law 115-31;
131 Stat. 135) for fiscal year 2017 and hereafter, HUD will conditionally select a renewal 
grant that exceeds $10 million that was originally awarded pursuant to the matter under 
the heading “Department of Housing and Urban Development–Permanent Supportive 
Housing” in chapter 6 of title III of the Supplemental Appropriations Act, 2008 (Public Law 
110-252; 122 Stat. 2351). 
c. If an ineligible renewal project submitted under this NOFO is used in the reallocation
process; or an ineligible YHDP Renewal or YHDP Replacement project is submitted, HUD 
will remove the ineligible project when calculating the final ARD amount for the CoC. To 
be eligible for renewal, reallocation, or replacement in the FY 2025 CoC and YHDP 
Funding Process, a project must have an expiration date in Calendar Year (CY) 2026 
(between January 1, 2026, and December 31, 2026). 

3. HUD Funding Process.
CoCs and applicants should ensure there is a thorough understanding of the information 

95



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 92 of 128 

provided in this NOFO. HUD has a two-tier funding selection process for FY 2025 funding. 
HUD will establish Tier 1 and Tier 2 amounts for each CoC, based on each CoC’s Annual 
Renewal Demand. HUD will post a report that lists the available amounts for each CoC's 
PPRN, estimated ARD, Tier 1, CoC Planning, estimated CoC Bonus amounts, and estimated 
DV Bonus amounts on HUD's website. 
The maximum amount a CoC may apply for is the sum of the CoC’s ARD, eligible CoC Bonus 
amounts, eligible DV Bonus amounts, eligible CoC planning amounts and if applicable, 
eligible UFA costs amounts. 
The selection process described in this section of the NOFO will also be used for CoC 
Collaborative Applicants designated as UFAs. 
Note that for FY 2025, DV Bonus and YHDP projects will be selected using the Tier 1 and 
Tier 2 selection process. 

a. Tier 1. Tier 1 is equal to 30 percent of the CoC’s Annual Renewal Demand (ARD).
HUD will conditionally select project applications in Tier 1 from the highest scoring CoC 
application to the lowest scoring CoC application and according to the rank assigned by 
the CoC on the CoC Priority listing, provided the project applications pass both project 
eligibility and project quality threshold review, and if applicable, project renewal threshold. 
Any competitively ranked project may be placed in Tier 1 according to the CoC’s local 
rating and ranking process and based on local needs and priorities. 
b. Tier 2. Tier 2 is the difference between Tier 1 and the sum of each CoC’s ARD, CoC
Bonus, and DV Bonus. 
HUD will evaluate project applications placed in Tier 2 for project eligibility and project 
quality threshold requirements and project renewal threshold requirements, if applicable; 
and HUD will determine funding using the CoC Application score as well as the CoC 
project ranking. 
HUD will award a point value to each ranked new and renewal project application that is in 
Tier 2 using a 100-point scale, and conditionally select applications in Tier 2 using this 
point value from the highest scoring project application to the lowest: 

(1) CoC Score. Up to 50 points in direct proportion to the score received on the CoC 
Application, e.g., if a CoC received 65 out of 130 points on the CoC Application, the 
project application would receive 25 out of 50 points for this criterion. 
(2) CoC Project Ranking. Up to 40 points for the CoC’s ranking of the project 
application(s). To consider the CoCs ranking of projects, HUD will assign point values 
directly related to the CoCs' ranking of project applications. The calculation of point 
values will be 40 times the quantity (1-x) where x is the ratio of the cumulative funding 
requests for all projects or portions of projects ranked higher by the CoC in Tier 2 plus 
one half of the funding of the project of interest to the total amount of funding available 
in Tier 2 for the CoC. 
(3) Service Participation. Up to 10 points for projects that have or will incorporate 
supportive service participation requirements in their program design, based on 
individual need and evidenced in an occupancy agreement or equivalent document. 

96



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 93 of 128 

c. Projects Straddling Tiers. If a project application straddles the Tier 1 and Tier 2
funding line, HUD will conditionally select the project up to the amount of funding that falls 
within Tier 1. Using selection criteria in section V.D.3.b above, HUD may fund the Tier 2 
portion of the project. If HUD does not fund the Tier 2 portion of the project, HUD may 
award the project at the reduced amount based on the amount of funding that falls within 
Tier 1, provided the project is still feasible with the reduced funding (e.g., is able to 
continue serving homeless program participants effectively). 
d. Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking Bonus (DV 
Bonus). This NOFO provides approximately $52 million for “rapid re-housing projects and 
supportive service projects providing coordinated entry, and for eligible activities that the 
Secretary determines to be critical in order to assist survivors of domestic violence, dating 
violence, sexual assault, or stalking.” In this NOFO, Transitional Housing is an eligible 
activity determined critical to assist survivors of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual 
assault, or stalking. 
Each CoC may only submit one new SSO-CE DV Bonus project; however, there is no 
limit to the number of TH projects and PH-RRH projects CoCs may apply for, provided 
each application is for at least $50,000. A project applicant may also apply to expand an 
existing renewal project, including one that was previously awarded with DV Bonus 
funding, in accordance with section IV.D.1.j.(4) of this NOFO; however, only the new 
project application for the expansion will be considered for DV Bonus funds through this 
process. DV Bonus funding may be used to expand an existing renewal project that is not 
dedicated to serving individuals and families who are fleeing or attempting to flee 
domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking who qualify as homeless 
under paragraphs (1) or (4) of the definition of homeless at 24 CFR 578.3 or section 
103(b) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act so long as the DV Bonus funds 
for expansion are solely for additional units, beds, or services dedicated to persons 
eligible to be served with DV Bonus funding. 
CoCs must rank all new DV Bonus project applications on the New Project Listing of the 
CoC Priority Listing with a unique number ranking and when the project is part of an 
expansion, the corresponding renewal project application must be on the Renewal Project 
Listing with a unique rank number as well. HUD will only select a new DV Bonus project 
that expands an existing renewal project if HUD conditionally selects the existing renewal 
project for funding. 

4. Conflict of Interest of Consultants or Technical Experts Assisting HUD.
Consultants and technical experts who assist HUD in evaluating applications for funding 
under published CoC Program NOFOs are subject to 18 U.S.C. 208, the Federal criminal 
conflict-of-interest statute, and the Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the 
Executive Branch regulation published at 5 CFR 2635. Therefore, consultants and technical 
experts who have assisted or plan to assist applicants with preparing applications for CoC 
Program NOFOs are prohibited from serving on a selection panel or serving as a technical 
advisor to HUD. Anyone involved in reviewing CoC Program NOFO applications, including 
departmental staff, experts, and consultants, must avoid conflicts of interest or the 
appearance of such conflicts. These individuals must also disclose to HUD’s Office of 
General Counsel Ethics Law Division the following information, if applicable: 

97



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 94 of 128 

a. How the selection or non-selection of any applicant under a CoC Program NOFO will
affect the individual's financial interests, as provided in 18 U.S.C. 208, or 
b. How the application process involves a party with whom the individual has a covered
relationship under 5 CFR 2635.502. 

The consultant or technical expert assisting HUD must disclose this information before 
participating in any matter regarding a program NOFO. Applicants with questions regarding 
these provisions or concerning a conflict of interest should call the Office of General Counsel 
Ethics Law Division, at (202)708-3815 (this is not a toll-free number). HUD welcomes and is 
prepared to receive calls from individuals who are deaf or hard of hearing, as well as 
individuals with speech or communication disabilities. To learn more about how to make an 
accessible telephone call, please visit 
https://www.fcc.gov/consumers/guides/telecommunications-relay-service-trs. 
5. Adjustments to Projects.
HUD may adjust the selection of competitive projects as follows: 

a. CoC Maximum Award and FMR Adjustments. The process for determining a CoC’s
maximum award amount is detailed in 24 CFR 578.17(b). HUD must adjust awards for 
leasing, operating, and rental assistance BLIs based on changes to the Fair Market Rents 
(FMR). 24 CFR 578.51(f) requires that HUD will determine the award amount for Rental 
Assistance projects by multiplying the number and size of units proposed by the FMR of 
each unit on the date the application is submitted to HUD. 
HUD will make these adjustments as follows: 

(1) Funds awarded for rental assistance will be adjusted in one of two ways: 
(a) Funds awarded for rental assistance requesting the FMR will be adjusted by 
applying the FMR in effect at the time applications are due, including instances 
where the FMR for a specific area has decreased from the project award year. 
(b) Funds awarded for rental assistance for renewal projects that request less than 
FMR, that is, a per-unit amount based on the actual rent costs per unit (section 
IV.D.2.h), will be increased based on the average increase in FMR amounts within
the CoC’s geographic area, weighted for population density. If the FMR for a 
specific area had a net decrease from the project award year, the award will not 
exceed the FMR after adjustment. If the FMR for the project applicant’s entire area 
decreased from the project award year, the project will be awarded the lesser 
amount of the per-unit amount requested by the project applicant, based on the 
actual rent costs per unit, or the FMR after adjustment. 

(2) HUD will increase funds awarded for operating and leasing in PH projects based 
on the average increase in FMR amounts within the CoC’s geographic area, weighted 
for population density. Because leasing and operating costs do not decrease relative 
to rent amounts for specific units (e.g., operating costs for 10 units that have rents of 
$500 are likely the same as for 10 units that have rents that are $450) HUD will not 
decrease leasing and operating BLIs if FMRs decrease in the geographic area. The 
operating and leasing BLIs in these projects will remain the same as in the most 
recent grant agreement or grant agreement amendment. 

98

https://www.fcc.gov/consumers/guides/telecommunications-relay-service-trs


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 95 of 128 

b. Cost of Living Adjustment Factor. HUD will adjust amounts for the supportive
services and HMIS Costs budget lines for renewing projects by the following factor: 
Most recent three-year average of changes in State Quarterly Census of Employment and 
Wages (QCEW) for the category Social Assistance (NAICS 624). Data can be found at: 
https://www.bls.gov/cew/data.htm. 

6. Geographic Diversity.
HUD has determined that geographic diversity is an appropriate consideration in selecting 
homeless assistance projects in the CoC Program Competition. HUD believes that 
geographic diversity can be achieved best by awarding grants to as many CoCs as possible. 
To this end, in instances where any of the 50 States, the District of Columbia, the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, Guam, the Northern Mariana Islands, the Virgin Islands, and 
American Samoa do not have at least one funded CoC, HUD reserves the right to fund 
eligible project(s) with the highest total score in the CoC. 
7. Funding Diversity.
HUD reserves the right to reduce the amount of a grant, if necessary, to ensure that no more 
than 10 percent of assistance made available under this NOFO will be awarded for projects 
located within any one unit of general local government or within the geographic area covered 
by any one CoC. 
8. Approval from HUD Headquarters is required before a grant awarded under this
NOFO may be transferred. 
Under this NOFO, HUD will treat the change of project applicant as a curable deficiency. This 
occurs when a Recipient of an expiring grant awarded under a prior FY CoC or YHDP 
competition NOFO applies to renew their award under this NOFO and during the period 
between applying for FY 2025 funds and before HUD announces FY 2025 awards, HUD 
executes a grant agreement amendment to transfer the expiring grant to a New Recipient. 
This grant transfer results in a FY 2025 CoC renewal application that does not reflect the New 
Recipient as the applicant. In this type of situation, HUD will treat the change of project 
applicant as a curable deficiency. 
9. Use of unawarded funds.
In the case that funding remains available under this NOFO after HUD follows the selection 
process described in V.D.2 and V.D.3 above and any subsequent appeals process as 
described in VII.D below, HUD reserves the right to issue a supplemental NOFO. 
10. If any part or provision of the grant Agreement or terms of this Notice have been or are
enjoined or held to be void or unenforceable by a federal court, they shall be ineffective only 
to the extent of such court's authority and only as to such prohibition or enjoinment and shall 
not invalidate or affect the legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions and 
applications of the Agreement and Notice. In the event the enjoinment of such provisions is 
stayed, dissolved or reversed, the full terms of the grant agreement and Notice, including 
such provisions, will automatically become effective. 

E. Award Notices 
If you are successful, HUD will email an award notice to the authorized official representative 

99

https://www.bls.gov/cew/data.htm


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

V. Application Review Information FR-6900-N-25 Page 96 of 128 

from the SF-424. HUD will also notify unsuccessful applicants. 
The award notice communicates the amount of the award, important dates, and the terms 
and conditions you need to follow. HUD may impose specific conditions on an award as 
provided under 2 CFR 200.208. 
You agree to the award terms and conditions by either drawing funds from HUD’s payment 
system or signing the agreement with HUD. If you do not agree to the award terms and 
conditions, HUD may select another eligible applicant. 
Under 2 CFR 200.458 pre-award costs are allowable with written approval from HUD if such 
costs: a) are consistent with 2 CFR 200.458; and b) would be allowable as a post-award cost; 
and c) do not exceed 10 percent of the total funds obligated to this award. However, HUD will 
not consider eligibility for pre-award costs until after the date of the HUD selection notice. 
Additionally, the incurrence of pre-award costs in anticipation of an award imposes no 
obligation on HUD either to make the award, or to increase the amount of the approved 
budget, if the award is made for less than the amount anticipated and is inadequate to cover 
the pre-award costs incurred. 
For selected projects, HUD will require recordation of a HUD-approved use and repayment 
covenant before funds can be drawn down (the form can be obtained from the local HUD 
CPD field office) for all grants of funds for new construction, acquisition, and rehabilitation. 
(24 CFR 578.81) HUD Field Office Counsel must approve the use and repayment covenants 
in advance of their being recorded, and proof of recording must be submitted to HUD Field 
Office Counsel before HUD will release grant funds, other than acquisition funds. 
If the award includes funds for acquisition, HUD may allow recipients to draw down 
acquisition funds before recording the Declaration of Restrictive Covenant if the HUD Field 
Office confirms that the escrow agent has received the Declaration of Restrictive Covenant 
and the recording instructions. The recipient or subrecipient may not draw down any funds 
other than acquisition funds until HUD Field Counsel has confirmed the Declaration of 
Restrictive Covenants has been recorded. 

100

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-C/section-200.208
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/section-200.458
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/section-200.458


VI. SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS AND
DEADLINES 

VI. Submissions Requirements and Deadlines

A. Deadlines 

B. Submission Methods 

C. Other Submissions 

D. False Statements 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

101



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VI. Submission Requirements and Deadlines FR-6900-N-25 Page 98 of 128 

VI. SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS AND DEADLINES
You must apply electronically. See Find the Application Package to make sure you have 
everything you need to apply online. See Application Waiver if you qualify to submit a paper 
application. 
Make sure you are current with SAM.gov and UEI requirements before applying for the 
award. See the Before You Begin section of this NOFO.  

A. Deadlines 
1. Application submission deadline:
The application deadline is 8 PM Eastern time on: 
01/14/2026 
HUD must receive your application by the deadline. Applications received after the deadline 
are late. Late applications are not eligible for HUD funding. 
If HUD receives more than one application from you, HUD will review only the last 
submission. 
HUD may extend an application due date based on emergency situations such as 
Presidentially-declared natural disasters. Improper or expired registration and password 
issues are not causes to allow HUD to accept applications after the deadline date.  
Applicants must complete and submit their applications in e-snaps at 
https://esnaps.hud.gov/. The deadline to submit applications for FY 2025 funding is 8:00 
PM EST on January 14, 2026 
24 CFR 578.9 requires CoCs to design, operate, and follow a collaborative process for the 
development of an application in response to a NOFO issued by HUD. As part of this 
collaborative process, CoCs must implement internal deadlines to ensure transparency and 
fairness at the local level. The implementation of deadlines that meet the standards outlined 
below for FY 2025 CoC Program project applications are part of the scoring criteria as 
detailed in section V.B.1.a of this NOFO. 

a. Project Application. All project applications must be submitted to the CoC no later
than 30 days before HUD’s CoC Program application submission deadline of 8:00 PM 
EST on January 14, 2026. CoCs that fail to establish this deadline for local project 
application(s) will receive 0 points under section V.B.1.a.(2) of this NOFO. 
b. CoC Notification to Project Applicants. The CoC is required to notify, in writing
outside of e-snaps, all project applicants who submitted their project applications to the 
CoC by the local CoC-established deadline whether their project application(s) will be 
accepted and ranked on the CoC Priority Listing, rejected, or reduced by the CoC no later 
than 15 days of the FY 2025 CoC Program application submission deadline. 
Where a project application is being rejected or reduced, the CoC must provide the 
project applicant with the reason(s) for the rejection or reduction. CoCs failing to provide 
this information to a project applicant that submits its project application by the local 
competition deadline will receive 0 points under section V.B.1.a.(2) of this NOFO. 

102

https://sam.gov
https://esnaps.hud.gov/


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VI. Submission Requirements and Deadlines FR-6900-N-25 Page 99 of 128 

2. Major Disaster Areas.
If a major disaster impacts a CoC’s geographic area, as declared by the President under the 
Stafford Act, during the CoC Program application process that will impact the submission of 
the CoC Priority Listing and FY 2025 project applications, the CoC’s Collaborative Applicant 
must send written notification to Norm Suchar, Director, Office of Special Needs Assistance 
Program (SNAPS) at CoCDisaster@hud.gov. The email must include: 

a. the nature of the disaster, date(s) the major disaster occurred, how the major disaster
affected the Collaborative Applicant, the CoC, or its project(s); 
b. the duration, and the impact on the Collaborative Applicant, the project applicants, or
the CoC to meet the local competition deadline; and 
c. the anticipated amount of time the CoC is requesting for an extension (e.g., number of
days, weeks, or months). This does not mean HUD will allow the full amount of time 
requested. 

Based on the timing and the extent of the major disaster, HUD may extend the application 
deadline for the affected CoC(s). All requests received will be confirmed via the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) website, https://www.fema.gov/disaster. 

B. Submission Methods 
1. Electronic Submission
The official documents HUD uses to solicit applications for this NOFO are posted on 
Grants.gov; however, you must register and submit your application through esnaps.hud.gov. 
HUD does not accept applications or supportive documents via fax. 

1. Electronic Submission
Applicants must register and submit project applications through esnaps.hud.gov. HUD does 
not accept applications or supportive documents via fax.  

a. CoC Registration. Collaborative Applicants that Registered their CoCs in FY 2024
were not required to register again for FY 2025 funding. HUD moved all FY 2024 CoC 
Program Registrations forward for FY 2025 on behalf of all existing Collaborative 
Applicants in accordance with Notice CPD-22-02: Continuum of Care Program 
Registration. Collaborative Applicants that were designated by HUD as UFAs during the 
FY 2024 Registration were not required to reapply during the FY 2025 funding year. 
b. CoC Review of Project Applications Prior to Submission to HUD. HUD expects
CoCs to implement a thorough review and oversight process at the local level for both 
new and renewal project applications to be submitted to HUD for the FY 2025 CoC 
Program Competition. HUD’s experience is that many project applications contain 
information resulting in conditions on the grant; or for more serious infractions, HUD 
rejecting a project application. Deficient project applications prolong HUD’s review 
process, which results in delayed funding announcements, lost funding for CoCs due to 

103

mailto:CoCDisaster@hud.gov
https://www.fema.gov/disaster
https://grants.gov
https://esnaps.hud.gov/
https://esnaps.hud.gov/


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VI. Submission Requirements and Deadlines FR-6900-N-25 Page 100 of 128 

HUD rejecting projects, and delays accessing project funds to house and assist 
individuals and families experiencing homelessness. HUD expects CoCs to closely review 
the information provided in each project application, including Renewal, Replacement, or 
Reallocation projects, to ensure: 

(1) all proposed program participants will be eligible for the program component type 
selected; 
(2) the information provided in the project application and proposed activities are: 

(a) eligible and consistent with program requirements in the Rule; 
(b) eligible and consistent with DV Renewal, DV Reallocation and DV Bonus 
requirements in sections IV.D.1.d, and IV.D.1.e, and I.D.1.f of this NOFO; or 
(c) eligible and consistent with YHDP Renewal and YHDP Replacement project 
requirements which includes YHDP Reallocation provided in sections IV.D.1.h and 
IV.D.1.i of this NOFO;

(3) each project narrative is fully responsive to the question being asked and that it 
meets all the criteria for that question as required by this NOFO; 
(4) the data provided in various parts of the project application are consistent; and 
(5) all required attachments correspond to the list of attachments in e-snaps, must 
contain accurate and complete information and must be dated between November 1, 
2024 and January , 2026. 

c. Collaborative Applicant Submission Requirements. Collaborative Applicants must
submit the FY 2025 Consolidated application by the FY 2025 application submission 
deadline. HUD will consider the CoC Consolidated Application properly submitted for 
review when the Collaborative Applicant submits the FY 2025 CoC Application, the FY 
2025 CoC Priority Listing, and all FY 2025 project applications on behalf of the CoC. 
The FY 2025 CoC Application and the FY 2025 CoC Priority Listing are separate 
submissions in e-snaps; therefore, Collaborative Applicants must ensure both the CoC 
Application and the CoC Priority Listing, that includes all project applications either 
approved and ranked or rejected, are submitted in e-snaps prior to the CoC Program 
application submission deadline. 
The "Submit" button will not be available on the Submission Summary of the FY 2025 
CoC Application and FY 2025 CoC Priority Listing until all required sections of the 
application and all parts of the listings have been completed. Collaborative Applicants 
should review the Submission Summary form carefully to ensure no sections state 
"Please Complete." 
Collaborative Applicants should export a PDF copy of the Submission Summary form from 
the FY 2025 CoC Application and the FY 2025 CoC Priority Listing after they have been 
submitted to HUD and before closing their internet browser. This is the Collaborative 
Applicant's receipt of submission and proof of compliance with the FY 2025 application 
deadline. 
The CoC Consolidated Application includes the following: 

(1) FY 2025 CoC Application which includes the following: 

104



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VI. Submission Requirements and Deadlines FR-6900-N-25 Page 101 of 128 

(a) CoC Review, Score, and Ranking Procedures. The CoC’s written procedures 
that are publicly posted for all interested stakeholders and applicants that clearly 
describe the project-level review and ranking process that is used by the CoC to 
determine how CoC Program project applications submitted to the CoC are 
reviewed, scored, and ranked. 
(b) CoC Public Notice. A screenshot(s) from the CoC’s, or a partner website, that 
includes the date the CoC notified the public of its local competition process, the 
due date for project applications, and the full CoC Application and CoC Priority 
Listing that includes all Project Listings of project applications submitted to HUD as 
accepted (in the case of non-competitive CoC Planning and UFA costs), approved 
and ranked or rejected. 
(c) CoC Review and Ranking Process. Documents the process used by the CoC 
in the local competition to review, assess, and score new and renewal project 
applications, a copy of one scored project application form used by most renewal 
project applicants that includes the objective criteria and system performance 
criteria and their respective maximum point values and the actual points your CoC 
awarded to the project applicant; and the local competition selection results for 
new and renewal project applications. 
(d) Notification to Project Applicants of projects rejected or reduced. The 
notification of the action (rejection or reduction) that must be sent to the project 
applicant at least 15-days prior to the HUD application submission deadline, if a 
new or renewal project application was submitted to the CoC in the local 
competition and the CoC rejected it or reduced its funding request as part of the 
CoC’s local process. 
(e) Public Notification of Ranked Project Applications. The notification of action 
that all project applicants who submitted new and renewal project applications in 
the local CoC competition are notified at least 15-days prior to the HUD application 
submission deadline of the CoC’s acceptance that includes the ranked position of 
the project applications. This notification may be posted publicly or sent via email 
to individual project applicants. 
(f) PHA Administrative Plan. If the CoC is seeking points under section 
V.B.1.c.(11) of this NOFO, a copy or the relevant excerpt from the local PHA(s) 
administrative planning document(s), or other written policy developed between the 
CoC and the PHA(s) that describes the PHA(s) preference for persons 
experiencing homelessness. Instead of a relevant excerpt from the written plan, a 
letter from the PHA(s) that describes the PHA(s) preference for persons 
experiencing homelessness may be attached. 
(g) Leveraging Housing and Healthcare Resources. If the CoC is seeking points 
under section V.B.1.c.(12) and (13) written commitment(s), contract(s), or other 
formal written documents that demonstrate the number of housing subsidies, 
housing units, and healthcare resources that will be provided. 
(h) Projects to Serve Persons Defined as Homeless under paragraph (3) of 24 
CFR 578.3. If the CoC is seeking to serve persons defined as homeless under 

105



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VI. Submission Requirements and Deadlines FR-6900-N-25 Page 102 of 128 

paragraph (3) of the homeless definition, a list of projects that will serve persons 
defined as homeless under paragraph (3) of the homeless definition. 
(i) The FY 2025 HDX Competition Report. The FY 2025 HDX Competition Report 
contains data submitted to HUD via HUD’s Homelessness Data Exchange (HDX), 
including HIC, PIT count, and system performance data. 

(2) FY 2025 Project Application(s), including for each project application: 
(a) Charts, narrative responses, and attachments. 
(b) Documentation of Applicant and subrecipient Eligibility. All nonprofit 
project applicants must attach eligibility documentation to the Project Applicant 
Profile. If nonprofit subrecipients are included in a project application, subrecipient 
eligibility documentation must be attached to the project application. 
(c) HUD required forms. The following HUD required forms are built into e-snaps 
and must be fully completed and electronically signed before project applicants 
have access to the project application (see section IV.F.A of this NOFO). 

(3) FY 2025 CoC Priority Listing, including. The CoC Priority Listing in e-snaps 
must include the following completed forms, certifications and attachments: 

(a) Project Reallocation Form. The Reallocation form allows CoCs to indicate 
which eligible new projects, if any, will be reduced or eliminated through the 
reallocation process. 
(b) CoC and YHDP Project Listings. The CoC project listing forms require the 
following project applications to be ranked, with unique rank numbers, in order of 
priority. Any project not ranked with a unique rank number must be rejected. The 
forms under this requirement include: 

i. CoC New Projects (including CoC Bonus and CoC Reallocation projects;
ii. CoC Renewal Projects (including DV Renewal and Special NOFO Renewal
projects); 
iii. DV Bonus Projects;
iv. DV Reallocation Projects;
v. YHDP Renewal Projects;
vi. YHDP Replacement Projects (including YHDP Reallocation projects).

(c) CoC Planning and UFA Costs Project Application Listings. These project listing 
forms include the following non-ranked project applications: 

i. CoC Planning Project Listing; and
ii. UFA Costs Project Listing, if applicable.

Collaborative Applicants must ensure the CoC only submits one project application 
for CoC Planning, and if the CoC's Collaborative Applicant is a HUD-designated 
UFA, one UFA Costs project application. 
(d) Form HUD-2991, Certification of Consistency with the Consolidated Plan (See 
section IV.A.1 of this NOFO). 

106



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VI. Submission Requirements and Deadlines FR-6900-N-25 Page 103 of 128 

(e) Tribal Resolution, if applicable (See section IV.1.2 of this NOFO). 
d. Project Application Submissions.
Project applications must include the population(s) and subpopulation(s) they will serve, the 
type of housing and services they will provide, and the budget activities they are requesting. 
Project applicants must also provide documentation of applicant and subrecipient eligibility. 
All nonprofit project applicants must attach eligibility documentation to the Project Applicant 
Profile. If nonprofit subrecipients are included in a project application, subrecipient eligibility 
documentation must be attached to the project application. 
Collaborative Applicants applying for CoC Planning and UFA Costs (if designated as a UFA 
by HUD) must provide a description of the activities that will be carried out with CoC Program 
grant funds. 
Additionally, all project applicants must ensure their organization has a Code of Conduct that 
complies with the requirements of 2 CFR part 200, as may be amended from time to time, 
and is included on HUD’s website. If the organization's Code of Conduct does not appear on 
HUD's website, the project applicant must attach its Code of Conduct that includes all 
required information to its Project Applicant Profile in e-snaps. 
For more information on project applications, see section IV.D of this NOFO. 
e. Timely Submissions.
HUD will not fund applications that are not received on time. Also, failure to submit a 
complete CoC Consolidated Application may result in HUD finding that the CoC does not 
meet the requirements of the Act or its implementing regulations under 24 CFR 578.13. If the 
Secretary makes that finding, HUD may take remedial action to ensure fair distribution of 
grant funds to eligible entities within the CoC's geographic area, which includes the possibility 
that HUD will designate another eligible applicant to be the Collaborative Applicant for the 
CoC. In addition to the remedial actions listed in 24 CFR 578.13(a), HUD may also impose 
another remedial action, such as requiring the CoC to create new policies and procedures to 
ensure that the Collaborative Applicant performs its duties. 
f. Resolving Technical Difficulties.
CoC and project applicants experiencing technical difficulty with any part of the Application 
should notify HUD immediately for assistance and document all attempts to obtain 
assistance. Notification of technical difficulties are to be sent to CoCNOFO@hud.gov. HUD 
will not provide assistance directly related to content, only to troubleshoot submission issues. 
CoCs that are submitting new and renewal applications for FY 2025 CoC and YHDP funding 
should print the Submission Summary form for the FY 2025 CoC Priority Listing for proof of 
compliance with the FY 2025 application deadline. HUD will not give funding consideration to 
any Collaborative Applicant whose FY 2025 CoC Priority Listing is determined to be late and 
the Collaborative Applicant is unable to provide HUD with a record of submission that verifies 
the CoC Consolidated Application was submitted prior to the application deadline date and 
time. 
HUD strongly suggests that applicants use the "Export to PDF" functionality in e-snaps to 
save a hard copy of all submission documents for their records. This can be completed prior 

107

mailto:CoCNOFO@hud.gov


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VI. Submission Requirements and Deadlines FR-6900-N-25 Page 104 of 128 

to or after submission. 
If after notice and reasonable opportunity to be heard, HUD finds pursuant to 24 CFR 578.13, 
that one or more CoCs have failed to comply with the requirements of the Act and the Rule, 
HUD may, solely at its discretion and only if sufficient funds become available by recapture, 
publish a new NOFO for eligible applicants in CoCs that HUD determined do not meet the 
requirements of the Act and program regulations. 
Need Help? See the Contact and Support section of this NOFO. 

2. Electronic Submission Application Waiver
You may request a waiver from the requirement to submit your application electronically. The 
request must show good cause and detail why you are technologically unable to submit 
electronically. An example of good cause may include: a valid power or internet service 
disruption in the area of your business office. Lack of SAM.gov registration is not good cause. 
Use the information in the Contact and Support section of this NOFO to submit a written 
request to HUD. You must submit your waiver request at least 15 calendar days before 
the application deadline.  
The regulatory framework of HUD's electronic submission requirement is the final rule 
established in 24 CFR 5.1005. CoCs seeking a waiver of the electronic submission 
requirement must request a waiver in accordance with 24 CFR 5.1005. If a Collaborative 
Applicant finds it cannot submit its application electronically and must seek a waiver of the 
electronic grant submission requirement, its request must be postmarked no later than 60 
days after the publication date of this NOFO. To expedite the receipt and review of each 
request, Collaborative Applicants may email their written requests to Norm Suchar, Director, 
Office of Special Needs Assistance Program (SNAPS) at CoCNOFO@hud.gov. If HUD does 
not have sufficient time to process the waiver request, HUD will not grant a waiver. HUD will 
not consider paper applications received without a prior approved waiver or after the 
established deadline. 

C. Other Submissions 
1. Intergovernmental Review
This NOFO is not subject to Executive Order 12372. No action is needed. 

2. Technical Application Errors
HUD may contact you to fix a technical error with your timely application after the due date. 
Technical errors that you may fix are not submitted to satisfy merit review criteria. And you 
may not fix technical errors related to threshold review except eligibility entity documentation. 
Examples of technical errors include: inconsistencies in funding requests; improper signature 
on a form; a missing or incomplete form; and nonprofit status documentation. 
HUD will send notice to the authorized organization representative from the SF-424 to fix a 
technical error. 
Your application is not eligible for funding, if you fail to fix the error to HUD’s satisfaction and 
by the due date in HUD’s notice. HUD will not review information submitted after the 
application due date in HUD’s notice.  

108

https://sam.gov
mailto:CoCNOFO@hud.gov
https://www.archives.gov/federal-register/codification/executive-order/12372.html


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VI. Submission Requirements and Deadlines FR-6900-N-25 Page 105 of 128 

Applicants should compare their application submission with the requirements in the CoC 
Program NOFO. The FY 2025 Continuum of Care and Youth Homeless Demonstration 
Program Grants NOFO located on Grants.gov is HUD’s official NOFO. If a discrepancy in the 
CoC Program NOFO posted on Grants.gov or other information provided in any other version 
or supporting documentation is found, please notify HUD immediately as indicated in section 
VIII of this NOFO. HUD welcomes and is prepared to receive calls from individuals who are 
deaf or hard of hearing, as well as individuals with speech or communication disabilities. To 
learn more about how to make an accessible telephone call, please visit 
https://www.fcc.gov/consumers/guides/telecommunications-relay-service-trs. 
HUD will post any corrections or amendments to a CoC Program NOFO on Grants.gov. 
For projects conditionally selected for award, HUD verifies that your organization has an 
active SAM registration prior to release of awarded funds and will withhold processing funds if 
your organization’s SAM registration has expired or isn’t consistent with the information 
provided on the SAM.gov website. A UEI discrepancy may also occur if HUD approves a 
grant to be amended to a new recipient (see section V.D.7 of this NOFO). 
UEI discrepancies are a curable deficiency that may be corrected by the applicant with timely 
action. If a UEI discrepancy isn’t resolved within the timeframe prescribed by the Notification 
of Curable Deficiency the applicant receives from HUD, HUD may reject the project. 

a. Fix Errors in Electronic Applications
To fix an error in response to a HUD notice, you must email the corrections to HUD at 
CoCNOFO@hud.gov. 
HUD allows 7 calendar days from the date of the HUD notice to fix an error. If the due date to 
fix an error falls on a Saturday, Sunday, Federal holiday, or on a day when HUD’s 
Headquarters office in Washington, DC is closed, then the due date is the next business day. 

b. Fix Errors in Paper Applications
You must fix an error in your paper application, in accordance with HUD’s notice. If your 
paper application includes an incorrect UEI, HUD will request you supply the correct UEI. 

D. False Statements 
By submitting an application, you acknowledge your understanding that providing false or 
misleading information during any part of the application, award, or performance phase of an 
award may result in criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including but not limited to: 
fines, restitution, and/or imprisonment under 18 USC 1001, 18 USC 1012, 18 USC 1010, 18 
USC 1014, or 18 USC 287; treble damages and civil penalties under the False Claims Act, 31 
USC 3729 et seq.; double damages and civil penalties under the Administrative False Claims 
Act, 31 USC Sections 3801-3812; civil recovery of award funds; suspension and/or 
debarment from all federal procurement and non-procurement transactions, FAR Part 9.4 or 2 
CFR Part 180; and other remedies including termination of active HUD award. 

109

https://www.fcc.gov/consumers/guides/telecommunications-relay-service-trs
mailto:CoCNOFO@hud.gov


VII. POST - AWARD REQUIREMENTS
AND ADMINISTRATION 

VII. Post-Award Requirements and Administration

A. Administrative, National and Departmental Policy Requirements and General Terms and Conditions 

B. Environmental Requirements 

C. Remedies for Noncompliance 

D. Reporting 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

110



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VII. Post-Award Requirements and Administration FR-6900-N-25 Page 107 of 128 

VII. POST-AWARD REQUIREMENTS AND ADMINISTRATION

A. Administrative, National and Departmental Policy Requirements, and 
General Terms and Conditions  
You must follow the applicable provisions in the Administrative, National & Departmental 
Policy Requirements and Terms for HUD Financial Assistance – 2025. You must comply with 
these applicable provisions: 
1. The Fair Housing Act (42 USC 3601-3619) and Civil Rights laws which encompass the Fair
Housing Act and related authorities (24 CFR 5.105(a)) 
2. Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH) requirements, (42 USC § 3608(e)(5)) and
implementing regulations at 24 CFR 5.150 et seq.as amended by 90 FR 11020. 
3. Economic Opportunities for Low-and Very Low-income Persons (12 USC 1701u)
requirements, including those listed at 24 CFR part 75 
4. Compliance with Immigration Requirements (8 U.S.C. 1601-1646; Executive Order 14218)
5. Accessible Technology requirements, (29 USC § 794d, 29 USC 794, 42 USC 12131-
12165) and implementing regulations at 36 CFR part 1194 (Section 508 regulations),24 CFR 
§ 8.6 (Section 504 effective communication regulations), 28 CFR part 35, subpart H (DOJ
Web Access Rule), and 28 CFR part 35, subpart E (DOJ’s Title II communications 
regulations)  
6. Ensuring, when possible, small businesses, minority businesses, women's business
enterprises, veteran-owned businesses, and labor surplus area firms receive consideration 
consistent with 2 CFR 200.321 
7. Equal Participation of Faith-based Organizations in HUD Programs and Activities
consistent with 42 U.S.C. 2000bb et seq.; 42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq.; 24 CFR 5.109; and 
Executive Orders 14202, Eradicating Anti-Christian Bias and EO 14205, Establishment of the 
White House Faith Office. 
8. Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act (42 USC § 4601
et seq.) (URA) requirements, 49 CFR part 24, and applicable program regulations 
9. Participation in HUD-Sponsored Program Evaluation (12 USC 1701z-1; 12 USC 1702z-2;
24 CFR part 60; and FR-6278-N-01) 
10. OMB Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (2 CFR part 200) 
11. Drug-Free Workplace requirements (2 CFR part 2429)
12. HUD requirements related to safeguarding resident/client files (e.g., 2 CFR 200.303(e))
13. The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 (2 CFR part 170)
(FFATA), as amended 
15. Accessibility for Persons with Disabilities requirements (29 USC § 794) and implementing

111

https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/CFO/documents/Administrative-Requirements-Addendum-FY2025.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/CFO/documents/Administrative-Requirements-Addendum-FY2025.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2020-title42/pdf/USCODE-2020-title42-chap45-subchapI-sec3601.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2010-title42/pdf/USCODE-2010-title42-chap45-subchapI-sec3608.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-5/subpart-A/subject-group-ECFRb064b8192adda7c/section-5.150
https://www.govinfo.gov/app/details/USCODE-2023-title12/USCODE-2023-title12-chap13-sec1701u
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-75
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-75
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/02/25/2025-03137/ending-taxpayer-subsidization-of-open-borders
https://www.govinfo.gov/app/details/USCODE-2011-title29/USCODE-2011-title29-chap16-subchapV-sec794d
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-8/subpart-A/section-8.6
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-8/subpart-A/section-8.6
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-28/chapter-I/part-35/subpart-E
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.321
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2023-title42/pdf/USCODE-2023-title42-chap61-subchapI-sec4601.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2023-title42/pdf/USCODE-2023-title42-chap61-subchapI-sec4601.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-49/subtitle-A/part-24
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-B/chapter-XXIV/part-2429
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/section-200.303#p-200.303(e)
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-I/part-170
https://www.govinfo.gov/app/details/USCODE-2011-title29/USCODE-2011-title29-chap16-subchapV-sec794


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VII. Post-Award Requirements and Administration FR-6900-N-25 Page 108 of 128 

regulations at 24 CFR parts 8 and 100; 28 CFR part 35 
16. Applicable Violence Against Women Act requirements in the Housing Chapter of VAWA
(34 USC § 12491-12496) 24 CFR part 5, subpart L, and program-specific regulations. 
17. Conducting Business in Accordance with Ethical Standards/Code of Conduct, including 2
CFR 200.317, 2 CFR 200.318(c) and other applicable conflicts of interest requirements 
18. Build America, Buy America (BABA) Act procurement purchase requirements
20. Environmental requirements that apply in accordance with 24 CFR part 50 or part 58
22. Unless prohibited by law and to the extent permitted under the Freedom of Information
Act (FOIA), your application and post-award content may be released to the public in 
response to FOIA requests, except to the extent that certain information may be withheld 
under a FOIA exemption (5 USC § 552(b); 24 CFR 15.107(b)). HUD may also share your 
information within HUD or with other Federal agencies if HUD determines that sharing is 
relevant to the respective program’s objectives. 
23. Waste, Fraud, Abuse, and Whistleblower Protections. 41 USC § 4712, which includes
informing your employees in writing of their rights and remedies, in the predominant native 
language of the workforce. Under 41 U.S.C. § 4712, employees of a contractor, 
subcontractor, grantee, subgrantee, and personal services contractor may not be discharged, 
demoted, or otherwise discriminated against as a reprisal for disclosing information that the 
employee reasonably believes is evidence of gross mismanagement of a Federal contract or 
grant, a gross waste of Federal funds, an abuse of authority relating to a Federal contract or 
grant, a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety, or a violation of law, rule, or 
regulation related to a Federal contract (including the competition for or negotiation of a 
contract) or grant. (See Federal Contractor or Grantee Protections | Office of Inspector 
General, Department of Housing and Urban Development (hudoig.gov))  
24. Implementing Presidential Executive Actions affecting federal financial assistance
programs, as advised by the Department, unless otherwise restricted by law: Executive Order 
(EO) 14219 (Ensuring Lawful Governance and Implementing the President’s “Department of 
Government Efficiency” Deregulatory Initiative); 14218 (Ending Taxpayer Subsidization of 
Open Borders); guidance resulting from the White House Task Force established by 14202 
(Eradicating Anti-Christian Bias) and the Senior Advisor to the White House Faith Office 
assigned by 14205 (Establishment of the White House Faith Office); 14182 (Enforcing the 
Hyde Amendment); 14173 (Ending Illegal Discrimination and Restoring Merit-Based 
Opportunity); 14168 (Defending Women From Gender Ideology Extremism and Restoring 
Biological Truth to the Federal Government); 14151 (Ending Radical and Wasteful 
Government DEI Programs and Preferencing); and 14148 (Initial Rescissions of Harmful 
Executive Orders and Actions) 
In addition: 

1. Awards made under this NOFO will not be used to conduct activities that subsidize or
facilitate racial preferences or other forms of illegal discrimination, including activities
where race or intentional proxies for race will be used as a selection criterion for
employment or program participation; or conduct activities that rely on or otherwise
use a definition of sex as other than binary in humans 14332 (Improving Oversight of

112

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-8
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/part-100
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-28/chapter-I/part-35
https://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?path=/prelim@title34/subtitle1/chapter121/subchapter3/partL/subpart2&edition=prelim
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-5/subpart-L
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.317
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.317
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.318
https://www.hud.gov/hud-partners/baba
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-50
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-58
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2023-title5/pdf/USCODE-2023-title5-partI-chap5-subchapII-sec552.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/part-15/subpart-B
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2012-title41/pdf/USCODE-2012-title41-subtitleI-divsnC-chap47-sec4712.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2012-title41/pdf/USCODE-2012-title41-subtitleI-divsnC-chap47-sec4712.pdf
https://www.hudoig.gov/fraud/whistleblower-rights/federal-contractor-grantee-protections
https://www.hudoig.gov/fraud/whistleblower-rights/federal-contractor-grantee-protections
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/02/25/2025-03138/ensuring-lawful-governance-and-implementing-the-presidents-department-of-government-efficiency
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/02/25/2025-03137/ending-taxpayer-subsidization-of-open-borders
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/02/12/2025-02611/eradicating-anti-christian-bias
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/02/12/2025-02635/establishment-of-the-white-house-faith-office
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/01/31/2025-02175/enforcing-the-hyde-amendment
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/01/31/2025-02097/ending-illegal-discrimination-and-restoring-merit-based-opportunity
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/01/30/2025-02090/defending-women-from-gender-ideology-extremism-and-restoring-biological-truth-to-the-federal
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/01/29/2025-01953/ending-radical-and-wasteful-government-dei-programs-and-preferencing
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/01/28/2025-01901/initial-rescissions-of-harmful-executive-orders-and-actions
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/01/28/2025-01901/initial-rescissions-of-harmful-executive-orders-and-actions
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/08/12/2025-15344/improving-oversight-of-federal-grantmaking


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VII. Post-Award Requirements and Administration FR-6900-N-25 Page 109 of 128 

Federal Grantmaking). 
2. Awards made under this NOFO will not be used to fund, promote, encourage,

subsidize or facilitate the use of illicit drugs.
3. Awards made under this NOFO will not be used to fund any project, service provider,

or organization that operates drug injection sites or “safe consumption sites,”
knowingly distributes drug paraphernalia on or off of property under their control,
permits the use or distribution of illicit drugs on property under their control, or
conducts any of these activities under the pretext of “harm reduction.” 14321 (Ending
Crime and Disorder on America’s Streets).

4. All agreements or contracts made with subrecipients under this NOFO must contain
the identical terms and conditions as those in the grant agreement issued by HUD.
Any additional or conflicting terms and conditions must be approved by HUD.

B. Environmental Requirements 
1. Environmental Review
You must follow these environmental review requirements, including regulations at: 
24 CFR part 50 
24 CFR part 58 
Notwithstanding 24 CFR 578.31 and 24 CFR 578.99(a) of the Rule, and in accordance with 
Section 100261(3) of MAP-21 (Pub. L. 112-141, 126 Stat. 405), activities under this NOFO 
are subject to environmental review by a responsible entity under HUD regulations at 24 CFR 
part 58 or by HUD under 24 CFR part 50. 

a. All HUD assisted activities, even projects that only involve exempt activities, require
some level of environmental review. Two types of projects are Categorically Excluded 
from review under the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and not subject to 
compliance with the laws and authorities listed under 24 CFR 58.5 (CENST): All 
scattered-site projects where program participants choose their own unit and are not 
restricted to units within a pre-determined specific project site or sites are categorized in 
24 CFR 58.35(b)(1) as CENST. This includes both tenant-based rental assistance and 
tenant-based leasing projects where program participants choose their own unit and do 
not involve any physical work or impacts beyond routine maintenance as defined by 
Notice CPD-16-02: Guidance for Categorizing an Activity as Maintenance for Compliance 
with HUD Environmental Regulations. The Exempt/CENST environmental review form is 
only required for each project, not every unit. 
b. For activities under a grant to a recipient other than a state or unit of general local
government that generally would be subject to review under 24 CFR part 58, HUD may 
make a finding in accordance with 24 CFR 58.11(d) and may itself perform the 
environmental review under the provisions of 24 CFR part 50 if the recipient objects in 
writing to the responsible entity’s performing the review under part 24 CFR part 58. 
c. Irrespective of whether the responsible entity in accordance with 24 CFR part 58 (or
HUD in accordance with 24 CFR part 50) performs the environmental review, the recipient 

113

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2025/07/29/2025-14391/ending-crime-and-disorder-on-americas-streets
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-50?toc=1
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-58?toc=1


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VII. Post-Award Requirements and Administration FR-6900-N-25 Page 110 of 128 

must supply all available, relevant information necessary for the responsible entity (or 
HUD, if applicable) to perform for each property any required environmental review. The 
recipient also must carry out mitigating measures required by the responsible entity (or 
HUD, if applicable) or select alternative property. 

d. The recipient, its project partners, and their contractors may not acquire, rehabilitate,
convert, lease, repair, dispose of, demolish, or construct property for a project under this 
NOFO, or commit or expend HUD or non-HUD funds for such eligible activities under this 
NOFO, until the responsible entity (as defined by 24 CFR 58.2(a)(7)) has completed the 
environmental review procedures required by 24 CFR part 58 and the environmental 
certification and Request for Release of Funds (RROF) have been approved or HUD has 
performed an environmental review under 24 CFR part 50 and the recipient has received 
HUD approval of the project. HUD will not release grant funds if the recipient or any other 
party commits grant funds (i.e., incurs any costs or expenditures to be paid or reimbursed 
with such funds) before the recipient submits and HUD approves its RROF (where such 
submission is required). 

2. NOFO Impact Determination Related to the Environment
This NOFO has no significant impact related to the environment. HUD has made a Finding of 
No Significant Impact (FONSI) as required by HUD regulations at 24 CFR part 50, which 
implement section 102(2)(C) of the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (42 USC § 
4332(2)(c)). To learn more about this FONSI, go to HUD’s Funding Opportunities web page. 

3. Lead-Based Paint Requirements
You must follow the lead-based paint rules below if you fund any work on pre-1978 housing. 
This includes buying, leasing, support services, operating, or work that disturbs painted 
surfaces. 

• HUD’s rules (Lead Disclosure Rule; and Lead Safe Housing Rule).

• EPA’s rules (Renovation, Repair and Painting Rule, and Lead Abatement, Inspection
and Risk Assessment Rule).

You must discuss the Lead Disclosure Rule if you fund education or counseling on buying or 
renting housing that may have been built before 1978. You must also discuss the Lead Safe 
Housing Rule if the education or counseling focuses on buying or renting HUD-assisted pre-
1978 housing.  

C. Remedies for Noncompliance 
HUD may terminate all or a part of your award as described under 2 CFR 200.340 through 
200.343 pursuant to the terms and conditions of your award, including, to the extent 
authorized by law, if an award no longer effectuates the program goals or agency priorities. 
HUD may also impose specific conditions on your award or take other remedies as described 
by 2 CFR 200.339 through 200.343, if you do not comply with your award terms and 
conditions. 
For more information on CoC Program sanctions and remedies for noncompliance see 24 

114

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-50?toc=1
https://hud.gov/grants
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/lead-based-paint/
https://www.epa.gov/lead/lead-renovation-repair-and-painting-program
https://www.epa.gov/lead/lead-abatement-inspection-and-risk-assessment
https://www.epa.gov/lead/lead-abatement-inspection-and-risk-assessment
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/part-35/subpart-A


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VII. Post-Award Requirements and Administration FR-6900-N-25 Page 111 of 128 

CFR 578.107. 

D. Reporting 
HUD requires recipients to submit the performance, financial, and program reports as 
outlined below. You must comply with these reporting requirements to remain eligible for 
HUD funding. See Section VII.C. of this NOFO.  
HUD is implementing new grants management and reporting tools, which will be rolled out for 
your use in the near term. As a grantee, you will be required to report on grant performance 
and financial activities (including vendor and cash disbursement supporting details for 
yourself and your sub-recipients) using these new tools when they are released. HUD will 
work with you to support your transition to this new reporting environment. Once 
implemented, timely reporting in this new environment will be mandatory. HUD reserves the 
right to exercise all available rights and remedies for any noncompliance with these grants 
management and financial reporting requirements, to include requiring 100% review or 
stopping future disbursements altogether if reporting is not timely submitted.  

Report Description When 

Federal Funding 
Accountability and 
Transparency Act (FFATA) 

• Awards equal to or
greater than $30,000

• Data on executive
compensation and first-
tier subawards

• See Public Law 109-
282 and 2 CFR part
170 

• HUD reports initial
prime recipient data to
usaspending.gov

• Submit via SAM.gov

See 2 CFR Appendix A to Part 
170(a)(2)(ii) 

Reporting on Recipient 
Integrity and Performance 
Matters 

• Total value of all
current Federal awards
exceed $10,000,000 for
any period of time
during the period of
performance of this
Federal award

• See Appendix XII to 2
CFR 200

• Submit via SAM.gov

See 2 CFR Appendix-XII to 
Part 200 I.(d) 

115

https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BILLS-109s2590enr/pdf/BILLS-109s2590enr.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BILLS-109s2590enr/pdf/BILLS-109s2590enr.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-I/part-170
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-I/part-170
https://www.usaspending.gov/
https://sam.gov/
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/part-170/appendix-Appendix%20A%20to%20Part%20170
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/part-170/appendix-Appendix%20A%20to%20Part%20170
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/appendix-Appendix%20XII%20to%20Part%20200
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/appendix-Appendix%20XII%20to%20Part%20200
https://sam.gov/
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/appendix-Appendix%20XII%20to%20Part%20200#p-Appendix-XII-to-Part-200(I.)(d)
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/appendix-Appendix%20XII%20to%20Part%20200#p-Appendix-XII-to-Part-200(I.)(d)


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VII. Post-Award Requirements and Administration FR-6900-N-25 Page 112 of 128 

Report Description When 

Annual Performance Report 
(APR) 

• Collect and report data
use of funds annually.

• Projects receiving
funds for acquisition,
new construction, or
rehabilitation must
submit APRs for 15
years from the date of
initial occupancy or the
date of initial service
provision.

See 24 CFR 578.103(e) 

Federal Financial Report, SF-
425 

• Summary of key
financial data

• See 2 CFR 200.328

See 2 CFR 200.328 or award 
terms 

Race, Ethnicity, and Other 
Data Reporting 

Recipients that provide HUD-
funded program benefits to 
individuals or families, report 
data on the race, color, 
religion, sex, national origin, 
age, disability, and family 
characteristics of persons and 
households funded by this 
program. 

Annually through the 
Homeless Data Exchange 
submission. 

Audited financial statement 

Recipient’s organizational 
structure, any sub-grantees or 
sub-recipients, and how each 
disbursement of grant funds 
was applied to an eligible cost 
throughout the life of the grant 
to receive disbursements of 
Federal funds. 

No less than annually. 

1. Program Specific Reporting Requirements.
a. In accordance with program regulations at 24 CFR 578.103, project recipients must
maintain records within the timeframe required and make any reports that HUD may 
require. Project recipients may report the data as part of their APR submission to HUD. 
Also, project recipients who expend $750,000 or more in 1 year in federal awards must 
have a single or program-specific audit for that year in accordance with the provisions of 2 

116

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/section-578.103
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/section-200.328
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/section-200.328


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VII. Post-Award Requirements and Administration FR-6900-N-25 Page 113 of 128 

CFR part 200, subpart F. 
b. Section 3 Reporting Regulations. Recipients are required to report their Section 3
activities per 24 CFR 75.25 if funds were awarded for housing rehabilitation, housing 
construction, and other public constructions. See HUD’s Section 3 website for additional 
information including annual reporting requirements. 
c. Award notices may also include requirements for sub-award reporting in compliance
with the requirements of the Federal Financial Assistance Accountability and 
Transparency Act of 2006 (Pub. L. 109-282) (FFATA) and Section 872 of the Duncan 
Hunter National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2009 (Pub. L. 110-417), 
referred to as “Section 872.” See the General Section for further information. 
e. An estimate of the reporting and recordkeeping burden of the CoC Program can be
found in the Federal Register Publication of the Rule. 

2. Administrative and Other Program Requirements.
Federal agencies are required to measure the performance of their programs. HUD captures 
this information from monitoring visits and APRs 

117

https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/field_policy_mgt/section3
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2020/03/24/2020-06178/30-day-notice-of-proposed-information-collection-recordkeeping-for-huds-continuum-of-care-coc


VIII. CONTACT AND SUPPORT

VIII. Contact and Support

A. Agency Contact 

B. Grants.gov 

C. Sam.gov 

D. Debriefing 

E. Applicant Experience Survey 

F.  Other Online Resources 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

118



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VIII. Contact and Support FR-6900-N-25 Page 115 of 128 

VIII. CONTACT AND SUPPORT
Individuals who are deaf or hard of hearing, as well as individuals who have speech or
communication disabilities may use a relay service. To learn more about how to make an
accessible telephone call, visit the webpage for the Federal Communications Commission.

A. Agency Contact
1. Program and Application Requirements
Name: HUD Office of Community Planning and Development 
Phone: 800-347-3735 
Email: CoCNOFO@hud.gov 
Note: HUD’s assistance is limited by the standards at 24 CFR 4.26. 
HUD staff will be available to provide general clarification on the content of this NOFO; 
however, HUD staff are prohibited from assisting any applicant in preparing the application(s) 
in e-snaps. 

a. Local HUD Community Planning Development (CPD) Office. Questions regarding
specific program requirements should be directed to the local HUD CPD field office, a 
directory of which can be found at 
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/field_policy_mgt/localoffices. 
b. Training and Resources. Collaborative Applicants and project applicants that need
assistance completing the applications in e-snaps or understanding the program 
requirements under the CoC Program may access the Rule, training materials, and program 
resources via https://www.hud.gov/hud-partners/community-coc. 
c. Questions. CoCs, Collaborative Applicants, and project applicants that require information
and technical support concerning this NOFO and the application in e-snaps may submit an 
inquiry to CoCNOFO@hud.gov. Starting 2 days prior to the application deadline, this email 
address will respond only to emergency technical support questions up to the deadline of 
8:00 PM EST on January 14, 2026. Applicants experiencing technical difficulty should contact 
CoCNOFO@hud.gov immediately for assistance and document their attempts to obtain 
assistance. 

2. Paper Application Waiver Request
Name: HUD Office of Community Planning and Development 
Email: CoCNOFO@hud.gov 
Phone: (202) 708-4300 
HUD Organization: Community Planning and Development 
Street: 451 7th Street SW 
City: Washington  
DC DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

119

https://www.fcc.gov/consumers/guides/telecommunications-relay-service-trs
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/section-4.26
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/field_policy_mgt/localoffices
https://www.hud.gov/hud-partners/community-coc
mailto:CoCNOFO@hud.gov
mailto:CoCNOFO@hud.gov


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VIII. Contact and Support FR-6900-N-25 Page 116 of 128 

20410 
HUD Reform Act. HUD is prohibited from disclosing covered selection information during the 
selection process. The selection process includes NOFO development and publication, and 
concludes with the announcement of selected recipients of financial assistance. HUD will not 
assist you with completing your application. 
HUD will only return calls related to paper application requests. All other calls will not be 
returned. 
All other requests or questions regarding this NOFO must be sent via email to 
CoCNOFO@hud.gov 

B. esnaps.hud.gov 
CoCs, Collaborative Applicants, and project applicants that require information and technical 
support concerning this NOFO and the application in e-snaps may submit an inquiry to 
CoCNOFO@hud.gov. Starting 2 days prior to the application deadline, this email address will 
respond only to emergency technical support questions 

C. SAM.gov 
If you need help, you can call 866-606-8220 or live chat with the Federal Service Desk. 

D. Debriefing and Appeals 
1. After public announcement of awards, HUD will debrief the Collaborative Applicant upon
your written request. Submit your written request to the agency contact for program and 
application requirements in this NOFO. HUD may limit the information provided to protect the 
integrity of the competition. 
2. You may appeal an application decision or a HUD funding decision. Email your appeal to
snapsappeals@hud.gov. The subject line of your email must include the CoC Number, 
“Appeal Notice,” and type of appeal, i.e., Participation, HUD Error, or Consolidated Plan 
Certification. A sample email Subject Line is, Subject: XX-500 – Appeal Notice–Consolidated 
Plan Certification. 
24 CFR 578.35 provides the appeal process options. Sections 578.35(b)(3), (b)(4), (c)(1), and 
(d)(2) authorize HUD to establish requirements for the form and manner of submissions for 
appeals by Solo Applicants, applicants with denied or decreased funding, and from 
competing CoCs. For HUD to consider an appeal under 24 CFR 578.35(b) or (c), the solo 
project applicant must follow the applicable application process set forth in this NOFO. This 
NOFO also provides guidance to CoCs and applicants regarding appeals of a jurisdiction’s 
refusal to sign the Consolidated Plan certification for a project under 24 CFR 578.35(c). 
Additionally, HUD is clarifying the impact that Solo Applicant appeals will have on HUD 
signing grant agreements for funds awarded under this NOFO. If HUD receives one or more 
Solo Applicant appeals from a CoC, HUD will determine the amount of funding the Solo 
Applicant(s) have requested which may delay signing grant agreements for the awarded 
project(s) listed at the bottom of the CoC’s Priority Listing that has requested funding under 
this NOFO equal to double the amount requested by the Solo Applicant(s). Refer to the Solo 
Applicant appeal process in section VIII.D.4 of this NOFO for additional information about the 

120

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-4/subpart-B
mailto:CoCNOFO@hud.gov
https://www.fsd.gov/gsafsd_sp
mailto:snapsappeals@hud.gov


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VIII. Contact and Support FR-6900-N-25 Page 117 of 128 

Solo Application appeal process. 

Finally, for the purposes of the appeals identified in this NOFO where 24 CFR 578.35 
requires that all evidence be sent to the CoC and that the CoC respond to evidence, this 
means that correspondence to the CoC should be addressed to the CoC-designated 
Collaborative Applicant and all correspondence to HUD from the CoC should be addressed 
from the CoC’s designated Collaborative Applicant. If the CoC has authorized another entity 
other than the Collaborative Applicant to respond to the appeals identified in this NOFO on its 
behalf, it should notify HUD by sending an email to snapsappeals@hud.gov. 
3. Types of Appeals.
The provision at 24 CFR part 578 sets forth the following types of appeals: 

a. Solo Applicants. A process for eligible project applicants that attempted to participate
in their CoC planning process and believe they were denied the right to participate in a 
reasonable manner. 
b. Denied or Decreased Funding. A process for eligible applicants that are denied funds
by HUD or that requested more funds than HUD awarded to them. 
c. Consolidated Plan Certification. A process for eligible applicants whose jurisdiction
refused to provide a Certification of Consistency with the Consolidated Plan (form HUD-
2990). 
d. Competing CoCs. A process when more than one CoC selects the same geographic
area, for eligible applicants of lower-scoring CoCs, to appeal to HUD’s decision to fund 
the competing CoC. Should two or more CoCs select the same geographic codes 
associated with formula areas during the CoC Program Registration process, HUD will 
use the competing CoC process provided by 24 CFR 578.35(d). 

4. Solo Applicant.
Per the Act, “A solo applicant may submit an application to the Secretary for a grant under 
subsection (a) and be awarded such grant on the same basis as such grants are awarded to 
other applicants based on the criteria described in section 427, but only if the Secretary 
determines that the solo applicant has attempted to participate in the continuum of care 
process but was not permitted to participate in a reasonable manner. The Secretary may 
award such grants directly to such applicants in a manner determined to be appropriate by 
the Secretary.” 
To apply as a solo applicant, the project applicant must submit a Solo Applicant Project 
Application in e-snaps by the application submission deadline of January 14, 2026 at 8:00 PM 
EST. Additionally, the solo applicant, Collaborative Applicant, and HUD must take the 
following steps (See 24 CFR 578.35 for more information): 

a. Written Notice of Intent to Appeal. The solo applicant must submit a written notice of
intent to appeal, with a copy to the CoC, with their funding application. 
b. No later than 30 days after the date that HUD announces the awards, the solo
applicant shall submit in writing, with a copy to the Collaborative Applicant, all relevant 
evidence supporting its claim. The submission shall be emailed to 

121

mailto:snapsappeals@hud.gov


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VIII. Contact and Support FR-6900-N-25 Page 118 of 128 

snapsappeals@hud.gov. 
c. The CoC has 30 days from the date of its receipt of the solo applicant's evidence to
respond to HUD in writing, with a copy to the solo applicant. The submission must be 
emailed to snapsappeals@hud.gov. 
d. HUD will notify the solo applicant and the CoC of its decision within 60 days of receipt
of the CoC’s response. 
e. If HUD finds that the solo applicant was not permitted to participate in the Continuum of
Care planning process in a reasonable manner, then HUD may award a grant to the solo 
applicant when funds next become available and may direct the Continuum of Care to 
take remedial steps to ensure reasonable participation in the future. HUD may also 
reduce the award to the Continuum's applicant(s). 

5. Denied or Decreased Funding.
Eligible applicants, including project applicants and Collaborative Applicants, that submitted 
an application to HUD in response to this NOFO, that were either not awarded funds by HUD, 
or that requested more funds than HUD awarded, may appeal HUD’s decision within 45 days 
after the final funding announcement. HUD will only consider for funding or additional funding 
applicants the CoC ranked within the CoC’s maximum amount available. Collaborative 
Applicants that submitted CoC planning, and if applicable, UFA Costs project applications can 
appeal decreased funding if they can demonstrate HUD decreased the submitted project 
application's funding request to less than 5 percent of the CoC’s FPRN or $1,250,000; 
whichever is less. To appeal HUD’s decision, the applicant must submit a written appeal to 
HUD, with a copy to the authorized representative from the CoC’s designated Collaborative 
Applicant. The written appeal must include evidence demonstrating HUD error and follow the 
instructions in this section. 

The applicant must submit its written appeal by email to snapsappeals@hud.gov, from the 
organization’s email address on the organization’s letterhead and signed by the authorized 
representative–electronic signatures are acceptable. 

a. Denied Funding. To appeal HUD’s decision, the applicant must submit a written
appeal to HUD using the process outlined in Section VIII.D.6 of this NOFO within 45 days 
of the date of the funding announcement of the conditional awards from HUD, with a copy 
to the authorized representative from the CoC’s designated Collaborative Applicant. 

(1) Projects, including projects for CoC Planning funds and Unified Funding Agency 
(UFA) costs, could have been rejected by HUD because: 

(a) the individual project application failed to meet project eligibility, project quality, 
and project renewal thresholds set forth in this NOFO; 
(b) the individual project application met project eligibility, project quality, and 
project renewal thresholds set forth in this NOFO, but was ranked in a position 
where a portion of the grant funds was outside the CoC’s maximum award amount, 
and after HUD reduced its funding to fit within the CoC’s maximum award amount, 
HUD determined that the project was no longer feasible; or 
(c) HUD did not have sufficient funding to fund all eligible projects ranked within 

122

mailto:snapsappeals@hud.gov
mailto:snapsappeals@hud.gov


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VIII. Contact and Support FR-6900-N-25 Page 119 of 128 

the CoC’s maximum award amount. 
(2) For applicants that were fully denied funding for a grant, the applicant must provide 
evidence that demonstrates HUD error in not awarding the grant. Documentation 
submitted by the applicant must include: 

(a) documentation that the project was ranked within the maximum award amount 
available to the CoC; 
(b) evidence from the project application supporting the applicant’s claim that the 
project application met project eligibility, project quality, and project renewal 
thresholds set forth in this NOFO; and 
(c) evidence that the applicant believes HUD failed to follow its selection threshold 
criteria set forth in this NOFO, which resulted in the project not being funded. 

(3) For applicants that were denied funding due to the individual project’s funding 
being decreased to such a level that the project was no longer feasible, documentation 
submitted by the applicant must include: 

(a) documentation that the project was ranked within the maximum award amount 
available to the CoC; 
(b) evidence from the project application supporting the applicant’s claim that the 
project application met project eligibility and project quality thresholds set forth in 
this NOFO; 
(c) evidence that the applicant believes HUD failed to follow its selection threshold 
criteria set forth in this NOFO which resulted in the project not being funded (e.g., 
selecting a lower-scored project within the CoC or a similar project from another 
CoC); and 
(d) the evidence in section VI.B.1.b of this NOFO as well as evidence for 
decreased funding in section VIII.D.5.b of this NOFO. 

(4) For CoCs that were denied funding due to the score of the CoC Application or the 
score of the project application not being high enough to result in the funding of 
project(s) within the CoC, and the lower score for one or both application types was 
the result of HUD error, the CoC may appeal the CoC or project application score and 
request funding for affected projects. Documentation submitted by the Collaborative 
Applicant on behalf of the CoC must include evidence of HUD error when calculating 
the Coc Application or project application score. 

b. Decreased Funding. To appeal HUD’s decision, the applicant must submit a written
appeal to HUD using the process outlined in section VIII.D.2 of this NOFO within 45 days 
of the date of the final funding announcement of the conditional awards from HUD, with a 
copy to the authorized representative of the CoC’s designated Collaborative Applicant. 
Documentation submitted by the applicant must include evidence of the HUD error the 
applicant believes was made. 

occurred, and the applicant should have been awarded additional funding, HUD will provide 
funding from the next available funds and make necessary adjustments by amending the 
award. HUD will reverse a decision only when the applicant can show that HUD error caused 

123



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program 
Description 

IV. Application 
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission 
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and 
Support 

Appendix 

 
 
 

VIII. Contact and Support FR-6900-N-25 Page 120 of 128 

the denial or decrease. 
6. Written Appeal. 
An applicant may appeal to HUD a jurisdiction’s refusal to provide a certification of 
consistency with the Consolidated Plan. The appeals process is as follows: 
With the project application that is submitted by the application deadline, the applicant must 
submit a written appeal. Project applicants may submit its appeal in e-snaps with its project 
application. When submitted with the project application in e-snaps, the applicant must also 
email a copy of this appeal to the jurisdiction that denied the Certification of Consistency with 
the Consolidated Plan and should send a copy to the authorized representative from the 
CoC’s designated Collaborative Applicant, unless it is the Collaborative Applicant that is filing 
the appeal. Otherwise, the project applicant or Collaborative Applicant may submit the appeal 
to HUD using one of the methods in section VIII.D of this NOFO. The written appeal must 
include the following information: 

a. a copy of the applicant’s request to the jurisdiction for the Certification of Consistency 
with the Consolidated Plan; 
b. a copy of the jurisdiction’s response stating the reasons for denial, including the 
reasons the proposed project is not consistent with the jurisdiction’s Consolidated Plan in 
accordance with 24 CFR 91.510(c); and 
c. a statement of the reasons why the applicant believes its project is consistent with the 
jurisdiction’s Consolidated Plan. 
The appeal may include additional information the applicant believes supports its appeal, 
including: 

(1) any additional communication between the applicant and the jurisdiction regarding 
the request for certification of consistency; and 
(2) documentation that identifies to whom within the jurisdiction the evidence was sent 
and the date on which it was sent. 

d. Jurisdiction Response. The jurisdiction will have 10 days after the receipt of the 
applicant’s written appeal to submit a written response to HUD. The response must be 
sent by email to snapsappeals@hud.gov on the organization’s letterhead, with a copy to 
the project applicant and the authorized representative of the CoC’s designated 
Collaborative Applicant. The response must include the following information: 

(1) an explanation of the reasons originally given for refusing to provide the 
Certification of Consistency with the Consolidated Plan; and 
(2) written rebuttal to any claims made by the applicant in the written appeal. 

e. HUD Decision and Notification of Decision. 
(1) HUD will review the submissions and will provide written notification, by email, of 
its decision to the applicant and the jurisdiction, with a copy to the authorized 
representative from the CoC’s designated Collaborative Applicant within 45 days of 
the date of the receipt of the jurisdiction’s response. In making its decision, HUD will 
consider whether the applicant submitted the request to the appropriate certifying 

124

mailto:snapsappeals@hud.gov


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

VIII. Contact and Support FR-6900-N-25 Page 121 of 128 

jurisdiction and the reasonableness of the jurisdiction’s refusal to provide the 
certificate. 
(2) If HUD finds that the certifying jurisdiction’s refusal to provide a certification of 
consistency with the Consolidated Plan was reasonable, then HUD will automatically 
reject the project application. If HUD finds that the certifying jurisdiction’s refusal to 
provide a certification of consistency with the Consolidated Plan was not reasonable, 
then HUD will consider the project application for funding in the respective FY CoC 
Program Competition in accordance with the review standards set forth in this NOFO. 
(3) If the jurisdiction failed to provide written reasons for refusal, including the reasons 
why the project is not consistent with the jurisdiction’s Consolidated Plan in its initial 
response to the applicant’s request for a certification, HUD will find for the applicant 
without further inquiry or response from the political jurisdiction. 
(4) HUD will provide written notification of its decision within 45 days of the date of 
HUD’s receipt of the jurisdiction’s response. Where the jurisdiction failed to provide a 
written response, HUD will provide written notification of its decision within 55 days of 
the date of HUD’s receipt of the project applicant’s response. 

E. Applicant Experience Survey 
You are encouraged to provide feedback on your application experience by completing our 
Applicant Experience Survey. Your feedback is optional; you are not required to provide 
personal information. HUD may use your feedback to improve future NOFOs. Your feedback 
has no impact on funding decisions.  

F. Other Online Resources 
You are encouraged to review the online resources for context on some of the NOFO 
requirements.  

125

https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/TellHUD
https://www.hud.gov/hud-partners/grants-info-policies-regulations


APPENDIX 

Appendix 

Appendix I Definitions 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

126



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

Appendix FR-6900-N-25 Page 123 of 128 

APPENDIX 
Appendix I. Definitions 
1. Standard Definitions
For standard definitions not listed below, refer to 2 CFR 200.1. 
Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH) - statutory obligation to affirmatively further 
the purposes and policies of the Fair Housing Act (see also 24 CFR 5.151, as amended by 
90 FR 11020). 
Authorized Organization Representative (AOR) is the official within your organization with 
the legal authority to: give assurances, make commitments, submit your application to HUD, 
enter into agreements, and execute such documents on behalf of your organization. The 
AOR is not necessarily the Project Director. The AOR has defined privileges within 
Grants.gov. 
Consolidated Plan has the same meaning as defined at 24 CFR part 91. 
Eligibility requirements are mandatory requirements for an application to be considered for 
funding. 
Grants.gov is the website serving as the Federal government’s central portal for searching 
and applying for federal financial assistance.  
Opportunity Zone (OZs) are defined in 26 U.S.C. 1400Z-1. In general, OZs are census 
tracts located in low-income communities where new investments, under certain conditions, 
may be eligible for preferential tax treatment. 
Primary Point of Contact (PPOC) is the person HUD may contact with questions about the 
application submitted. The PPOC is listed in item 8F on the SF-424. 
System for Award Management (SAM) has the same meaning as 2 CFR 25.100(b). 
Threshold Requirements are eligibility requirements you must meet before HUD advances 
to a merit review of your application.  
Unique Entity Identifier (UEI) has the same meaning as 2 CFR 25.100(a). 
2. Program Definitions.
Regulatory citations are provided below so applicants can refer to specific areas of the Rule. 
Projects awarded CoC Program funds are subject to the program regulations as they may be 
amended from time to time. However, YHDP Renewal and YHDP Replacement projects and 
awards are subject to CoC Program regulations except as otherwise provided in this NOFO. 
The definitions and concepts contained in this section include terms that are important for all 
applicants to understand in order to operate projects under this NOFO. 

a. The following terms are defined in 24 CFR 578. Applicants must refer to the Rule for
the definitions contained in this section. 
(1) Annual Renewal Amount (ARA) 
(2) Applicant 

127

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-A/subject-group-ECFR2a6a0087862fd2c/section-200.1
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-5/subpart-A/subject-group-ECFRb064b8192adda7c/section-5.151
https://apply07.grants.gov/help/html/help/Applicants/Management/ManageRolesForApplicant.htm
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-91
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2023-title26/pdf/USCODE-2023-title26-subtitleA-chap1-subchapZ-sec1400Z-1.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-I/part-25#p-25.100(b
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/part-25#p-25.100(a)


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

Appendix FR-6900-N-25 Page 124 of 128 

(3) Centralized or Coordinated Assessment System 
(4) Chronically Homeless 
(5) Collaborative Applicant 
(6) Continuum of Care 
(7) Consolidated Plan 
(8) Establishing and Operating the CoC. -24 CFR 578.5 and 24 CFR 578.7 detail the 
requirements for the establishment of a CoC and its responsibilities. 
(9) Final Pro Rata Need (FPRN) 
(10) High Performing Community (HPC) 
(11) Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) 
(12) HMIS Lead 
(13) Homeless. - Although not reflected in the regulation, section 605 of Violence Against 
Women Act Reauthorization Act of 2022 amended Section 103(b) of the Act and requires 
HUD to consider certain individuals and families as homeless. This amendment took 
effect on October 1, 2022. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained elsewhere 
in this NOFO, where 578.3 paragraph (4) is referenced, 
(14) Permanent Housing 
(15) Permanent Supportive Housing 
(16) Preliminary Pro Rata Need (PPRN) 
(17) Private Nonprofit Organization 
(18) Program Participant 
(19) Project 
(20) Rapid Rehousing (RRH).  
(21) Recipient 
(22) Subrecipient 
(23) Transitional Housing 
(24) Unified Funding Agency 
(25) Victim Service Provider 
b. CoC Program NOFO Terms. The following terms may be used during the
administration of CoC Program grants. The definitions and specific concepts pertaining to 
these terms are further explained below: 

(1) Annual Renewal Demand (ARD) (24 CFR 578.17(b)(2)). The total amount of all 
the CoC’s projects that will be eligible for renewal in the CoC Program Competition, 
before any required adjustments to funding for leasing, rental assistance, and 
operating Budget Line Items (BLIs) based on FMR changes. HUD will calculate the 
ARD by combining the total amount of funds requested by eligible renewal projects in 
each FY funding opportunity, including: 

(a) renewal projects approved and ranked on the Renewal Project Listing; 
(b) renewal project amount(s) that were reallocated as recorded on the reduced or 
eliminated reallocation forms of the CoC Project Listing; 
(c) YHDP renewal projects on the YHDP Renewal Project Listing; and 
(d) YHDP Replacement projects, including YHDP Reallocation projects, on the 
YHDP Reallocation and Replacement Project Listing. YHDP Replacement projects 
are eligible for funding through the replacement of YHDP Renewal projects. The 
YHDP Replacement application must request the same amount of funding that is 

128



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

Appendix FR-6900-N-25 Page 125 of 128 

eligible for YHDP Renewal. 
(2) CoC Merger. The CoC merger is a process where two or more CoCs voluntarily 
agree to merge the entire geographic area of all CoCs into one larger CoC. HUD 
strongly encourages CoCs that struggle with capacity to merge with a neighboring 
CoC or Balance of State CoC during each fiscal year’s CoC Program Registration 
process. To encourage CoC mergers and mitigate the potential adverse scoring 
implications that may occur when a high performing CoC merges with one or more 
lower-performing CoC(s), HUD will award 5 bonus points to the FY 2025 CoC 
Application Score for CoCs that registered as a merged after the FY 2024 CoC 
Program Registration deadline. 
(3) Formula Area. Defined in the Indian Housing Block Grant Program at 24 CFR 
1000.302. 
(4) CoC Geographic Area. 24 CFR 578.5 requires representatives from relevant 
organizations within a geographic area to establish a CoC to carry out the duties 
within the geographic area. The boundaries of identified CoC geographic areas cannot 
overlap, and any overlapping geographies are considered Competing CoCs. HUD 
follows the process at 24 CFR 578.35(d) to determine which CoC HUD will fund in the 
case of CoC geographic areas that overlap. 
(5) Homelessness and Human Trafficking. HUD is clarifying that persons who are 
fleeing or attempting to flee human trafficking may qualify as homeless under 
paragraph (4) of the homeless definition at 24 CFR 578.3 or section 103(b) of the 
McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act and may be eligible for certain forms of 
homeless assistance under the CoC Program, subject to other restrictions that may 
apply. HUD considers human trafficking, including sex trafficking, to be “other 
dangerous or life-threatening conditions that relate to violence against the individual or 
family member” under paragraphs (1) and (4) of the definition of homeless at 24 CFR 
578.3 and “other dangerous, traumatic, or life-threatening conditions related to the 
violence against the individual or a family member in the individual's or family's current 
housing situation” under section 103(b) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance 
Act. 
(6) Host Home and Kinship Care. Host Home and Kinship Care is limited to YHDP 
Renewal and replacement grants. This is a model of housing where a family agrees to 
permit a youth program participant to reside with them. Recognizing the addition of 
another person in the home may increase costs to the family, HUD will consider YHDP 
Replacement project applications that propose to house youth with families and 
subsidize the additional costs attributable to housing the youth, including recruitment 
of hosts. An example of eligible costs would be additional food or transportation costs, 
which are eligible supportive services under 24 CFR 578.53(e)(7) or 24 CFR 
578.53(e)(15). Recipients must keep records related to this determination for HUD 
review upon request. The residence is in a community-based setting and the family 
may be related to youth program participants with a time-limited or unlimited length of 
stay. 
(7) Housing Inventory Count (HIC). A complete listing of the CoC's HUD and non-

129

https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=ed2cea7ae9c2b64564e740a0b7763956&mc=true&node=se24.4.1000_1302&rgn=div8
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=ed2cea7ae9c2b64564e740a0b7763956&mc=true&node=se24.4.1000_1302&rgn=div8


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

Appendix FR-6900-N-25 Page 126 of 128 

HUD funded beds dedicated to individuals and families experiencing homelessness in 
the CoC's geographic area. 
(8) Reservation and Trust Land. For purposes of this Notice, Reservations and Trust 
Land are types of formula areas as specifically delineated under HUD’s IHBG program 
at 24 CFR 1000.302. 
(9) Rural Area. For this competition a rural area is a county which: 

(a) has no part of it within an area designated as a standard metropolitan statistical 
area by the Office of Management and Budget; 
(b) is within an area designated as a metropolitan statistical area or considered as 
part of a metropolitan statistical area and at least 75 percent of its population is 
local on U.S. Census blocks classified as non-urban; or 
(c) is located in a state that has a population density of less than 30 persons per 
square mile (as reported in the most recent decennial census), and of which at 
least 1.25 percent of the total acreage of such State is under Federal jurisdiction, 
provided that no metropolitan city in such State is the sole beneficiary of the grant 
amounts awarded under this NOFO. A metropolitan city means a city that was 
classified as a metropolitan city under section 102(a) of the Housing and 
Community Development Act of 1974 (42. U.S.C. 5302(a)) for the fiscal year 
immediately preceding the fiscal year for which Emergency Solutions Grants 
program funds are made available. 

(10) Shared Housing. YHDP Renewal, YHDP Replacement and YHDP Reallocation 
grants may provide rental assistance for shared housing where youth may reside with 
family or another unrelated person. The youth leases from the property owner and 
shares the unit with the family or unrelated person. The unit may be a house or an 
apartment. 

(a) YHDP rental assistance cannot be provided to a youth to reside in a unit 
occupied by an immediate family member. For this NOFO “immediate family 
member” includes parents, grandparents, and legal guardians. 
(b) YHDP rental assistance cannot be provided to a youth in a shared housing unit 
if the landlord is an immediate family member of the youth. 
(c) YHDP rental assistance may only be provided to a youth if the youth can enter 
into a valid, binding, and enforceable lease under applicable state or local law. 
This includes a legally appointed guardian executing a lease on behalf of a youth 
or an emancipated youth entering into a lease. 
(d) YHDP Renewal and replacement grants may provide a shared housing option 
for youth program participants who are not part of a household but are interested 
in sharing a housing unit with a roommate unrelated to the program participant. 

(11) Special NOFO. A competition administered under the Continuum of Care 
Supplemental to Address Unsheltered and Rural Homelessness designed to target 
efforts to reduce unsheltered homelessness in communities with very high levels of 
unsheltered homelessness and homelessness in rural areas. Funding through this 

130



I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

Appendix FR-6900-N-25 Page 127 of 128 

Competition was awarded through either the Unsheltered Set Aside or the Rural Set 
Aside. 
(12) YHDP Replacement Process, including YHDP Reallocation. The YHDP 
Replacement process occurs when: (1) a CoC reallocates a YHDP Renewal project to 
create one or more new YHDP project(s) that has the same recipient referred to as 
YHDP Replacement in this NOFO; (2) a CoC is reallocating a YHDP Renewal project 
to create one or more new projects with a new recipient referred to as YHDP 
Reallocation in this NOFO; or (3) a CoC is reallocating YHDP Renewal project(s) to 
create YHDP Expansion applications through the YHDP Replacement process. For 
more information on YHDP Reallocation, see sections IV.D.1.i of this NOFO. 

Appendix 2: Funding Opportunity Goals 
The CoC Program is designed to promote a community-wide commitment to the goal of 
ending homelessness and to provide funding for efforts by nonprofit providers, States, Indian 
Tribes or Tribally Designated Housing Entities, and local governments to quickly rehouse 
individuals, families, persons fleeing domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and 
stalking, and youth while minimizing the trauma caused by homelessness. The CoC Program 
promotes access to and the effective utilization of mainstream programs by homeless 
individuals and families to optimize self-sufficiency among those experiencing homelessness. 
HUD hopes to accomplish the following goals through the collaborative efforts of applicants 
for CoC Program funding and local CoC stakeholders: 
1. Ending the Crisis of Homelessness on Our Streets
The number of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness is at an all-time high. People 
living on the streets and in encampments have high rates of substance use disorder and 
mental illness. According to a nationwide study, 75% of people experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness report a substance use disorder and 78% report a mental health condition. 
The study found that substance use disorder contributed to the loss of housing for 50% of the 
unsheltered population, and mental health conditions contributed to loss of housing for 51% 
of the population. 
CoCs should direct resources towards outreach, intervention, and assistance that helps 
people regain self-sufficiency. Consistent with Executive Order 14321 “Ending Crime and 
Disorder on America’s Streets,” CoCs should work with law enforcement, first responders, 
and their state and local governments to reduce encampments, public camping, and public 
drug use in order to address barriers to maintaining housing and increasing self-sufficiency. 
2. Prioritizing Treatment and Recovery.
CoCs should prioritize projects that provide the treatment and services people need to 
recover and regain self-sufficiency including on-site behavioral health treatment, robust 
wraparound supportive services, and participation requirements. This NOFO devotes 
resources to Transitional Housing programs and Supportive Service Only projects with the 
goal of improving health and long-term economic independence for the homeless. HUD 
encourages CoCs to utilize the full array of mainstream programs and local and private 
resources to provide housing and healthcare needed to maintain safe and stable housing. 
3. Advancing Public Safety

131

https://capolicylab.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Health-Conditions-Among-Unsheltered-Adults-in-the-U.S..pdf


I. Basic 
Information 

II. Eligibility III. Program
Description 

IV. Application
Contents and 

Format 

V. Application 
Review 

Information 

VI. Submission
Requirements and 

Deadlines 

VII. Post-Award 
Requirements and 

Administration 

VIII. Contact and
Support

Appendix 

Appendix FR-6900-N-25 Page 128 of 128 

Safety and security for all members of the public, especially those living unsheltered, is 
essential to promoting a community-wide commitment to the goal of ending homelessness. 
CoCs should cooperate with law enforcement to advance public safety for the entire 
community impacted by homelessness. No one should sleep outside on the street or in 
dangerous encampments, and everyone should be able to enjoy public spaces safely. HUD 
encourages CoCs to assist in preventing and minimizing the trauma associated with living on 
the streets or in encampments, especially for women and youth that are the victims of sexual 
assault and trafficking. Unchecked public camping and public illicit drug use inhibit nonprofit 
providers and local government from effectively addressing homelessness. 
First responders are critical partners in engaging people into treatment and services and 
protecting public order and vulnerable individuals experiencing homelessness. In Grants 
Pass v. Johnson, the Supreme Court of the United States upheld the authority of local 
governments to prohibit public camping. 
4. Promoting Self-Sufficiency.
One of the primary purposes of the CoC Program is to optimize self-sufficiency. CoCs should 
partner with workforce development centers, employers, childcare, and other supportive 
service providers to increase employment and employment income for program participants. 
CoCs should prioritize projects that help lead to long-term economic independence for 
individuals and families to exit homelessness and prevent future returns to homelessness. 
5. Improving Outcomes.
CoCs should review all projects eligible for renewal under this NOFO to determine their 
effectiveness in reducing homelessness and increasing self-sufficiency. CoCs should 
prioritize projects that promote self-sufficiency, increase employment income over 
government assistance, and promote treatment and recovery. 
This NOFO includes several options to help CoCs improve their effectiveness, including 
reallocation, expansion, and transition grants, and CoC’s should take advantage of these 
options to expand the pool of providers, including faith-based providers, and improve the 
overall performance of the CoC. 
6. Minimizing Trauma.
One of the purposes of the CoC program is to minimize the trauma associated with 
homelessness. CoCs should encourage providers to provide trauma informed care and 
ensure participant safety in programs, especially for survivors of domestic violence, dating 
violence, sexual assault, and stalking. Women experiencing homelessness or domestic 
violence should have access to safe, single-sex spaces. 

132



REPORT/RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO AND RECORD 

OF ACTION 

December 9, 2025 

FROM 
MARIA RAZO, Executive Director, Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino 

SUBJECT  
..Title v

Lanternwoods Wall Avenue PBV HAP Contract Extension with Wall Avenue LLC 
..End 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 
..Recommendation 

1. Approve a contract extension for the Project-Based Voucher Program Housing Assistance
Payments Contract with Wall Avenue LLC for eight scattered site units for the Lanternwoods
Continuum of Care program, for an additional five-year period from March 1, 2027 through
February 29, 3032.

2. Authorize and direct the Executive Director to execute and deliver the contract extension to
Wall Avenue LLC, and upon consultation with Legal Counsel, to approve any non-substantive
revisions necessary to complete the transaction.

(Presenter: Maria Razo, Executive Director, 332-6305) 
..Body 

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT 
Aspirational Statement #2: To be known as a trusted provider of safe, dignified, and 
desirable homes and environments that enrich and add value to the community.  
Aspirational Statement #3: To pursue continued financial stability, monitoring, and 
accountability as stewards of limited funding.  
Aspirational Statement #5: To create, build and utilize partnerships that provide 
opportunities and create a meaningful difference in the lives of the families that we serve, 
maximizing our resources by mobilizing the talents of our community partners. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT 
Approval of the proposed extension to the Project-Based Voucher (PBV) Program Housing 
Assistance Payments Contract (Contract) will have no unexpected financial impact to the Housing 
Authority of the County of San Bernardino’s (HACSB) annual budget as the payments coinciding 
with these contracts have already been budgeted.  The Contract is funded under the Continuum 
of Care (CoC) program, which is administered by HACSB on behalf of the United States 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
HACSB administers four CoC grants. These grants provide rental assistance to chronically 
homeless individuals and families with mental health disabilities. One of the grants provides 
tenant-based rental assistance to approximately 231 households. The other three grants provide 
rental assistance at 55 units under Project-Based Voucher contracts. All CoC participants receive 
case-management services from the County of San Bernardino’s Department of Behavioral 
Health (DBH). 

On March 1, 2012, HACSB entered into a 15-year PBV HAP contract with Housing Partners I, Inc 
(HPI) to provide eight permanent supportive housing units to the Lanternwoods CoC Program, 
which is set to expire February 28, 2027. HPI provides accessible, safe and sanitary homes under 

133



Lanternwoods Wall Avenue PBV HAP Contract Extension with Wall Avenue LLC 
December 9, 2025 

Page 2 of 2 

the PBV contract. As required by the grant and at no cost to HACSB or to the households served, 
the Department of Behavioral Health provides intensive case management services and 
behavioral health services when needed to support the long-term stability of the households. 

On April 1, 2025, HACSB and HPI assigned the Lanternwoods Wall Avenue PBV HAP contract 
to Wall Avenue LLC due to a change of ownership. 

The maximum allowable contract term under CoC regulations is five years. Therefore, the extension 
of the proposed contract is for an additional five-year period effective March 1, 2027, through February 
29, 2032, and is subject to continued funding from HUD. 

The State of California requires that a property owner notify residents twelve months prior to the 
expiration of a HAP Contract if the contract will not be renewed. Therefore, this item is brought to 
the Board of Commissioners for consideration at least twelve months prior to the end of the 
Contract term. The PBV program ensures stable, affordable housing for low-income participants. 
Therefore, the extension of the Contract is appropriate to continue providing affordable housing, and 
HACSB staff recommends that the Board of Commissioners approve the extension to the HAP 
Contract between Wall Avenue LLC and HACSB. 

PROCUREMENT 
Not applicable. 

ITEM ATTACHMENTS 
 Contract – Lanternwoods Wall Avenue PBV HAP Contract 3.1.2027-2.29.2032

REVIEW BY OTHERS 
This item has been reviewed by General Legal Counsel, Fred Galante, on November 19, 2025. 

134



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 1 of Part 1 

(04/2023) 

OMB Burden Statement. The public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 
hour. This form is required to establish terms between a PHA and owner to provide housing assistance. This contract 
allows a PHA to enter into a HAP contract with the owner to provide housing assistance payments for eligible families. 
Assurances of confidentiality are not provided under this collection. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or 
any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions to reduce this burden, to the Office of Public 
and Indian Housing, US. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Washington, DC 20410. HUD may not 
conduct and sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of information unless the collection 
displays a valid control number. 

Privacy Notice.  The Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) is authorized to collect the information 
on this form by 24 CFR § 983.202. This contract allows a PHA to enter into a HAP contract with the owner to provide 
housing assistance payments for eligible families.  Assurances of confidentiality are not provided under this collection. 
The Personally Identifiable Information (PII) data collected on this form are not stored or retrieved within a system of 
record.  

1. CONTRACT INFORMATION

a. Parties

This housing assistance payments (HAP) contract is entered into between:

____________________________________________________ ( PHA) and

____________________________________________________ (owner).

b. Contents of contract

The HAP contract consists of Part 1, Part 2, and the contract exhibits listed in
paragraph c.

c. Contract exhibits

The HAP contract includes the following exhibits:

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 
Office of Public and Indian Housing 

SECTION 8 PROJECT-BASED VOUCHER PROGRAM 
HOUSING ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS CONTRACT 

EXISTING HOUSING 

PART 1 OF HAP CONTRACT 

135



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 2 of Part 1 

(04/2023) 

EXHIBIT A: TOTAL NUMBER OF UNITS IN PROJECT COVERED BY 
THIS HAP CONTRACT; INITIAL RENT TO OWNER; AND 
DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT UNITS. (See 24 CFR 
983.203 for required items.) 

EXHIBIT B: SERVICES, MAINTENANCE AND EQUIPMENT TO BE 
PROVIDED BY THE OWNER WITHOUT CHARGES IN 
ADDITION TO RENT TO OWNER 

EXHIBIT C: UTILITIES AVAILABLE IN THE CONTRACT UNITS, 
INCLUDING A LISTING OF UTILITY SERVICES TO BE 
PAID BY THE OWNER (WITHOUT CHARGES IN ADDITION 
TO RENT TO OWNER) AND UTILITIES TO BE PAID BY THE 
TENANTS 

EXHIBIT D: FEATURES PROVIDED TO COMPLY WITH PROGRAM 
ACCESSIBILITY FEATURES OF SECTION 504 OF THE 
REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 AND IMPLEMENTING 
REGULATIONS AT 24 CFR PART 8 

ADDITIONAL EXHIBITS 

d. Effective date and term of the HAP contract

1. Effective date

a. The PHA may not enter into a HAP contract for any contract unit
until the PHA (or an independent entity, as applicable) has
determined that the unit meets the PBV inspection requirements.

b. For all contract units, the effective date of the HAP contract is:

________________________________.

c. The term of the HAP contract begins on the effective date.

2. Length of initial term

a. Subject to paragraph 2.b, the initial term of the HAP contract for
all contract units is:

________________________________.

b. The initial term of the HAP contract may not be less than one year,

136



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 3 of Part 1 

(04/2023) 

nor more than twenty years. 

3. Extension of term

The PHA and owner may agree to enter into an extension of the HAP
contract at the time of initial HAP contract execution, or any time prior to
expiration of the contract. Any extension, including the term of such
extension, must be in accordance with HUD requirements. A PHA must
determine that any extension is appropriate to achieve long-term
affordability of the housing or expand housing opportunities.

4. Requirement for sufficient appropriated funding

a. The length of the initial term and any extension term shall be
subject to availability, as determined by HUD, or by the PHA in
accordance with HUD requirements, of sufficient appropriated
funding (budget authority), as provided in appropriations acts and
in the PHA's annual contributions contract (ACC) with HUD, to
make full payment of housing assistance payments due to the
owner for any contract year in accordance with the HAP contract.

b. The availability of sufficient funding must be determined by HUD
or by the PHA in accordance with HUD requirements. If it is
determined that there may not be sufficient funding to continue
housing assistance payments for all contract units and for the full
term of the HAP contract, the PHA has the right to terminate the
HAP contract by notice to the owner for all or any of the contract
units. Such action by the PHA shall be implemented in accordance
with HUD requirements.

e. Occupancy and payment

1. Payment for occupied unit

During the term of the HAP contract, the PHA shall make housing
assistance payments to the owner for the months during which a contract
unit is leased to and occupied by an eligible family. If an assisted family
moves out of a contract unit, the owner may keep the housing assistance
payment for the calendar month when the family moves out (“move-out
month”). However, the owner may not keep the payment if the PHA
determines that the vacancy is the owner’s fault.

2. Vacancy payment

137



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 4 of Part 1 

(04/2023) 

THE PHA HAS DISCRETION WHETHER TO INCLUDE THE 
VACANCY PAYMENT PROVISION (PARAGRAPH e.2), OR TO 
STRIKE THIS PROVISION FROM THE HAP CONTRACT FORM. 

a. If an assisted family moves out of a contract unit, the PHA may
provide vacancy payments to the owner for a PHA-determined
vacancy period extending from the beginning of the first calendar
month after the move-out month for a period not exceeding two
full months following the move-out month.

b. The vacancy payment to the owner for each month of the
maximum two-month period will be determined by the PHA, and
cannot exceed the monthly rent to owner under the assisted lease,
minus any portion of the rental payment received by the owner
(including amounts available from the tenant’s security deposit).
Any vacancy payment may cover only the period the unit remains
vacant.

c. The PHA may make vacancy payments to the owner only if:

1. The owner gives the PHA prompt, written notice certifying
that the family has vacated the unit and the date when the
family moved out (to the best of the owner’s knowledge
and belief);

2. The owner certifies that the vacancy is not the fault of the
owner and that the unit was vacant during the period for
which payment is claimed;

3. The owner certifies that it has taken every reasonable
action to minimize the likelihood and length of vacancy;
and

4. The owner provides any additional information required
and requested by the PHA to verify that the owner is
entitled to the vacancy payment.

d. The PHA must take every reasonable action to minimize the
likelihood and length of vacancy.

e. The owner may refer families to the PHA for placement on the
PBV waiting list.

138

msmall
Cross-Out



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 5 of Part 1 

(04/2023) 

f. The owner must submit a request for vacancy payments in the
form and manner required by the PHA and must provide any
information or substantiation required by the PHA to determine the
amount of any vacancy payments.

3. PHA is not responsible for family damage or debt to owner

Except as provided in this paragraph e (Occupancy and Payment), the
PHA will not make any other payment to the owner under the HAP
contract. The PHA will not make any payment to the owner for any
damages to the unit, or for any other amounts owed by a family under the
family’s lease.

f. Income-mixing requirement

1. Except as provided in paragraphs f.2 through f.5 below, the PHA will not
make housing assistance payments under the HAP contract for more than
the greater of 25 units or 25 percent of the total number of dwelling units
(assisted or unassisted) in any project. The term “project” means a single
building, multiple contiguous buildings, or multiple buildings on
contiguous parcels of land assisted under this HAP contract.

2. The limitation in paragraph f.1 does not apply to single-family buildings.

3. In referring eligible families to the owner for admission to the number of
contract units in any project exceeding the 25 unit or 25 percent limitation
under paragraph f.1, the PHA shall give preference to the applicable
families as listed in f.8 below, for the number of contract units exclusively
made available for occupancy by such families. The owner shall rent that
number of contract units to such families referred by the PHA from the
PHA waiting list.

4. Up to the greater of 25 units or 40 percent of units (instead of the greater
of 25 units or 25 percent of units) in a project may be project-based if the
project is located in a census tract with a poverty rate of 20 percent or less.

5. Units that were previously subject to certain federal rent restrictions or
receiving another type of long-term housing subsidy provided by HUD do
not count toward the income-mixing requirement if, in the five years prior
to issuance of the Request for Proposal or notice of owner selection (for
projects selected based on a prior competition or without competition), the
unit received one of the forms of HUD assistance or was under a federal
rent restriction as described in f.6 and f.7, below.

139

msmall
Cross-Out



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 6 of Part 1 

(04/2023) 

6. The following specifies the number of contract units (if any) that received
one of the following forms of HUD assistance:

___ Public Housing or Operating Funds;

___ Project-Based Rental Assistance (including Mod Rehab and Mod
Rehab Single-Room Occupancy); 

___ Housing for the Elderly (Section 202 or the Housing Act of 1959); 

___ Housing for Persons with Disabilities (Section 811 of the 
Cranston-Gonzalez Affordable Housing Act); 

___ Rent Supplement Program; 

___ Rental Assistance Program; 

___ Flexible Subsidy Program. 

Place a check mark in front of the form of assistance received by any of 
the contract units. The following total number of contract units received a 
form of HUD assistance listed above: 

___________________________________________. 

If all of the units in the project received such assistance, you may skip 
number g.8, below. 

7. The following specifies the number of contract units (if any) that were
under any of the following federal rent restrictions:

___ Section 236;

___ Section 221(d)(3) or (d)(4) BMIR (below-market interest rate);

___ Housing for the Elderly (Section 202 or the Housing Act of 1959);

___ Housing for Persons with Disabilities (Section 811 of the
Cranston-Gonzalez Affordable Housing Act); 

___ Flexible Subsidy Program. 

Place a check mark in front of the type of federal rent restriction that 
applied to any of the contract units. The following total number of contract 

140



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 7 of Part 1 

(04/2023) 

 

units were subject to a federal rent restriction listed above: 

___________________________________________. 

If all of the units in the project were subject to a federal rent restriction, 
you may skip number g.8, below. 

8. The following specifies the number of contract units (if any) exclusively 
made available to elderly families, families eligible for supportive 
services, or eligible youth receiving Family Unification Program or Foster 
Youth to Independence (FUP/FYI) assistance: 

a. Place a check mark here ___ if any contract units are exclusively 
made available for occupancy by elderly families; The following 
number of contract units shall be rented to elderly families: 

___________________________________________. 

b. Place a check mark here ___ if any contract units are exclusively 
made available for occupancy by families eligible for supportive 
services. The following number of contract units shall be rented to 
families eligible for supportive services: 

___________________________________________. 

c.  Place a check mark here ___ if any contract units are exclusively 
made available for occupancy by eligible youth receiving FUP/FYI 
assistance. The following number of contract units shall be rented 
to eligible families receiving FUP/FYI assistance: 

___________________________________________. 

9. The PHA and owner must comply with all HUD requirements regarding 
income mixing. 

 

 

 

 

 

141



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 8 of Part 1 

(04/2023) 

EXECUTION OF HAP CONTRACT FOR EXISTING HOUSING 

I/We, the undersigned, certify under penalty of perjury that the information provided above is true and 
correct. WARNING: Anyone who knowingly submits a false claim or makes a false statement is subject to 
criminal and/or civil penalties, including confinement for up to 5 years, fines, and civil and administrative 
penalties. (18 U.S.C. §§ 287, 1001, 1010, 1012; 31 U.S.C. §3729, 3802). 

PUBLIC HOUSING AGENCY (PHA) 

Name of PHA (Print) 

By: 

Signature of authorized representative 

Name and official title (Print) 

Date 

OWNER 

Name of Owner (Print) 

By: 

Signature of authorized representative 

Name and official title (Print) 

Date 

142



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 1 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

OMB Burden Statement. The public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 
hour. This form is required to establish terms between a PHA and owner to provide housing assistance. This contract 
allows a PHA to enter into a HAP contract with the owner to provide housing assistance payments for eligible families. 
Assurances of confidentiality are not provided under this collection. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or 
any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions to reduce this burden, to the Office of Public 
and Indian Housing, US. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Washington, DC 20410. HUD may not 
conduct and sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of information unless the collection 
displays a valid control number. 

2. DEFINITIONS

Contract units. The housing units covered by this HAP contract. The contract
units are described in Exhibit A.

Controlling interest.  In the context of PHA-owned units (see definition below),
controlling interest means:

(a) Holding more than 50 percent of the stock of any corporation; or

(b) Having the power to appoint more than 50 percent of the members of the
board of directors of a non-stock corporation (such as a non-profit corporation); or

(c) Where more than 50 percent of the members of the board of directors of any
corporation also serve as directors, officers, or employees of the PHA; or

(d) Holding more than 50 percent of all managing member interests in an LLC; or

(e) Holding more than 50 percent of all general partner interests in a partnership;
or

(f) Having equivalent levels of control in other ownership structures.

Existing housing. Housing units that already exist on the proposal selection date

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 
Office of Public and Indian Housing 

SECTION 8 PROJECT-BASED VOUCHER PROGRAM 

HOUSING ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS CONTRACT 
EXISTING HOUSING 

PART 2 OF HAP CONTRACT 

143



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 2 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

and that substantially comply with the housing quality standards on that date. The 
units must fully comply with the housing quality standards before execution of the 
HAP contract. 

Family. The persons approved by the PHA to reside in a contract unit with 
assistance under the program. 

HAP contract. This housing assistance payments contract between the PHA and 
the owner. The contract consists of Part 1, Part 2, and the contract exhibits (listed 
in section 1.c of the HAP contract). 

Household. The family and any PHA-approved live-in aide. 

Housing assistance payment. The monthly assistance payment by the PHA for a 
contract unit, which includes: (1) a payment to the owner for rent to the owner 
under the family’s lease minus the tenant rent; and (2) an additional payment to or 
on behalf of the family if the utility allowance exceeds total tenant payment. 

Housing quality standards (HQS). The HUD minimum quality standards for 
dwelling units occupied by families receiving project-based voucher program 
assistance. 

HUD. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

HUD requirements. HUD requirements which apply to the project-based 
voucher program. HUD requirements are issued by HUD headquarters, as 
regulations, Federal Register notices or other binding program directives. 

Owner. Any person or entity who has the legal right to lease or sublease a unit to 
a participant. 

Premises. The building or complex in which a contract unit is located, including 
common areas or grounds. 

Principal or interested party. This term includes a management agent and other 
persons or entities participating in project management, and the officers and 
principal members, shareholders, investors, and other parties having a substantial 
interest in the HAP contract, or in any proceeds or benefits arising from the HAP 
contract. 

Program. The project-based voucher program (see authorization for project-
based assistance at 42 U.S.C. 1437f(o)(13)). 

PHA. Public Housing Agency. The agency that has entered into the HAP contract 
with the owner. The agency is a public housing agency as defined in the United 

144



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 3 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 
 

States Housing Act of 1937 (42 U.S.C. 1437a(b)(6)). 

PHA-owned units.  A unit is “owned by a PHA” if the unit is in a project that is: 

(a) Owned by the PHA (which includes a PHA having a “controlling interest” in 
the entity that owns the unit; see definition above); 

(b) Owned by an entity wholly controlled by the PHA; or 

(c) Owned by a limited liability company (LLC) or limited partnership in which 
the PHA (or an entity wholly controlled by the PHA) holds a controlling interest 
in the managing member or general partner. 

Proposal selection date. The date the PHA gives written notice of proposal 
selection to the owner whose proposal is selected in accordance with the criteria 
established in the PHA’s administrative plan. 

Rent to owner. The total monthly rent payable to the owner under the lease for a 
contract unit. Rent to owner includes payment for any housing services, 
maintenance and utilities to be provided by the owner in accordance with the 
lease. 

Tenant. The person or persons (other than a live-in aide) who executes the lease 
as a lessee of the dwelling unit. 

Tenant rent. The portion of the rent to owner payable by the family, as 
determined by the PHA in accordance with HUD requirements. The PHA is not 
responsible for paying any part of the tenant rent. 

3. PURPOSE 

a. This is a HAP contract between the PHA and the owner. 

b. The purpose of the HAP contract is to provide housing assistance 
payments for eligible families who lease contract units that comply with 
the HUD HQS from the owner. 

c. The PHA must make housing assistance payments to the owner in 
accordance with the HAP contract for contract units leased and occupied 
by eligible families during the HAP contract term. HUD provides funds to 
the PHA to make housing assistance payments to owners for eligible 
families. 

 

145



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 4 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

4. RENT TO OWNER; HOUSING ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS

a. Amount of initial rent to owner

The initial rent to owner for each contract unit is stated in Exhibit A,
which is attached to and made a part of the HAP contract. At the
beginning of the HAP contract term, and until rent to owner is adjusted in
accordance with section 5 of the HAP contract, the rent to owner for each
bedroom size (number of bedrooms) shall be the initial rent to owner
amount listed in Exhibit A.

Place a check mark here ___ if the PHA has elected not to reduce rents
below the initial rent to owner.

b. HUD rent requirements

Notwithstanding any other provision of the HAP contract, the rent to
owner may in no event exceed the amount authorized in accordance with
HUD requirements. The PHA has the right to reduce the rent to owner, at
any time, to correct any errors in establishing or adjusting the rent to
owner in accordance with HUD requirements. The PHA may recover any
overpayment from the owner.

c. PHA payment to owner

1. Each month the PHA must make a housing assistance payment to
the owner for a unit under lease to and occupied by an eligible
family in accordance with the HAP contract.

2. The monthly housing assistance payment to the owner for a
contract unit is equal to the amount by which the rent to owner
exceeds the tenant rent.

3. Payment of the tenant rent is the responsibility of the family. The
PHA is not responsible for paying any part of the tenant rent, or for
paying any other claim by the owner against a family. The PHA is
responsible only for making housing assistance payments to the
owner on behalf of a family in accordance with the HAP contract.

4. The owner will be paid the housing assistance payment under the
HAP contract on or about the first day of the month for which
payment is due, unless the owner and the PHA agree on a later
date.

5. To receive housing assistance payments in accordance with the

146



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 5 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

HAP contract, the owner must comply with all the provisions of 
the HAP contract. Unless the owner complies with all the 
provisions of the HAP contract, the owner does not have a right to 
receive housing assistance payments. 

6. If the PHA determines that the owner is not entitled to the payment
or any part of it, the PHA, in addition to other remedies, may
deduct the amount of the overpayment from any amounts due the
owner, including amounts due under any other housing assistance
payments contract.

7. The owner will notify the PHA promptly of any change of
circumstances that would affect the amount of the monthly housing
assistance payment, and will return any payment that does not
conform to the changed circumstances.

d. Termination of assistance for family

The PHA may terminate housing assistance for a family under the HAP
contract in accordance with HUD requirements. The PHA must notify the
owner in writing of its decision to terminate housing assistance for the
family in such case.

5. ADJUSTMENT OF RENT TO OWNER

a. PHA determination of adjusted rent

1. At each annual anniversary during the term of the HAP contract,
the PHA shall adjust the amount of rent to owner, upon request to
the PHA by the owner, in accordance with law and HUD
requirements. In addition, the PHA shall adjust the rent to owner
when there is a ten percent decrease in the published, applicable
Fair Market Rent in accordance with 24 CFR 983.302. However, if
the PHA has elected within the HAP contract not to reduce rents
below the initial rent to owner, the rent to owner shall not be
reduced below the initial rent to owner except in those cases
described in 24 CFR 983.302(c)(2).

2. The adjustment of rent to owner shall always be determined in
accordance with all HUD requirements. The amount of the rent to
owner may be adjusted up or down, in the amount defined by the
PHA in accordance with HUD requirements.

147



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 6 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

b. Reasonable rent

The rent to owner for each contract unit, as adjusted by the PHA in
accordance with 24 CFR 983.303, may at no time exceed the reasonable
rent charged for comparable units in the private unassisted market, except
in cases where the PHA has elected within the HAP contract not to reduce
rents below the initial rent to owner. The reasonable rent shall be
determined by the PHA in accordance with HUD requirements.

c. No special adjustments

The PHA will not make any special adjustments of the rent to owner.

d. Owner compliance with HAP contract

The PHA shall not approve, and the owner shall not receive, any increase
of rent to owner unless all contract units are in accordance with the HQS,
and the owner has complied with the terms of the assisted leases and the
HAP contract.

e. Notice of rent adjustment

Rent to owner shall be adjusted by written notice by the PHA to the owner
in accordance with this section. Such notice constitutes an amendment of
the rents specified in Exhibit A.

6. OWNER RESPONSIBILITY

The owner is responsible for:

a. Performing all management and rental functions for the contract units.

b. Maintaining the units in accordance with HQS.

c. Complying with equal opportunity requirements.

d. Enforcing tenant obligations under the lease.

e. Paying for utilities and housing services (unless paid by the family under
the lease).

f. Collecting from the tenant:

1. Any security deposit;

148



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 7 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

2. The tenant rent; and

3. Any charge for unit damage by the family.

7. OWNER CERTIFICATION

The owner certifies that at all times during the term of the HAP contract:

a. All contract units are in good and tenantable condition. The owner is
maintaining the premises and all contract units in accordance with the
HQS.

b. The owner is providing all the services, maintenance and utilities as
agreed to under the HAP contract and the leases with assisted families.

c. Each contract unit for which the owner is receiving housing assistance
payments is leased to an eligible family referred by the PHA, and the lease
is in accordance with the HAP contract and HUD requirements.

d. To the best of the owner’s knowledge, the members of the family reside in
each contract unit for which the owner is receiving housing assistance
payments, and the unit is the family’s only residence.

e. The owner (including a principal or other interested party) is not the
parent, child, grandparent, grandchild, sister, or brother of any member of
a family residing in a contract unit unless the PHA has determined that
approving leasing of the unit would provide a reasonable accommodation
for a family member who is a person with disabilities.

f. The amount of the housing assistance payment is the correct amount due
under the HAP contract.

g. The rent to owner for each contract unit does not exceed rents charged by
the owner for other comparable unassisted units.

h. Except for the housing assistance payment and the tenant rent as provided
under the HAP contract, the owner has not received and will not receive
any payments or other consideration (from the family, the PHA, HUD, or
any other public or private source) for rental of the contract unit.

i. The family does not own, or have any interest in the contract unit. If the
owner is a cooperative, the family may be a member of the cooperative.

149



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 8 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

8. CONDITION OF UNITS

a. Owner maintenance and operation

The owner must maintain and operate the contract units and premises to
provide decent, safe and sanitary housing in accordance with the HQS,
including performance of ordinary and extraordinary maintenance. The
owner must provide all the services, maintenance and utilities set forth in
Exhibits B and C, and in the lease with each assisted family.

b. PHA inspections

1. The PHA must inspect each contract unit before execution of the
HAP contract. The PHA may not enter into a HAP contract
covering a unit until the unit fully complies with the HQS.

2. Before providing assistance to a new family in a contract unit, the
PHA must inspect the unit. The PHA may not provide assistance
on behalf of the family until the unit fully complies with the HQS.

3. At least biennially during the term of the HAP contract, the PHA
must inspect a random sample, consisting of at least 20 percent of
the contract units in each building, to determine if the contract
units and the premises are maintained in accordance with the HQS.
Turnover inspections pursuant to paragraph 2 of this section are
not counted toward meeting this biennial inspection requirement.

4. If more than 20 percent of the sample of inspected contract units in
a building fail the initial inspection, the PHA must reinspect 100
percent of the contract units in the building.

5. The PHA must inspect contract units whenever needed to
determine that the contract units comply with the HQS and that the
owner is providing maintenance, utilities, and other services in
accordance with the HAP contract. The PHA must take into
account complaints and any other information that comes to its
attention in scheduling inspections.

c. Violation of the housing quality standards

1. If the PHA determines a contract unit is not in accordance with the
HQS, the PHA may exercise any of its remedies under the HAP
contract for all or any contract units. Such remedies include

150



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 9 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 
 

termination, suspension or reduction of housing assistance 
payments, and termination of the HAP contract. 

2. The PHA may exercise any such contractual remedy respecting a 
contract unit even if the family continues to occupy the unit. 

3. The PHA shall not make any housing assistance for a dwelling unit 
that fails to meet the HQS, unless the owner corrects the defect 
within the period specified by the PHA and the PHA verifies the 
correction. If a defect is life threatening, the owner must correct 
the defect within no more than 24 hours. For other defects, the 
owner must correct the defect within no more than 30 calendar 
days (or any PHA-approved extension). 

d. Maintenance and replacement—owner’s standard practice 

Maintenance and replacement (including redecoration) must be in 
accordance with the standard practice for the building concerned as 
established by the owner. 

9. LEASING CONTRACT UNITS 

a. Selection of tenants 

1. During the term of the HAP contract, the owner must lease all 
contract units to eligible families selected and referred by the PHA 
from the PHA waiting list. (See 24 CFR 983.251.) 

2. The owner is responsible for adopting written tenant selection 
procedures that are consistent with the purpose of improving 
housing opportunities for very low-income families and reasonably 
related to program eligibility and an applicant’s ability to perform 
the lease obligations. 

3. Consistent with HUD requirements and Federal civil rights and fair 
housing requirements, the owner may apply its own 
nondiscriminatory tenant selection procedures in determining 
whether to admit a family referred by the PHA for occupancy of a 
contract unit.  The owner may refer families to the PHA for 
placement on the PBV waiting list. 

4. The owner must promptly notify in writing any rejected applicant 
of the grounds for rejection. 

5. The PHA must determine family eligibility in accordance with 

151



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 10 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

HUD requirements. 

6. The contract unit leased to each family must be appropriate for the
size of the family under the PHA’s subsidy standards.

7. If a contract unit was occupied by an eligible family at the time the
unit was selected by the PHA, or is so occupied on the effective
date of the HAP contract, the owner must offer the family the
opportunity to lease the same or another appropriately-sized
contract unit with assistance under the HAP contract.

8. The owner is responsible for screening and selecting tenants from
the families referred by the PHA from its waiting list.

b. Vacancies

1. The owner must promptly notify the PHA of any vacancy in a
contract unit. After receiving the owner notice, the PHA shall
make every reasonable effort to refer a sufficient number of
families for owner to fill the vacancy.

2. The owner must rent vacant contract units to eligible families on
the PHA waiting list referred by the PHA.

3. The PHA and the owner must make reasonable, good faith efforts
to minimize the likelihood and length of any vacancy.

4. If any contract units have been vacant for a period of 120 or more
days since owner notice of vacancy (and notwithstanding the
reasonable, good faith efforts of the PHA to fill such vacancies),
the PHA may give notice to the owner amending the HAP contract
to reduce the number of contract units by subtracting the number
of contract units (by number of bedrooms) that have been vacant
for such period.

10. TENANCY

a. Lease

The lease between the owner and each assisted family must be in
accordance with HUD requirements. In all cases, the lease must include
the HUD-required tenancy addendum. The tenancy addendum must
include, word-for-word, all provisions required by HUD.

b. Termination of tenancy

152



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 11 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

1. The owner may terminate a tenancy only in accordance with the
lease and HUD requirements.

2. The owner must give the PHA a copy of any owner eviction notice
to the tenant at the same time that the owner gives notice to the
tenant. Owner eviction notice means a notice to vacate, or a
complaint or other initial pleading used to commence an eviction
action under State or local law.

c. Family payment

1. The portion of the monthly rent to owner payable by the family
(“tenant rent”) will be determined by the PHA in accordance with
HUD requirements. The amount of the tenant rent is subject to
change during the term of the HAP contract. Any changes in the
amount of the tenant rent will be effective on the date stated in a
notice by the PHA to the family and the owner.

2. The amount of the tenant rent as determined by the PHA is the
maximum amount the owner may charge the family for rent of a
contract unit, including all housing services, maintenance and
utilities to be provided by the owner in accordance with the HAP
contract and the lease.

3. The owner may not demand or accept any rent payment from the
tenant in excess of the tenant rent as determined by the PHA. The
owner must immediately return any excess rent payment to the
tenant.

4. The family is not responsible for payment of the portion of the
contract rent covered by the housing assistance payment under the
HAP contract. The owner may not terminate the tenancy of an
assisted family for nonpayment of the PHA housing assistance
payment.

5. The PHA is responsible only for making the housing assistance
payments to the owner on behalf of the family in accordance with
the HAP contract. The PHA is not responsible for paying the
tenant rent, or any other claim by the owner.

d. Other owner charges

153



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 12 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 
 

1. Except as provided in paragraph 2, the owner may not require the 
tenant or family members to pay charges for meals or supportive 
services. Nonpayment of such charges is not grounds for 
termination of tenancy. 

2. In assisted living developments receiving project-based voucher 
assistance, owners may charge tenants, family members, or both 
for meals or supportive services. These charges may not be 
included in the rent to owner, nor may the value of meals and 
supportive services be included in the calculation of reasonable 
rent. Non-payment of such charges is grounds for termination of 
the lease by the owner in an assisted living development. 

3. The owner may not charge the tenant or family members extra 
amounts for items customarily included in rent in the locality or 
provided at no additional cost to the unsubsidized tenant in the 
premises. 

e. Security deposit 

1. The owner may collect a security deposit from the family. 

2. The owner must comply with HUD and PHA requirements, which 
may change from time to time, regarding security deposits from a 
tenant. 

3. The PHA may prohibit security deposits in excess of private 
market practice, or in excess of amounts charged by the owner to 
unassisted families. 

4. When the family moves out of the contract unit, the owner, subject 
to State and local law, may use the security deposit, including any 
interest on the deposit, in accordance with the lease, as 
reimbursement for any unpaid tenant rent, damages to the unit or 
other amounts which the family owes under the lease. The owner 
must give the family a written list of all items charged against the 
security deposit and the amount of each item. After deducting the 
amount used as reimbursement to the owner, the owner must 
promptly refund the full amount of the balance to the family. 

5. If the security deposit is not sufficient to cover amounts the family 
owes under the lease, the owner may seek to collect the balance 
from the family. However, the PHA has no liability or 
responsibility for payment of any amount owed by the family to 

154



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 13 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

the owner. 

11. FAMILY RIGHT TO MOVE

a. The family may terminate its lease at any time after the first year of
occupancy. The family must give the owner advance written notice of
intent to vacate (with a copy to the PHA) in accordance with the lease. If
the family has elected to terminate the lease in this manner, the PHA must
offer the family the opportunity for tenant-based rental assistance in
accordance with HUD requirements.

b. Before providing notice to terminate the lease under paragraph a, the
family must first contact the PHA to request tenant-based rental assistance
if the family wishes to move with continued assistance. If tenant-based
rental assistance is not immediately available upon lease termination, the
PHA shall give the family priority to receive the next available
opportunity for tenant-based rental assistance.

12. OVERCROWDED, UNDER-OCCUPIED, AND ACCESSIBLE UNITS

The PHA subsidy standards determine the appropriate unit size for the family size
and composition. The PHA and owner must comply with the requirements in 24
CFR 983.260.  If the PHA determines that a family is occupying a wrong-size
unit, or a unit with accessibility features that the family does not require, and the
unit is needed by a family that requires the accessibility features, the PHA must
promptly notify the family and the owner of this determination, and of the PHA’s
offer of continued assistance in another unit.  24 CFR 983.260(a).

13. PROHIBITION OF DISCRIMINATION

a. The owner may not refuse to lease contract units to, or otherwise
discriminate against any person or family in leasing of a contract unit,
because of race, color, religion, sex (including sexual orientation and
gender identity), national origin, disability, age or familial status.

b. The owner must comply with the following requirements: The Fair
Housing Act (42 U.S.C. 3601–19) and implementing regulations at 24
CFR part 100 et seq.; Executive Order 11063, as amended by Executive
Order 12259 (3 CFR, 1959–1963 Comp., p. 652 and 3 CFR, 1980 Comp.,
p. 307) (Equal Opportunity in Housing Programs) and implementing
regulations at 24 CFR part 107; title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964
(42 U.S.C. 2000d-2000d-4) (Nondiscrimination in Federally Assisted
Programs) and implementing regulations at 24 CFR part 1; the Age
Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. 6101–6107) and implementing

155



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 14 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

regulations at 24 CFR part 146; section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 
1973 (29 U.S.C. 794) and implementing regulations at 24 CFR part 8; title 
II of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq. ; 28 
CFR part 35; Executive Order 11246, as amended by Executive Orders 
11375, 11478, 12086, and 12107 (3 CFR, 1964–1965 Comp., p. 339; 3 
CFR, 1966–1970 Comp., p. 684; 3 CFR, 1966–1970 Comp., p. 803; 3 
CFR, 1978 Comp., p. 230; and 3 CFR, 1978 Comp., p. 264, respectively) 
(Equal Employment Opportunity Programs) and implementing regulations 
at 41 CFR chapter 60; Executive Order 11625, as amended by Executive 
Order 12007 (3 CFR, 1971–1975 Comp., p. 616 and 3 CFR, 1977 Comp., 
p. 139) (Minority Business Enterprises); Executive Order 12432 (3 CFR,
1983 Comp., p. 198) (Minority Business Enterprise Development); and 
Executive Order 12138, as amended by Executive Order 12608 (3 CFR, 
1977 Comp., p. 393 and 3 CFR, 1987 Comp., p. 245) (Women’s Business 
Enterprise). 

c. The owner must comply with HUD’s Equal Access to HUD-assisted or -
insured housing rule (24 CFR 5.105(a)(2)).

d. The owner must comply with the Violence Against Women Act, as
amended, and HUD’s implementing regulation at 24 CFR part 5, Subpart
L, and program regulations.

e. The PHA and the owner must cooperate with HUD in the conducting of
compliance reviews and complaint investigations pursuant to all
applicable civil rights statutes, Executive Orders, and all related rules and
regulations.

14. PHA DEFAULT AND HUD REMEDIES

If HUD determines that the PHA has failed to comply with the HAP contract, or
has failed to take appropriate action to HUD’s satisfaction or as directed by HUD,
for enforcement of the PHA’s rights under the HAP contract, HUD may assume
the PHA’s rights and obligations under the HAP contract, and may perform the
obligations and enforce the rights of the PHA under the HAP contract.

15. OWNER DEFAULT AND PHA REMEDIES

a. Owner default

Any of the following is a default by the owner under the HAP contract:

1. The owner has failed to comply with any obligation under the HAP
contract, including the owner’s obligations to maintain all contract

156



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 15 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

units in accordance with the housing quality standards. 

2. The owner has violated any obligation under any other housing
assistance payments contract under Section 8 of the United States
Housing Act of 1937 (42 U.S.C. 1437f).

3. The owner has committed any fraud or made any false statement to
the PHA or HUD in connection with the HAP contract.

4. The owner has committed fraud, bribery or any other corrupt or
criminal act in connection with any Federal housing assistance
program.

5. If the property where the contract units are located is subject to a
lien or security interest securing a HUD loan or a mortgage insured
by HUD and:

a. The owner has failed to comply with the regulations for the
applicable mortgage insurance or loan program, with the
mortgage or mortgage note, or with the regulatory
agreement; or

b. The owner has committed fraud, bribery or any other
corrupt or criminal act in connection with the HUD loan or
HUD-insured mortgage.

6. The owner has engaged in any drug-related criminal activity or any
violent criminal activity.

b. PHA remedies

1. If the PHA determines that a breach has occurred, the PHA may
exercise any of its rights or remedies under the HAP contract.

2. The PHA must notify the owner in writing of such determination.
The notice by the PHA to the owner may require the owner to take
corrective action (as verified by the PHA) by a time prescribed in
the notice.

3. The PHA’s rights and remedies under the HAP contract include
recovery of overpayments, termination or reduction of housing
assistance payments, and termination of the HAP contract.

c. PHA remedy is not waived

157



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 16 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 
 

The PHA’s exercise or non-exercise of any remedy for owner breach of 
the HAP contract is not a waiver of the right to exercise that remedy or 
any other right or remedy at any time. 

16. OWNER DUTY TO PROVIDE INFORMATION AND ACCESS 
REQUIRED BY HUD OR PHA 

a. Required information 

The owner must prepare and furnish any information pertinent to the HAP 
contract as may reasonably be required from time to time by the PHA or 
HUD. The owner shall furnish such information in the form and manner 
required by the PHA or HUD. 

b. PHA and HUD access to premises 

The owner must permit the PHA or HUD or any of their authorized 
representatives to have access to the premises during normal business 
hours and, for the purpose of audit and examination, to have access to any 
books, documents, papers and records of the owner to the extent necessary 
to determine compliance with the HAP contract, including the verification 
of information pertinent to the housing assistance payments or the HAP 
contract. 

17. PHA AND OWNER RELATION TO THIRD PARTIES 

a. Injury because of owner action or failure to act 

The PHA has no responsibility for or liability to any person injured as a 
result of the owner’s action or failure to act in connection with the 
implementation of the HAP contract, or as a result of any other action or 
failure to act by the owner. 

b. Legal relationship 

The owner is not the agent of the PHA. The HAP contract does not create 
or affect any relationship between the PHA and any lender to the owner or 
any suppliers, employees, contractors or subcontractors used by the owner 
in connection with the implementation of the HAP contract. 

c. Exclusion of third-party claims 

Nothing in the HAP contract shall be construed as creating any right of a 
family or other third party (other than HUD) to enforce any provision of 
the HAP contract, or to assert any claim against HUD, the PHA or the 

158



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 17 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

owner under the HAP contract. 

d. Exclusion of owner claims against HUD

Nothing in the HAP contract shall be construed as creating any right of the
owner to assert any claim against HUD.

18. PHA-OWNED UNITS

Notwithstanding Section 17 of this HAP contract, a PHA may own units assisted
under the project-based voucher program, subject to the special requirements in
24 CFR 983.59 regarding PHA-owned units.

19. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

a. Interest of members, officers, or employees of PHA, members of local
governing body, or other public officials

1. No present or former member or officer of the PHA (except tenant-
commissioners), no employee of the PHA who formulates policy
or influences decisions with respect to the housing choice voucher
program or project-based voucher program, and no public official
or member of a governing body or State or local legislator who
exercises functions or responsibilities with respect to these
programs, shall have any direct or indirect interest, during his or
her tenure or for one year thereafter, or in the HAP contract.

2. HUD may waive this provision for good cause.

b. Disclosure

The owner has disclosed to the PHA any interest that would be a violation
of the HAP contract. The owner must fully and promptly update such
disclosures.

c. Interest of member of or delegate to Congress

No member of or delegate to the Congress of the United States of America
or resident-commissioner shall be admitted to any share or part of this
HAP Contract or to any benefits arising from the contract.

20. EXCLUSION FROM FEDERAL PROGRAMS

159



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 18 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

a. Federal requirements

The owner must comply with and is subject to requirements of 2 CFR part
2424. 

b. Disclosure

The owner certifies that:

1. The owner has disclosed to the PHA the identity of the owner and
any principal or interested party.

2. Neither the owner nor any principal or interested party is listed on
the U.S. General Services Administration list of parties excluded
from Federal procurement and non-procurement programs; and
none of such parties are debarred, suspended, subject to a limited
denial of participation or otherwise excluded under 2 CFR part
2424. 

21. TRANSFER OF THE CONTRACT OR PROPERTY

a. When consent is required

1. The owner agrees that neither the HAP contract nor the property
may be transferred without the advance written consent of the PHA
in accordance with HUD requirements.

2. “Transfer” includes:

i. Any sale or assignment or other transfer of ownership, in
any form, of the HAP contract or the property;

ii. The transfer of any right to receive housing assistance
payments that may be payable pursuant to the HAP
contract;

iii. The creation of a security interest in the HAP contract or
the property;

iv. Foreclosure or other execution on a security interest; or

v. A creditor’s lien, or transfer in bankruptcy.

3. If the owner is a corporation, partnership, trust or joint venture, the
owner is not required to obtain advance consent of the PHA

160



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 19 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 
 

pursuant to paragraph a for transfer of a passive and non-
controlling interest in the ownership entity (such as a stock transfer 
or transfer of the interest of a limited partner), if any interests so 
transferred cumulatively represent less than half the beneficial 
interest in the HAP contract or the property. The owner must 
obtain advance consent pursuant to paragraph a for transfer of any 
interest of a general partner. 

b. Transferee assumption of HAP contract 

No transferee (including the holder of a security interest, the security 
holder’s transferee or successor in interest, or the transferee upon exercise 
of a security interest) shall have any right to receive any payment of 
housing assistance payments pursuant to the HAP contract, or to exercise 
any rights or remedies under the HAP contract, unless the PHA has 
consented in advance, in writing to such transfer, and the transferee has 
agreed in writing, in a form acceptable to the PHA in accordance with 
HUD requirements, to assume the obligations of the owner under the HAP 
contract, and to comply with all the terms of the HAP contract. 

c. Effect of consent to transfer 

1. The creation or transfer of any security interest in the HAP 
contract is limited to amounts payable under the HAP contract in 
accordance with the terms of the HAP contract. 

2. The PHA’s consent to transfer of the HAP contract or the property 
does not to change the terms of the HAP contract in any way, and 
does not change the rights or obligations of the PHA or the owner 
under the HAP contract. 

3. The PHA’s consent to transfer of the HAP contract or the property 
to any transferee does not constitute consent to any further 
transfers of the HAP contract or the property, including further 
transfers to any successors or assigns of an approved transferee. 

d. When transfer is prohibited 

The PHA will not consent to the transfer if any transferee, or any principal 
or interested party is debarred, suspended subject to a limited denial of 
participation, or otherwise excluded under 2 CFR part 2424, or is listed on 
the U.S. General Services Administration list of parties excluded from 
Federal procurement or non-procurement programs. 

161



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 20 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

22. SUBSIDY LAYERING

A subsidy layering review is not required for existing housing projects.

23. OWNER LOBBYING CERTIFICATIONS

a. The owner certifies, to the best of owner’s knowledge and belief, that:

1. No Federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by
or on behalf of the owner, to any person for influencing or
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an
employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the
awarding of the HAP contract, or the extension, continuation,
renewal, amendment, or modification of the HAP contract.

2. If any funds other than Federally appropriated funds have been
paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to
influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of
Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a
Member of Congress in connection with the HAP contract, the
owner must complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure
Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions.

b. This certification by the owner is a prerequisite for making or entering into
this transaction imposed by 31 U.S.C. 1352.

24. TERMINATION OF HAP CONTRACT FOR WRONGFUL SELECTION
OF CONTRACT UNITS

The HAP contract may be terminated upon at least 30 days notice to the owner by
the PHA or HUD if the PHA or HUD determines that the contract units were not
eligible for selection in conformity with HUD requirements.

25. NOTICES AND OWNER CERTIFICATIONS

a. Where the owner is required to give any notice to the PHA pursuant to the
HAP contract or any other provision of law, such notice must be in writing
and must be given in the form and manner required by the PHA.

b. Any certification or warranty by the owner pursuant to the HAP contract
shall be deemed a material representation of fact upon which reliance was
placed when this transaction was made or entered into.

26. NOTICE OF TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION WITHOUT

162



OMB Approval No. 2577–0169 
(exp. 04/30/2026) 

Project-Based Voucher Program 
HAP Contract for Existing Housing 

Previous editions are obsolete 
HUD 52530B Page - 21 of Part 2 

(4/2023) 

EXTENSION 

a. An owner must provide notice to the PHA, and to the affected tenants, not
less than 1 year prior to the termination or expiration without extension of
a HAP contract.

b. An owner who fails to provide such notice must permit tenants to remain
in their units for the required notice period with no increase in the tenant
portion of the rent. During this time period, an owner may not evict a
tenant as a result of the owner’s inability to collect an increased tenant
portion of rent. With PHA agreement, an owner may extend the
terminating contract for a period of time sufficient to give tenants 1 year
advance notice.

27. FAMILY’S RIGHT TO REMAIN

Upon termination or expiration of the contract without extension, each family
assisted under the contract may elect to use its assistance to remain in the project
if the family’s unit complies with the inspection requirements under section
8(o)(8) (42 U.S.C. 1437f(o)(8) of the U.S. Housing Act of 1937 (“the 1937
Act”)), the rent for the unit is reasonable as required by section 8(o)(10)(A) of the
1937 Act, and the family pays its required share of the rent and the amount, if
any, by which the unit rent (including the amount allowed for tenant-paid utilities)
exceeds the applicable payment standard.

28. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; INTERPRETATION

a. The HAP contract, including the exhibits, is the entire agreement between
the PHA and the owner.

b. The HAP contract must be interpreted and implemented in accordance
with all statutory requirements, and with all HUD requirements, including
amendments or changes in HUD requirements during the term of the HAP
contract. The owner agrees to comply with all such laws and HUD
requirements. Any regulatory citation specifically included in this HAP
contract is subject to any subsequent revision of such citation.

163



Lantern Woods/Wall Avenue Owner: Wall Avenue LLC 

EXHIBIT A 

TOTAL NUMBER OF UNITS IN PROJECT COVERED BY THIS HAP CONTRACT; 
INITIAL RENT TO OWNER; AND DESCRIPTION OF CONTRACT UNITS 

A total of eight (8) units are within the Phoenix Apartments, of which eight (8) units will be covered by this HAP 
Contract.  

Development:  Phoenix Apartments 
Address:  1368 – 1376 Wall Avenue 
City, State, Zip: San Bernardino, CA   

The 8 contract units are broken down as follows: 

Address Apartment No. Bedrooms/Bathrooms Contract Rent 

1368 Wall Avenue -- 1/1 $1,100 

1370 Wall Avenue -- 1/1 $1,100 

1372 Wall Avenue A 1/1 $1,100 

1372 Wall Avenue B 1/1 $1,100 

1374 Wall Avenue -- 2/1 $1,150 

1376 Wall Avenue A 1/1 $1,100 

1376 Wall Avenue B 1/1 $1,100 

1376 Wall Avenue C 1/1 $1,100 

*Contract rents are those in effect on March 1, 2025.

164



Lantern Woods/Wall Avenue Owner: Wall Avenue LLC 

EXHIBIT B 

SERVICES, MAINTENANCE AND EQUIPMENT TO BE PROVIDED BY THE OWNER WITHOUT 
CHARGES IN ADDITION TO RENT TO OWNER 

This agreement incorporates by reference the Apartment Management Agreement for the Phoenix Apartments. 

Unit amenities: 
• Refrigerator
• Range/oven
• Wall Furnaces
• Wall A/C units, Evaporative Coolers
• Window treatments
• Cable and internet access
• Washer/Dryer in unit 1372-B
• Garbage disposal
• Private patio or balcony

Community amenities: 
• Onsight parking

165



Lantern Woods/Wall Avenue Owner: Wall Avenue LLC 

EXHIBIT C 

UTILITIES AVAILABLE IN THE CONTRACT UNITS, INCLUDING A LISTING OF UTILITY 
SERVICES TO BE PAID BY THE OWNER (WITHOUT CHARGES IN ADDITION TO RENT TO 

OWNER) AND UTILITIES TO BE PAID BY THE TENANTS 

Utilities to be Paid by the Owner Without Charges in Addition to the Rent to Owner: 
• Water
• Sewer
• Trash

Utilities to be Paid by the Tenants: 

• Water Heating (Gas)
• Heat (Gas)
• Other Electric
• Cooking (Gas)
• Air conditioning

166



Lantern Woods/Wall Avenue Owner: Wall Avenue LLC 

EXHIBIT D 

FEATURES TO BE PROVIDED TO COMPLY WITH PROGRAM ACCESSIBILITY FEATURES OF 
SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 

• Van accessible parking
• Accessible mailboxes

167



REPORT/RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO AND RECORD 

OF ACTION 

December 9, 2025 

FROM 
MARIA RAZO, Executive Director, Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino 

SUBJECT  
..Title v

Contract Amendment with GovInvest (dba TrueComp) for Pension and Labor Cost Forecasting 
..End 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 
..Recommendation 

1. Approve Amendment No. 5 to contract No. PC1252, effective February 1, 2026, with
GovInvest (dba TrueComp) for Pension and Labor Cost Forecasting to increase the contract
by $19,975 for a total amount not-to-exceed $114,925 and exercise the last option year
through January 31, 2027. Included in this update is the addition of the dba, TrueComp.

2. Authorize and direct the Executive Director to execute and deliver the contract amendment to
GovInvest (dba TrueComp) and, upon consultation with Legal Counsel, to approve any non-
substantive revisions necessary to complete the transaction

(Presenter: Maria Razo, Executive Director, 332-6305) 
..Body 

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT 
Aspirational Statement #3: To pursue continued financial stability, monitoring, and 
accountability as stewards of limited funding.  
Aspirational Statement #4: To utilize research and technology to drive innovative 
programming and operational processes which allow us to be more responsive and result 
in the advancement of the families we serve.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT 
The total contract amount is not-to-exceed $114,925 and is funded by the Housing Authority of 
the County of San Bernardino’s (HACSB) multiple programs. Funds are included in the budget 
for fiscal year 2026. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
HACSB employs advanced software and specialized consulting services for the valuation and 
forecasting of the agency's pension and Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) costs. The 
software streamlines numerous administrative tasks, significantly reducing manual labor and the 
potential for human error. It offers analytical tools that automate data collection and processing, 
providing real-time insights into pension and OPEB obligations. Alongside these technological 
aids, HACSB receives consulting services that include comprehensive actuarial assessments, 
scenario planning, and predictive modeling to forecast future financial positions under various 
conditions. These services help in crafting long-term strategic plans for managing pension and 
OPEB,  ensuring that HACSB remains proactive in addressing future financial obligations and 
capitalizes on emerging opportunities. Originally, costs for the labor module were included; 
however, we are not currently using the labor costing module and so these costs are not included 
in the current contract. 

PROCUREMENT 
The Procurement and Contracts Department previously released a Request for Quotes (RFQ) 
PC1252 on November 10, 2021.  Outreach efforts included email invitations to five vendors. Two 

168



Contract Amendment with GovInvest (dba TrueComp) for Pension and Labor Cost Forecasting 
December 9, 2025 

Page 2 of 2 

proposals were received in response to this RFQ.  Proposals were evaluated per the requirements 
of the RFQ and GovInvest was determined to have met all requirements for selection to provide 
these services to the agency. 

Due to the original contract amount being below the professional services threshold of the HACSB 
Procurement Policy, board approval was not required. HACSB originally executed a contract with 
GovInvest in the amount of $22,500.00 for a one-year base beginning on February 1, 2022 and 
expiring on January 31, 2023 with options for four single-year extensions through January 31, 
2027. 

On February 1, 2023, HACSB executed Amendment No. 1 and exercised the first option year and 
increased the contract compensation by $24,000 for a total amount not-to-exceed $46,500 
through January 1, 2024.  

On July 1, 2023, HACSB executed Amendment No. 2 and updated the scope of work to include 
pension, OPEB and labor management services and increased the contract compensation by 
$8,500 for a total amount not-to-exceed $55,000 through January 1, 2024. 

On February 1, 2024, HACSB executed Amendment No. 3 and exercised the second option year 
and increased the contract compensation by $20,375 for a total amount not-to-exceed $74,975 
through January 31, 2025. 

On February 1, 2025, HACSB executed Amendment No. 4 and exercised the third option year 
and increased the contract compensation by $19,975.00 for a total amount not-to-exceed 
$94,950.00 through January 31, 2026. 

The proposed Amendment No. 5 documents HACSB’s exercise of the fourth option year through 
January 31, 2027, and adds GovInvest’s designated entity, TrueComp, as the representative 
entity performing the services.  

ITEM ATTACHMENTS 
 Contract – CON-BOC-12092025-Pension and Labor Cost Forecasting Contract

REVIEW BY OTHERS 
This item has been reviewed by General Legal Counsel, Fred Galante, on November 24, 2025. 

169



01272.0001/730589.1

AMENDMENT #5 TO CONTRACT FOR PENSION AND LABOR COST FORECASTING 
(PC1252) 

Between 

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE 
COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO  

And 

GOVINVEST (dba TrueComp) 

This Amendment No. 5 (“Fifth Amendment”), dated February 1, 2026 (“Effective 
Date”), to Agreement for Pension and Labor Cost Forecasting (PC1252), is entered into by 
and between the Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino, a California public 
body, (“Authority”) and GovInvest (dba TrueComp) (“Contractor”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Authority and Contractor entered into that certain Consulting, 
Services, and Non-Routine Maintenance Related Services Agreement (Non-Construction), 
dated February 1, 2022, relating to Pension and Labor Cost Forecasting (“Agreement”) 
with a total price of $22,500.00; 

WHEREAS, the Authority and Contractor entered into Amendment Number One to 
the Agreement to exercise the first option year and increase the compensation payable to 
Contractor by $24,000.00 for a total amount not-to-exceed $46,500.00 through January 1, 
2024. 

WHEREAS, the Authority and Contractor entered into Amendment Number Two to 
update the scope of work outlined in Exhibit “A-2” to include pension, OPEB and labor 
management services and increase the compensation payable to Contractor by $8,500.00 
for a total amount not-to-exceed $55,000.00 through January 1, 2024. 

WHEREAS, the Authority and Contractor entered into Amendment Number Three 
to exercise the second option year and increase the compensation payable to Contractor 
by $20,375.00 for a total amount not-to-exceed $74,975.00 through January 31, 2025 and 
amend the Scope of Work to be performed by Contractor. 

WHEREAS, the Authority and Contractor entered into Amendment Number Four to 
exercise the third option year and increase the compensation payable to Contractor by 
$19,975.00 for a total amount not-to-exceed $74,975.00 through January 31, 2026 and 
update the Scope of Work to be performed by Contractor. 

170



01272.0001/730589.1 
Page 2 of 5 

WHEREAS, the Authority and Contractor now wish to enter into this Fifth 
Amendment to add the dba TrueComp as the Contractor’s designated entity and exercise 
the fourth option year and increase the compensation payable to Contractor by $19,975 for 
a total amount not-to-exceed $114,925 through January 31, 2027. 

OPERATIVE PROVISIONS 

NOW, THEREFORE, the foregoing Recitals being true and correct, and in 
consideration of the mutual covenants and obligations contained in this Fifth Amendment 
by the parties and other consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby expressly 
acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 

Section 1.    References in the Contract to Contractor’s name shall be amended to 
include Contractor’s dba TrueComp. 

Section 2. Article 3 of the Agreement is hereby amended to extend the term for an 
additional one (1) year and expiring on January 31, 2027.  Except as so amended, the 
other provisions of Article 3 shall remain unmodified and in full force and effect. 

Section 3.    Article 4 of the Agreement, entitled “Price” is hereby amended to 
increase the compensation payable to Contractor for the provision of the Work for the total 
not-to-exceed sum as shown in the Total Agreement Cost set forth on Exhibit “A-1” 
attached to this Fifth Amendment.  Except as so amended, the other provisions of Article 4 
shall remain unmodified and in full force and effect. 

Section 4.  Continuing Effect of Agreement. Except as amended by this Fifth 
Agreement, all provisions of the Agreement, as amended, shall remain unchanged and in 
full force and effect. From and after the date of this Fifth Amendment, whenever the term 
“Agreement” appears in the Agreement, it shall mean the Agreement, as amended by 
Amendment Number five. 

Section 5. Affirmation of Agreement; Warranty Re Absence of Defaults. Authority 
and Consultant each ratify and reaffirm each and every one of the respective rights and 
obligations arising under the Agreement, as amended. Each party represents and warrants 
to the other that there have been no written or oral modifications to the Agreement other 
than by way of this Fifth Amendment as provided herein. Each party represents and 
warrants to the other that the Agreement, as amended by this Fifth Amendment, is 
currently an effective, valid, and binding obligation. 

Consultant represents and warrants to Authority that, as of the date of this Fifth 
Amendment, Authority is not in default of any material term of the Agreement and that 
there have been no events that, with the passing of time or the giving of notice, or both, 
would constitute a material default under the Agreement. 

Authority represents and warrants to Consultant that, as of the date of this Fifth 
Amendment, Consultant is not in default of any material term of the Agreement and that 
there have been no events that, with the passing of time or the giving of notice, or both, 
would constitute a material default under the Agreement. 

171



01272.0001/730589.1 
Page 3 of 5 

Section 6. Adequate Consideration. The parties hereto irrevocably stipulate and 
agree that they have each received adequate and independent consideration for the 
performance of the obligations they have undertaken pursuant to this Fifth Amendment. 

Section 7. Authorization. The persons executing this Fifth Amendment on behalf 
of the parties hereto warrant that (i) such party is duly organized and existing, (ii) they are 
duly authorized to execute and deliver this Fifth Amendment on behalf of said party, (iii) by 
so executing this Fifth Amendment, such party is formally bound to the provisions of this 
Fifth Amendment, and (iv) the entering into this Fifth Amendment does not violate any 
provision of any other agreement to which said party is bound. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino and GovInvest 
(dba TrueComp) hereby execute this this Fifth Amendment. 

GOVINVEST (dba TrueComp) 

By:___________________________________ 

Name:_________________________________ 

Title:__________________________________ 

Date:__________________________________ 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF 
SAN BERNARDINO 

By:____________________________________ 

Name: Maria Razo  

Title: __Executive Director__________________ 

Date:___________________________________ 

172



01272.0001/730589.1 
Page 4 of 5 

Exhibit A-1 

Schedule Dates: 

Effective Date:  February 1, 2026 

Completion Date: January 31, 2027 

Total Agreement Cost: Not to exceed $114,925.00 

   Service Fees: OPEB module - $7,098.00 
Pension module - $9,282.00 
Managed Services - $3,595.00 

          Total: $19,975.00 

Original Agreement Amount Not to Exceed $22,500.00 
Net Change Orders Previously Approved $0.00 
Net Change Order - Previously Approved – Amendment #1 $24,000.00 
Net Change Order - Previously Approved -  Amendment #2 $8,500.00 
Net Change Order – Previously Approved - Amendment #3 $19,975.00 
Net Change Order – Amendment #4 $19,975.00 
Net Change Order – Amendment #5 $19,975.00 
Agreement Value as Amended Not to Exceed $114,925.00 

173



01272.0001/730589.1 
Page 5 of 5 

174



REPORT/RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO AND RECORD 

OF ACTION 

December 9, 2025 

FROM 
MARIA RAZO, Executive Director, Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino 

SUBJECT  
..Title v

Meeting Minutes for the Special Meeting Held on November 13, 2025 
..End 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 
Approve the meeting minutes for the special meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the 
Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino held on November 13, 2025. 
(Presenter: Maria Razo, Executive Director, 332-6305) 
..Body 

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT 
Aspirational Statement #2: To be known as a trusted provider of safe, dignified, and 
desirable homes and environments that enrich and add value to the community.  
Aspirational Statement #3: To pursue continued financial stability, monitoring, and 
accountability as stewards of limited funding.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT 
Approval of this item will not result in a financial impact to the Housing Authority of the County of 
San Bernardino (HACSB) as there are no financial impacts associated with this item.  

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
The HACSB Board of Commissioners (Board) Special Meeting took place on November 13, 2025, 
and attached are the meeting minutes for review and recommended approval by the Board.   

PROCUREMENT 
Not applicable.  

ATTACHMENTS 
 Attachment 1 – November 13, 2025 Meeting Minutes
 Attachment 2 – Public Comment and Response

REVIEW BY OTHERS 
This item has been reviewed by General Legal Counsel, Fred Galante, on November 19, 2025. 

175



MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 
THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO 

November 13, 2025 

The Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino met in a 
special meeting at the Administration Office, at 715 East Brier Drive, San Bernardino, California 
at 3:00 p.m. on November 13, 2025. 

Details of the meeting discussion can be obtained through the recording of the Board of 
Commissioners meeting through a Public Records Request submitted in person or through the 
HACSB website: https://hacsb.com/public-records-request/   

1) Call to Order and Roll Call

The meeting was called to order at 3:02 p.m., and upon roll call, the following were present: 

Chair Cooper 
Vice-Chair MacDuff 
Commissioner Miller  
Commissioner Johnson 
Commissioner Thomas 
Commissioner Jain 
Commissioner Khan 

Also in attendance were Maria Razo, Executive Director; Rishad Mitha, Deputy Executive 
Director; Kristin Maithonis, Director of Housing Services; Nicole Beydler, Director of Policy 
and Communications; Jennifer Dawson, Director of Administrative Services; Jesse Diaz, 
Director of Business Services; Angie Lardapide, Procurement and Contracts Supervisor; John 
Moore, Director of Development; Garrett Dalton, Information Technology Manager; Lucy 
Leslie, Director of Housing Communities; Eduardo Martinez, Assistant Regional Manager; 
Renee Kangas, Senior Management Analyst; Shamira Shirley, Management Analyst; and Robyn 
Soto, Temporary Executive Assistant. 

Also present was Fred Galante, Legal Counsel to the Housing Authority. 

2) Additions or Deletions to the Agenda

Chair Cooper called for additions or deletions to the November 13, 2025, agenda. There were none. 

3) General Public Comment

Chair Cooper provided an opportunity for members of the public to address the Board of 
Commissioners. A written public comment was received on November 12, 2025. Maria Razo, 
Executive Director shared that she had also received an email from the commenter with the same 
concerns shared with the board and had responded that morning via email. A copy of the comment 
and response was provided to the Board and is attached.   

4) Executive Director’s Report

The Executive Director’s Report was requested. 

Executive Director, Maria Razo, provided the Executive Director’s Report. 
176



Minutes of the Special Meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the 
County of San Bernardino for November 13, 2025 
Page 2 

Discussion amongst the Board of Commissioners took place regarding the Executive Director’s 
Report for November 13, 2025. 

5) Board Building Presentation

Discussion calendar item number 5, to receive the board building presentation for November 13, 
2025, an overview of the Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino’s Moving to Work 
designation, was requested. 

Renee Kangas, Senior Management Analyst, provided the presentation to the Board. 

Discussion amongst the Board took place regarding the discussion calendar item number 5. 

6) Adoption of Resolution No. 227

Discussion calendar item number 6, to adopt Resolution No. 227 approving revisions to the 
Admissions and Continued Occupancy Policy governing the Housing Authority of the County of 
San Bernardino’s Public Housing program was requested. 

Commissioner Miller moved to approve discussion calendar item number 6, as recommended by 
staff and Vice-Chair MacDuff seconded the motion. Upon roll call vote, the Ayes and Nays were 
as follows: 

Ayes Nays
Chair Cooper 
Vice-Chair MacDuff 
Commissioner Miller  
Commissioner Johnson 
Commissioner Thomas 
Commissioner Jain 
Commissioner Khan 

7) Adoption of Resolution No. 228

Discussion calendar item number 7, to adopt Resolution No. 228 approving revisions to the 
Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino Conflict-of-Interest Code pursuant to the 
Political Reform Act of 1974 was requested. 

Commissioner Miller moved to approve discussion calendar item number 7, as recommended by 
staff and Commissioner Thomas seconded the motion. Upon roll call vote, the Ayes and Nays 
were as follows: 

177



Minutes of the Special Meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the 
County of San Bernardino for November 13, 2025 
Page 3 

Ayes Nays
Chair Cooper 
Vice-Chair MacDuff 
Commissioner Miller  
Commissioner Johnson 
Commissioner Thomas 
Commissioner Jain 
Commissioner Khan 

8) Approve Contract No. PC1441 with Aleshire & Wynder, LLP for General Legal Counsel
Services 

Discussion calendar item number 8, to approve Contract No. PC1441 with Aleshire & Wynder, 
LLP for General Legal Counsel Services for an amount not to exceed $320,000 for a two-year 
base period beginning December 9, 2025, through December 8, 2027, with three single or 
multiple year options to extend the contract until no later than December 8, 2030 was requested. 

Commissioner Johnson moved to approve discussion calendar item number 8, as recommended 
by staff and Commissioner Jain seconded the motion. Upon roll call vote, the Ayes and Nays were 
as follows: 

Ayes Nays
Chair Cooper 
Vice-Chair MacDuff 
Commissioner Miller  
Commissioner Johnson 
Commissioner Thomas 
Commissioner Jain 
Commissioner Khan 

9, 10, and 11) Consent Calendar  

Approval of the consent calendar including agenda items number 9-11 was requested. 

Commissioner Miller moved to approve consent calendar agenda items number 9-11: 

9) Approve the meeting minutes for the regular meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the
Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino held on October 14, 2025.   

10) Approve and file agency-wide financial statements through July 2025.

11) Approve the expense of uncollectable vacated tenant accounts for the Authority Owned
Portfolio to be written off as collection losses for the month of August 2025.   

The motion was duly seconded by Commissioner Thomas.  

Upon roll call vote, the Ayes and Nays were as follows: 
178



Minutes of the Special Meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the 
County of San Bernardino for November 13, 2025 
Page 4 

Ayes Nays 
Chair Cooper 
Vice-Chair MacDuff (10 & 11 only) 
Commissioner Miller  
Commissioner Johnson 
Commissioner Thomas 
Commissioner Jain 
Commissioner Khan 

Vice-Chair MacDuff abstained from item number 9 as she was not present at the October 14, 2025 
meeting. 

12) Closed Session

Legal Counsel to the Housing Authority announced that the Board of Commissioners would 
recess into closed session to discuss the item listed on the closed session portion of the agenda, 
namely Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation pursuant to Government Code 
section 54956.9(d)(1) in the matter of Kavonne Babbigtt, et al. v. Housing Authority of the 
County of San Bernardino (San Bernardino Superior Court, Case No CIVSB2424086). The 
Board then recessed to closed session. 

Following the closed session, Chair Cooper reconvened the open session, at which time, Legal 
Counsel to the Housing Authority reported that the Board held a closed session on the matter listed 
on the agenda described above, received an update on the status of that matter, provided direction 
and no further reportable action was taken. 

There being no other business, Chair Cooper moved for the special meeting of Thursday, 
November 13, 2025, to be adjourned, and which motion was duly seconded by Commissioner 
Miller. There being no objection to the call for adjournment, the meeting was adjourned by 
unanimous consent at 4:28 p.m. 

Attest: 

_________________________________ 
Secretary 

179



Attachment to Minutes of the Special Meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the Housing 
Authority of the County of San Bernardino for November 13, 2025 
Page 1 of 3 

From: betty arce   
To: Maria Razo 
Subject: COMPLAINT ABOUT SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY 

I would like you to be aware of this issue and hope that you would be able to provide some 
assistance.  

As a forty (40)year resident of San Bernardino County, in the city of Rialto I've hopping for a 
little more help. 

Plain and simple , short and sweet and to the point.  How does this make any sense at all? 
(See  chart below). I'm  72 years old. I'm a widow. My only source of  income is Social Security 
$1798.00, monthly, therefore, my income is very limited.  

I've been on "Low Income Waitlist throught  the Housing Authority of the County of San 
Bernardino" for a little over three (3) years. I was beyond excited and full of hope when I finally 
received a letter, and email informing me that I been chosen, I cried and prayed thanking the 
Lord for this gift.  Only to have my hopes and dream crushed by the income guide lines. Now 
crying because I have no hope no dream. 

This is what makes no sense.  How can someone living on Social Security  afford this? This is 
suppose to be a low income program, to help those in need.  Well it's NOT, and this is the reason 
why.  

In the County of San Bernardino, San Bernardino has the highest rate homelessness. 

The city with the highest rate of homelessness in San Bernardino County is the city of San 
Bernardino, in 2024 it was 1,417  and as 2025 it is 1,535. 

How would a person that's only receiving $1798.00  be expected to pay this much $1469.00 for 
rent along with all the other necessities of life. 

180



Attachment to Minutes of the Special Meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the Housing 
Authority of the County of San Bernardino for November 13, 2025 
Page 2 of 3 

Sincerely,  

Betty Arce 

181



Attachment to Minutes of the Special Meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the Housing 
Authority of the County of San Bernardino for November 13, 2025 
Page 3 of 3 

From: Maria Razo 
To: betty arce   

Thank you for reaching out and sharing your concerns about the rent levels at Valencia Grove II. 
We completely understand how important affordability is, and I appreciate the opportunity to 
provide some clarification. 

Valencia Grove II follows the affordability guidelines established by the Low Income Housing 
Tax Credit (LIHTC) program, which is one of the largest affordable housing programs both 
regionally and nationally. The rents at this community are set based on the LIHTC program. We 
recognize that some households may need deeper affordability options, and the Housing 
Authority does have additional properties and programs designed to support families and 
individuals with lower income levels. Our staff would be happy to share more information about 
these programs. I do want to add that due to the high needs for affordable housing in our 
community, there are waiting lists for all of our affordable housing communities and rental 
assistance programs.  

I understand our team has been trying to connect with you to discuss this further. If you have any 
further questions please reach out to Rishad Mitha, Deputy Executive Director, for additional 
assistance. 

Thank you again for taking the time to contact us. 

Maria Razo 

Executive Director 

Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino  

715 E. Brier Drive | San Bernardino, CA 92408 

182



REPORT/RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO AND RECORD 

OF ACTION 

December 9, 2025 

FROM 
MARIA RAZO, Executive Director, Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino 

SUBJECT  
..Title v

Agency-Wide Financial Statements Through August 2025 
..End 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 
..Recommendation 

Approve and file agency-wide financial statements through August 2025. 
(Presenter: Maria Razo, Executive Director, 332-6305)  
..Body 

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT 
Aspirational Statement #3: To pursue continued financial stability, monitoring, and 
accountability as stewards of limited funding.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT 
The Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino’s (HACSB) fiscal year-to-date agency-
wide net gain through August 2025 is $9,882,129. The significant variances of the budget are as 
follows: 

 The HCV program received $13 million more in Housing Assistance Payment (HAP)
funding when compared to the budgeted amount. This is primarily due to a significant
growth in inbound portability leasing with no absorption. A draw from restricted HAP
HUD held reserves was budgeted in the amount of $8m for this fiscal year. We are
currently not anticipating a need to draw any funds from restricted reserves.

 The HCV program experienced an increase in HAP expenses in the amount of $5.6
million. This was mainly due to rising rents and an increase in vouchers issued, due to
issuances in 2024. Unlike the funding in the HCV program, HAP is not budgeted at a 100%
lease rate. It is budgeted based on an estimated lease rate for the year, estimated
available funding per federally approved appropriations, and on approved use of restricted
HAP HUD held reserves.

 Based on the 2024 annual reconciliation performed by HUD, HACSB received $6.5 million
in HAP subsidy for the prior year.  Per HUD’s guideline, prior year funds are recognized
as revenue when received.  This is contrary to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAPP) but is acceptable and an allowable practice for all housing authorities.

 The tenant income was $3.8 million higher than the budgeted amount, mostly due to an
increase in rental income. This rental income increase is due to rent increases in the
authority owned portfolio and the percentage of tenant income change in the Housing
Choice Voucher program.

 Physical needs work was $2.5 million less than budgeted. This amount is reflected in the
extraordinary maintenance line on the financial statements, and the variance is due to
some projects not commencing due to staff shortages. Health and Safety items continue
to get priority attention.

183



Agency-Wide Financial Statements Through August 2025 
December 9, 2025 

Page 2 of 2 

 Depreciation expenses are not budgeted and amount to $4.3 million. This is not a cash
transaction and is based on the accrual accounting procedures required by GAAP that
reduce the value of fixed assets over time. Non-cash transactions like depreciation are
required under GAAP as they affect an agency’s financial statements without impacting
on its cash flow.

The information provided is based on unaudited information. During the audit process, revenue 
and expenses are typically adjusted and we expect a material amount of expenses related to the 
pension and Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB) plans to be recognized during this process. 
This will lead to a decrease in the operating net income. The audited financial report will be 
provided to the Board of Commissioners once the audit process has been completed. The audit 
process will be completed in late June 2026 for FY 2025.   

Financial Summary FY 2025 YTD 
Revenues $245,126,571 
Expenses $(230,917,241) 
Operating Net Income/(Loss) $14,209,330 
Operating Transfers/Non-Operating Items $(4,327,201) 
Net Income/(Loss) $9,882,129 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
HACSB is the largest provider of affordable housing in San Bernardino County, administering 
multiple housing programs, including the Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) program and owns and 
operates a multi-family portfolio. The HCV program provides tenant-based subsidies, enabling 
low-income families to afford safe, quality housing in the private market, complementing our 
portfolio of physical units. The FFY 2024-25 budget and financial operations align with HACSB’s 
vision, mission, Strategic Plan, and MTW Annual Plans, supporting affordable housing and 
community development across the county. We continue to focus on maintaining the agency’s 
fiscal stability, customer service, innovation, best practices, partnerships that will assist our staff 
and families, and show a continued passion for our agency’s mission. Based on the best practice 
to apprise HACSB’s Board of Commissioners on the agency’s financial position, HACSB is 
presenting the financial statements monthly.  

PROCUREMENT 
Not applicable. 

ITEM ATTACHMENTS 
 Attachment – Consolidated Budget to Actuals 8.2025

REVIEW BY OTHERS 
This item has been reviewed by General Legal Counsel, Fred Galante, on November 18, 2025. 

184



Page 1 of 1

 YTD Actual  YTD Budget  Variance  % Var  Annual 

 INCOME

 TENANT INCOME

 Total Rental Income 34,457,958 30,933,831 3,524,127 11.39 33,745,895

     Total Other Tenant Income 830,462 545,838 284,624 52.14 595,147

 NET TENANT INCOME 35,288,420 31,479,669 3,808,751 12.10 34,341,043

 GRANT INCOME

 TOTAL GRANT INCOME 201,805,728 180,545,156 21,260,573 11.78 196,976,041

 OTHER INCOME

 TOTAL OTHER INCOME 8,032,423 8,365,858 -333,436 -3.99 9,007,913

 TOTAL INCOME 245,126,571 220,390,683 24,735,888 11.22 240,324,996

 EXPENSES

 GRANT EXPENSES

 TOTAL GRANT EXPENSES 10,927,853 9,191,556 -1,736,297 -18.89 10,044,842

 ADMINISTRATIVE

 Total Administrative Salaries 15,821,487 16,776,826 955,339 5.69 18,659,130

 Total Legal Expense 513,982 594,599 80,617 13.56 648,657

 Total Other Admin Expenses 7,364,319 7,764,128 399,810 5.15 8,444,201

 Total Miscellaneous Admin Expenses 2,697,231 2,922,549 225,319 7.71 3,097,127

 TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 26,397,018 28,058,102 1,661,084 5.92 30,849,115

 TENANT SERVICES

 TOTAL TENANT SERVICES EXPENSES 90,450 166,668 76,218 45.73 179,867

 UTILITIES

 TOTAL UTILITY EXPENSES 4,359,239 4,433,067 73,828 1.67 4,839,943

 MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS

 Total General Maint Expense 3,878,465 3,604,177 -274,288 -7.61 3,982,483

 Total Materials 1,389,343 1,056,957 -332,385 -31.45 1,152,934

 Total Contract Costs 4,783,461 4,179,017 -604,444 -14.46 4,558,556

 TOTAL MAINTENANCE EXPENSES 10,051,269 8,840,152 -1,211,117 -13.70 9,693,972

 GENERAL EXPENSES

 TOTAL GENERAL EXPENSES 2,798,054 2,196,174 -601,880 -27.41 2,394,281

 EXTRAORDINARY MAINTENANCE EXPENSES

 TOTAL EXTRAORDINARY MAINTENANCE EXPENSES 3,621,206 6,127,110 2,505,904 40.90 6,583,396

 HOUSING ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS

 TOTAL HOUSING ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS 170,762,706 165,143,006 -5,619,699 -3.40 180,156,007

 FINANCING EXPENSE

 TOTAL FINANCING EXPENSES 1,909,446 1,912,523 3,077 0.16 2,087,990

 TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 230,917,241 226,068,360 -4,848,881 -2.14 246,829,414

 OPERATING NET INCOME 14,209,330 -5,677,677 19,887,007 350.27 -6,504,418

 NET OPERATING TRANSFER IN/OUT 0 0 0 N/A 0

 NON-OPERATING ITEMS

 TOTAL NON-OPERATING ITEMS 4,327,201 0 -4,327,201 N/A 0

 NET INCOME 9,882,129 -5,677,677 15,559,806 274.05 -6,504,418

HACSB
Budget Comparison

Period = Oct 2024-Aug 2025

185



REPORT/RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO AND RECORD 

OF ACTION 

December 9, 2025 

FROM 
MARIA RAZO, Executive Director, Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino 

SUBJECT  
..Title v

Vacated Tenant Accounts for the Authority Owned Portfolio to be Written Off as Collection Loss 
for the Month of September 2025. 
..End 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 
..Recommendation 

Approve the expense of uncollectable vacated tenant accounts for the Authority Owned Portfolio 
to be written off as collection losses for the month of September 2025. 
(Presenter: Maria Razo, Executive Director, 332-6305) 
..Body 

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT 
Aspirational Statement #3: To pursue continued financial stability, monitoring, and 
accountability as stewards of limited funding.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT 
The accounts receivable loss for the month ending September 30, 2025, is $102,471.49. The 
Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino (HACSB) projects and anticipates collection 
losses in its annual budget. The true expense is reported after board approval. 

SUMMARY FOR HACSB- Authority Owned Properties 
PROPERTY NO. VACATED TOTAL 

402 - Summit Place 1  - 
407 - Sunset Pointe 4  14,277.66 
408 - Sunrise Vista 4  6,583.00 
409 - Andalusia 1  5,200.00 
410 - Merrill 0  - 
414 - Redwood 1  19.00 
423 - Mesa Gardens 0  - 
437 - Sunset Gardens 0  - 
467 - Hillcrest 0  - 
481161-Colton 1  10,255.00 
481172-Big Horn 1  8,439.00 
481170-7th Street 0  1,395.00 
481174-Yosemite Ct 1  874.00 
490 - Northport 2  8,206.30 

Concessions Write Off 0  - 

TOTAL RENT WRITE OFF 16  55,248.96 

Miscellaneous Charges  2,481.92 
Maintenance Charges  18,573.11 
Legal Charges  42,656.50 
Security Deposits Applied  (16,489.00) 

NET TOTAL WRITE OFF  102,471.49 

186



Vacated Tenant Accounts for the Authority Owned Portfolio to be Written Off as Collection Loss 
for the Month of September 2025 
December 9, 2025 

Page 2 of 2 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
On a monthly basis, HACSB records vacated tenant accounts for the Authority Owned Portfolio 
for the purpose of being written off to collection losses.  Authority Owned Portfolio units are owned 
by HACSB and were either acquired or developed through a variety of partnerships with local 
governments and/or HACSB’s non-profit affiliate Housing Partners I, Inc., and include public 
housing developments converted through the United States Department of Housing and Urban 
Development’s (HUD) Rental Assistance Demonstration (RAD) program.  

Despite HACSB’s efforts to collect the debts listed in the attached reports, it has been determined 
that such debts are uncollectible. As part of HACSB’s standard property management business 
practices, the Board of Commissioners’ approval is requested to write off these accounts as 
accounts receivable losses to the Authority Owned Portfolio. Losses during this time period  
(September 1 – September 30, 2025) are primarily for voluntary move-outs and evictions.  

PROCUREMENT 
Not applicable 

ITEM ATTACHMENTS 
 Attachment  – COLLECTION WRITE-OFFS - Authority Owned Portfolio Vacated Accounts

REVIEW BY OTHERS 
This item has been reviewed by General Legal Counsel, Fred Galante, on November 19, 2025. 

187



Housing Authority County of San Bernardino  
COLLECTION WRITE-OFFS - Authority Owned Portfolio    

Month End: 09/30/25

Item # Last Name First Name ID No. REASON

 MONTHLY

RENT 

 UNPAID

RENT (*) 

 CONC. 

REVERSAL 

 UNPAID

MISC (*) 

 MAINT.

FEES 

 LEGAL

FEES 

 TOTAL

OWED 

 LESS

DEPOSIT 

 NET

DUE 

402 - Summit Place 

1 L L t0012619 V   1,831.00 -   -   -          1,027.10           1,027.10 399.00 628.10 

-   -   -   -   

 TOTALS: -   -   -          1,027.10 -             1,027.10 399.00 628.10 

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Delivered

Date File

Sent to

Attorney

 Date

Attorney

Filed in

Court 

 Response

Filed by

Tenant

(Y or N) 

 Court Date 

1 Intent to Vacate N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

407 - Sunset Pointe 

2 F C t0043073 V 1,200.00   - 50.00        2,404.25                 2,454.25 1,200.00 1,254.25 

3 R D t0044020 E 865.00      3,420.00    150.00      3,188.88       1,500.00           8,258.88 865.00 7,393.88 

4 J S t0013738 E 1,600.00   10,482.66  300.00      1,428.00       1,500.00         13,710.66 500.00           13,210.66 

5 W S t0044616 V 1,400.00   375.00       200.00      30,710.00                 31,285.00 600.00           30,685.00 

TOTALS: 14,277.66  - 700.00      7,021.13       33,710.00         55,708.79       3,165.00           52,543.79         

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Delivered

Date File

Sent to

Attorney

 Date

Attorney

Filed in

Court 

 Response

Filed by

Tenant

(Y or N) 

 Court Date 

2 Intent to Vacate N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

3 Notice to Pay or Quit 05/13/25 Posted 05/22/25 06/17/25 N N/A

4 Notice to Pay or Quit 04/11/25 Posted 04/24/25 05/10/25 Y 08/21/25

5 Program transfer N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

408 - Sunrise Vista

6 M J t0046118 V 1,375.00   188.00       - - 1,865.28                 2,053.28 1,050.00 1,003.28 

7 E B t0044513 V 1,400.00   - - - 771.42          771.42 650.00 121.42 

8 R T t0034300 E 1,400.00   1,714.00    - 100.00      4,137.64       1,317.00           7,268.64 400.00 6,868.64 

9 B D t0045766 E 1,400.00   4,681.00    - 200.00      1,261.00       1,500.00           7,642.00 1,050.00 6,592.00 

- -   -   

TOTALS: 6,583.00    - 300.00      8,035.34       2,817.00 17,735.34       3,150.00           14,585.34         

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Delivered

Date File

Sent to

Attorney

 Date

Attorney

Filed in

Court 

 Response

Filed by

Tenant

(Y or N) 

 Court Date 

6 Intent to Vacate N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

7 Intent to Vacate N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

8 Notice to Pay or Quit 05/07/25 Posted 06/10/25 06/12/25 Y 07/31/25

9 Notice to Pay or Quit 05/07/25 Posted 06/02/25 06/11/25 Y 08/07/25

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

N/A 08/15/25

N/A 08/29/25

08/26/25

N/A 08/31/25

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

08/26/25

N/A 08/21/25

N/A 09/17/25

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

09/16/25 09/16/25

N/A 09/15/25

N/A 08/31/25

* Reasons: E=Eviction S=Skip V=Voluntary T=Terminated Tenancy   **Unpaid Misc.:   D=Deceased   Stipulated agreements for rent, maintenance charges, late charges, etc.

Attachment to Vacated Tenant Accounts for the Authority Owned Portfolio to be Written Off as Collection Loss for the Month of September 2025
Page 1 of 4

188



Housing Authority County of San Bernardino  
COLLECTION WRITE-OFFS - Authority Owned Portfolio    

Month End: 09/30/25

10 G M t0044146 E 2,000.00   5,200.00    - 75.00        671.00          1,500.00           7,446.00 3,000.00 4,446.00 

-   -   

TOTALS: 5,200.00    - 75.00        671.00          1,500.00 7,446.00         3,000.00           4,446.00 

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Delivered

Date File

Sent to

Attorney

 Date

Attorney

Filed in

Court 

 Response

Filed by

Tenant

(Y or N) 

 Court Date 

10 Notice to Pay or Quit 07/08/25

Posted

Hand

Delivered

07/21/25 08/04/25 N N/A

11 K C - - (125.00)         (125.00) (125.00)

- - -   -   

TOTALS: - - - (125.00)         - (125.00)           - (125.00) 

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Date File

Sent to

 Date

Attorney

 Response

Filed by
 Court Date 

11

12 N A t0015348 D 1,650.00   19.00         - - 725.00          744.00 230.00 514.00 

- - -   -   

TOTALS: 19.00         - - 725.00          - 744.00 230.00 514.00 

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Delivered

Date File

Sent to

Attorney

 Date

Attorney

Filed in

Court 

 Response

Filed by

Tenant

(Y or N) 

 Court Date 

12 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

423 - Mesa Gardens

13 R W - - (50.00)           (50.00) (50.00)

- - -   -   

TOTALS: - - - (50.00)           - (50.00) - (50.00) 

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Date File

Sent to

 Date

Attorney

 Response

Filed by
 Court Date 

13

437 - Sunset Gardens

14 S D - - (503.50)         (503.50) (503.50)

- - -   -   

TOTALS: - - - (503.50)         - (503.50)           - (503.50) 

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Delivered

Date File

Sent to

Attorney

 Date

Attorney

Filed in

Court 

 Response

Filed by

Tenant

(Y or N) 

 Court Date 

14

N/A 09/02/25

Payment on bad debt

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

Payment on bad debt

409 - Andalusia

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

09/18/25

09/18/25

410 - Merrill

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

Payment on bad debt

414 - Redwood

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

* Reasons: E=Eviction S=Skip V=Voluntary T=Terminated Tenancy   **Unpaid Misc.:   D=Deceased   Stipulated agreements for rent, maintenance charges, late charges, etc.Attachment to Vacated Tenant Accounts for the Authority Owned Portfolio to be Written Off as Collection Loss for the Month of September 2025 
Page 2 of 4

189



Housing Authority County of San Bernardino  
COLLECTION WRITE-OFFS - Authority Owned Portfolio    

Month End: 09/30/25

467 - Hillcrest

15 E C -   -            (165.96) (165.96) (165.96)

-   -   -   -   
 TOTALS: -   -   -            (165.96) -   (165.96) -   (165.96)

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Date File

Sent to

 Date

Attorney

 Response

Filed by
 Court Date 

15

481161-Colton

16 N N T0109012 E   1,165.00   10,255.00 -   -   75.00 1,024.50         11,354.50 500.00           10,854.50 

-   -   

 TOTALS:   10,255.00 -   -   75.00 1,024.50         11,354.50 500.00           10,854.50 

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Delivered

Date File

Sent to

Attorney

 Date

Attorney

Filed in

Court 

 Response

Filed by

Tenant

(Y or N) 

 Court Date 

16 Notice to Pay or Quit 03/06/25 Posted  04/14/25 5/725 Y 08/07/25

481172-Big Horn

17 S S t0137675 E $1,061.00   8,439.00 -            50.00 75.00 1,000.00           9,564.00 748.00 8,816.00 

-   
 TOTALS:   8,439.00 -            50.00 75.00 1,000.00           9,564.00 748.00 8,816.00 

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Delivered

Date File

Sent to

Attorney

 Date

Attorney

Filed in

Court 

 Response

Filed by

Tenant

(Y or N) 

 Court Date 

17 Notice to Pay or Quit 03/06/25 Posted  02/15/25 05/23/25 Y 07/22/25

481170-7th Street 

18 B W t0220801 S 1,297.00   1,395.00    - 100.00                1,495.00 1,097.00 398.00 

-   

TOTALS: 1,395.00    - 100.00      - - 1,495.00         1,097.00           398.00 

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Delivered

Date File

Sent to

Attorney

 Date

Attorney

Filed in

Court 

 Response

Filed by

Tenant

(Y or N) 

 Court Date 

18 Notice to Pay or Quit 08/092025 Posted  NA NA NA NA

Settled 09/09/25

 Lock Out Date 

09/25/25 09/25/25

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

Vacate Date

Payment on bad debt

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

09/08/25

* Reasons: E=Eviction S=Skip V=Voluntary T=Terminated Tenancy   **Unpaid Misc.:   D=Deceased   Stipulated agreements for rent, maintenance charges, late charges, etc.

Attachment to Vacated Tenant Accounts for the Authority Owned Portfolio to be Written Off as Collection Loss for the Month of September 2025
Page 3 of 4

190



Housing Authority County of San Bernardino  
COLLECTION WRITE-OFFS - Authority Owned Portfolio    

Month End: 09/30/25

481174-Yosemite Ct

19 H E t0109985 V 1,192.00   874.00       - 180.00      375.00                    1,429.00 800.00 629.00 

- 

TOTALS: 874.00       - 180.00      375.00          - 1,429.00         800.00 629.00 

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Delivered

Date File

Sent to

Attorney

 Date

Attorney

Filed in

Court 

 Response

Filed by

Tenant

(Y or N) 

 Court Date 

19 Notice to Vacate N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

490 - Northport

20 J C t0046615 E 1,700.00   1,519.30    - 50.00        1,115.00       1,105.00           3,789.30 1,700.00 2,089.30 

21 C N t0046100 E 1,700.00   6,687.00    - 1,026.92   298.00          1,500.00           9,511.92 1,700.00 7,811.92 

-   -   

TOTALS: 8,206.30    - 1,076.92   1,413.00       2,605.00 13,301.22       3,400.00           9,901.22 

Item # Type of Notice
Date Notice

Served

Posted or

Hand

Delivered

Date File

Sent to

Attorney

 Date

Attorney

Filed in

Court 

 Response

Filed by

Tenant

(Y or N) 

 Court Date 

20 Notice to Pay or Quit 08/06/25 Posted 08/25/25 08/25/25 N N/A

21 Notice to Pay or Quit 05/06/25 Posted 05/21/25 06/09/25 Y 07/31/25

55,248.96  - 2,481.92   18,573.11     42,656.50         118,960.49     16,489.00         102,471.49       

Submitted by: Date: Reviewed by: Date:

*Reasons: E=Eviction S=Skip V=Voluntary T=Terminated Tenancy **Unpaid Misc.: D=Deceased Stipulated agreements for rent, maintenance charges, late charges, etc.

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

N/A 09/03/25

 Lock Out Date Vacate Date

turned in keys to avoid lock out 08/27/25

08/28/25 08/28/25

ALL PROPERTY TOTALS:

* Reasons: E=Eviction S=Skip V=Voluntary T=Terminated Tenancy   **Unpaid Misc.:   D=Deceased   Stipulated agreements for rent, maintenance charges, late charges, etc.

Attachment to Vacated Tenant Accounts for the Authority Owned Portfolio to be Written Off as Collection Loss for the Month of September 2025
Page 4 of 4

191


	AGENDA-BOC-120925-Draft
	MEMO-BOC-120925-Executive Director's Report-FINAL
	MEMO-BOC-120925 Board Building - FY 2024-2025 Accomplishments-FINAL
	MEMO-BOC-120925-CoC NOFO Discussion-FINAL
	ATT-BOC-120925-FY25-CoC-NOFO
	A. Summary
	1. NOFO Summary
	2. Funding Details
	Available Funds
	Number of Awards

	B. Agency Contact(s)
	II. ELIGIBILITY
	A. Eligible Applicants
	1. Eligible Entity Types:
	Additional Information on Eligibility
	Individuals are ineligible applicants.

	2. Restrictions
	a. Statutory and Regulatory Requirements Affecting Eligibility
	b. Application Eligibility

	B. Cost Sharing or Matching

	III. PROGRAM DESCRIPTION
	A. Purpose
	B. Goals and Objectives
	C. Authority
	D. Unallowable Costs
	E. Indirect Costs
	F. Program History
	G. Other Information

	IV. APPLICATION CONTENTS AND FORMAT
	A. Standard Forms, Assurances, and Certifications
	B. Budget
	You must submit a budget with your application to support your project narrative.
	At a minimum, your budget must indicate direct and any indirect costs.

	C. Narratives and Other Attachments
	D. Other Application Content

	V. APPLICATION REVIEW INFORMATION
	A. Threshold Review
	1. Eligible Applicant
	2. Resolution of Civil Rights Matters
	3. Timely Submission of Applications

	B. Merit Review
	1. Rating Factors
	2. Policy Initiative Preference Points
	a. Opportunity Zones
	3. Other Factors
	a. Budget
	b. Certification of Consistency with the Consolidated Plan

	C. Risk Review
	HUD may use the results of the risk review to make funding decisions and to apply award conditions.

	D. Selection Process
	E. Award Notices

	VI. SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS AND DEADLINES
	A. Deadlines
	1. Application submission deadline:

	B. Submission Methods
	1. Electronic Submission
	1. Electronic Submission
	2. Electronic Submission Application Waiver

	C. Other Submissions
	1. Intergovernmental Review
	2. Technical Application Errors
	a. Fix Errors in Electronic Applications
	b. Fix Errors in Paper Applications

	D. False Statements

	VII. POST-AWARD REQUIREMENTS AND ADMINISTRATION
	A. Administrative, National and Departmental Policy Requirements, and General Terms and Conditions
	B. Environmental Requirements
	1. Environmental Review
	2. NOFO Impact Determination Related to the Environment
	3. Lead-Based Paint Requirements

	C. Remedies for Noncompliance
	D. Reporting

	VIII. CONTACT AND SUPPORT
	A. Agency Contact
	1. Program and Application Requirements
	2. Paper Application Waiver Request

	B. esnaps.hud.gov
	C. SAM.gov
	D. Debriefing and Appeals
	E. Applicant Experience Survey
	F. Other Online Resources

	APPENDIX
	Appendix I. Definitions
	1. Standard Definitions
	2. Program Definitions.



	MEMO-BOC-120925-Lanternwoods Wall Ave PBV HAP Contract Extension-FINAL
	CON-BOC-120925-Lanternwoods Wall Avenue PBV HAP Contract 3.1.2027-2.29.2032 FINAL
	HUD-52530B_Pt1
	HUD-52530B_Pt2
	Wall Avenue HAP Contract Exhibits 10.2025

	MEMO-BOC-12092025-PENSION AND LABOR FORECASTING-GOVINVEST-FINAL
	CON-BOC-120925-Pension and Labor Cost Forecasting Contract-FINAL
	MEMO-BOC-120925-Meeting Minutes for Special Meeting November 13, 2025
	ATT1-BOC-120925-Minutes for November Meeting
	ATT2-BOC-120925-Public Comment and Response
	MEMO-BOC-120925-August 2025 Financials-FINAL
	ATT-BOC-120925-Consolidated Budget to Actuals 08.2025
	MEMO-BOC 120925 AOP Vacated Accounts-FINAL
	ATT-BOC 09-25 AOP Vacated Accounts

	SECTION 8 PROJECTBASED VOUCHER PROGRAM HOUSING ASS:                                                           

                                                       EXTENSION
	Textfield: Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino
	Text27: Wall Avenue LLC
	Textfield-1: March 1, 2027
	Textfield-2: Initial Term: 3/1/2012-2/28/2027. Extension for five years through February 29, 2032
	Textfield-14: 0
	CheckBox28: Off
	CheckBox29: Off
	CheckBox30: Off
	CheckBox31: Off
	CheckBox32: Off
	CheckBox33: Off
	CheckBox34: Off
	CheckBox35: Off
	CheckBox36: Off
	CheckBox37: Off
	CheckBox38: Off
	CheckBox39: Off
	Textfield-21: 0
	Textfield-22: 
	Textfield-23: 8 Continuum of Care units
	Textfield-24: 
	CheckBox40: Off
	CheckBox41: Yes
	Name of PHA Print PUBLIC HOUSING AGENCY PHA: Housing Authority of the County of San Bernardino
	Textfield-26: 
	Textfield-27: Maria Razo, Executive Director
	Name of Owner Print OWNER: Wall Avenue, LLC
	Textfield-28: 
	Textfield-29: Anthony Perez, Executive Director Housing Partners I, Inc. as managing member of Wall Avenue LLC
	Date: 
	Date-0: 
	CheckBox42: Yes


